
 

Portions of this meeting may be held in closed session pursuant to the Virginia Freedom of Information Act. 

A copy of this agenda with supporting documents is available online at www.occoquanva.gov. 

   
       TOWN OF OCCOQUAN 

 Circa 1734 ● Chartered 1804 ● Incorporated 1874 
 

 

 

 

Occoquan Town Council 

Regular Meeting 
August 4, 2020 | 7:00 p.m. 

 

1. Call to Order 

2. Pledge of Allegiance 

3. Public Hearing and Invitation to Bid 

a. Non-Exclusive Franchise for Telecommunications Equipment 

4. Public Hearing  

a. Appeal of Architectural Review Board Denial of Certificate of Appropriateness 

5. Citizens’ Time - Members of the public may, for three minutes, present for the purpose of directing attention to or 

requesting action on matters not included on the prepared agenda. These matters shall be referred to the appropriate town 
official(s) for investigation and report. Citizens may address issues as they come up on the agenda if advance notice is given 
during ‘Citizens’ Time’. 

6. Approval of Minutes 

a. June 2, 2020 Public Hearing Minutes 
b. June 2, 2020 Regular Business Meeting Minutes 
c. June 16, 2020 Public Hearing Minutes 
d. June 16, 2020 Work Session Minutes 

 
7. Mayor’s Report 

8. Councilmember Reports 

9. Staff Reports 

a. Town Attorney 
b. Town Engineer 
c. Building Official 
d. Zoning Administrator 
e. Town Treasurer 
f. Chief of Police 
g. Public Works 
h. Events and Community Development Director 
i. Boards and Commissions 
j. Town Manager 

 
 

 

314 Mill Street 
PO BOX 195 

Occoquan, VA 22125 
(703) 491-1918 

www.OccoquanVA.gov 
info@occoquanva.gov  

 



 

 

Town Council Regular Meeting Cover Page                                                             Page 2
        

 

Portions of this meeting may be held in closed session pursuant to the Virginia Freedom of Information Act. 

A copy of this agenda with supporting documents is available online at www.occoquan.org. 

10. Regular Business 

a. Telecommunications Franchise/Site License – Vote to Award Franchise/Approve 
Site License 

b. Vote on Appeal of Architectural Review Board Denial of Certificate of 
Appropriateness 

c. Vistas at Occoquan Bond Release 
d. Zoning Administrator Appointments 
e. Retention of Quist & Associates, LLC for Accounting Consulting Services 
f. Acceptance of Public Safety Grant from Transurban for AEDs 
g. Kayak Ramp Update/Discussion 
h. Proclamation – Women’s Suffrage Day 
i. Planning Commission Appointments 
j. Letter of Permission for Prince William County – Pedestrian Improvement Project 

 

11. Closed Session 

12. Adjournment 



 

     OCCOQUAN TOWN COUNCIL 
Public Hearing Minutes - DRAFT 

Town Hall – 314 Mill Street, Occoquan, VA 22125 
Tuesday, June 2, 2020 

7:00 p.m. 

 
Present: Mayor Earnie Porta; Vice Mayor Pat Sivigny; Councilmembers Matthew Dawson, Cindy 

Fithian, Laurie Holloway and Eliot Perkins 
Absent:  None 
Staff:  Kathleen Leidich, Town Manager; Martin Crim, Town Attorney; Kathleen Dellinger, Town 

Treasurer; Adam Linn, Chief of Police; Jason Forman, Town Sergeant; Julie Little, Events 
Director; Katy Nicholson, Town Clerk 

  
1. CALL TO ORDER  

Mayor Porta called the Public Hearing for the Proposed FY 2021 Budget to order at 7:01 p.m.  
            

2. PUBLIC HEARING 
a. Public Hearing on Proposed Fiscal Year 2021 Budget 

No comments. 
 

3. ADJOURNMENT 
The Public Hearing was adjourned at 7:02 p.m. 
 
 
_____________________________ 
 
Katy Nicholson 
Town Clerk 
 

 

 



 

     OCCOQUAN TOWN COUNCIL 
Regular Meeting Minutes - DRAFT 

Town Hall – 314 Mill Street, Occoquan, VA 22125 
Tuesday, June 2, 2020 

                   Upon Completion of Budget Public Hearing 

 
Present: Mayor Earnie Porta; Vice Mayor Pat Sivigny; Councilmembers Matthew Dawson, Cindy 

Fithian, Laurie Holloway and Eliot Perkins 
Absent:  None 
Staff:  Kathleen Leidich, Town Manager; Martin Crim, Town Attorney; Kathleen Dellinger, Town 

Treasurer; Adam Linn, Chief of Police; Jason Forman, Town Sergeant; Julie Little, Events and 
Community Development Director; Katy Nicholson, Town Clerk 

  
1. CALL TO ORDER                

Mayor Porta called the meeting to order at 7:03 p.m.  
 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 

3. CITIZENS’ TIME 
Mayor Porta read the following statement: 
 
“Before we begin Citizens’ Time I’d like to read a brief statement that I hope will positively 
influence the tenor of our discussions tonight. I will give each Council Member an equally brief 
opportunity to comment after I’m done if they wish. There has been a great deal of tragedy in our 
country and beyond in the past few weeks and months and our sympathy lies with all those who are 
suffering from it. It’s an unfortunate reality that systemic, institutionalized racism still exists in our 
society, which each of as individuals has an obligation to resist and help eliminate in the manner our 
conscience dictates. We have been fortunate in Occoquan, but we are part of a larger community to 
which we also have an obligation. Perhaps the best contribution we can make is by our example. I 
want to commend and thank our Town police department. Without diminishing the anguish of 
others, I know that they too are under stress and I want them to know that all of us our proud of them 
and that they have our respect and support in the example they set. I would also like to suggest that 
the rest of us strive to set an example with our words and actions. Exaggeration and hyperbole that 
are sometimes harmless, in the current environment may not be so. And consequently I hope all of 
us will redouble our efforts to speak with accuracy and act with empathy to the best of our ability. I 
have some specific suggestions for later in the meeting, but for the time being let me end there.” 
 
Councilmember Holloway thanked the Police Department for being accessible and willing to 
discuss a concern with her during the weekend. 

 
Seeing that all speakers planned to address the topic of the Town restrooms, Mayor Porta closed 
formal Citizens’ Time at 7:05 p.m. to allow for a dialogue between Council and the speakers. 
 
Mayor Porta proposed opening the public restrooms Thursday through Sunday, from 12:00 p.m. to 
4:00 p.m., beginning June 4. He suggested converting both restrooms to unisex facilities so users 
would not need to wait in line according to gender. He noted that if the doors to the restrooms could 
not be locked from the inside, the Town could use COVID-19 grant funding to pay for an employee 
to monitor use of the restrooms. He also said the Town would need to provide sanitary wipes to 

 

 



 
Town Council Regular Meeting Minutes - Draft          June 2, 2020 
  

Page 2 of 11 
 

allow the public to wipe down restroom surfaces. Mayor Porta explained that his proposal for 
limited restroom hours was due to cost and the need to manage sanitation. 
 
Cathy Campbell, the owner of Details of Occoquan, explained that during the previous few months, 
she and other Town business owners had been learning how to do business in a world that was 
basically closed. She noted that it had been difficult to keep up a normal routine and to maintain 
communication with the Town and members of the community. Ms. Campbell said that her store 
had reopened at reduced capacity and that they had been trying to operate safely with the increasing 
number of visitors to Town. She added that she was hoping for guidance on how to handle these 
challenges and how to effectively communicate with other merchants and the public. 
 
Pam Konwin, owner of Elements, noted that the public restrooms were an asset to the Town and 
that their closure had been a detriment. She requested that the Town reopen the restrooms, or at 
least make port-a-johns and hand-washing stations available.  
 
Betsy Merklein, owner of Personally Yours, said she thought the Town had initially navigated the 
pandemic well with strong communication. She noted that as the Town began to reopen, it had 
entered a “black hole of no information” regarding plans to reopen the restrooms. She also 
expressed concern over the mixed messaging of welcoming people to Town but making the 
restrooms unavailable to them. Ms. Merklein requested that the Town improve its communication 
with the business community regarding the decision of when to reopen the restrooms. 
 

 The following email message was submitted for the record by Donna Sherman, the owner of Puzzle 
            Palooza: 
 

“Please open the town's public restrooms during business hours! Our customers deserve to have 
clean, USABLE restrooms available when they are in our town. I have seen far too many people 
walk away in disgust when told there is NO WHERE in town for them to use restrooms. When you 
see a VERY pregnant woman with a screaming toddler in her arms searching for the nearest 
restroom, it is heartbreaking! The good will from town visitors will far outway any expenses 
incurred to keep the restrooms clean. At this critical time, we need people to WANT to come to 
town to shop, dine, and relax. I have seen many new faces in town over the last few months. I hope 
they will want to return. Please do whatever is necessary to open the restrooms beginning this 
weekend, if not before!” 
 
Mayor Porta responded that Ms. Little had made an effort to communicate clearly and consistently 
with the public. He noted that while Council had agreed to assess the status of the restrooms at each 
of its meetings, the Town had not communicated with the business community regarding the issue. 
He added that while Council had been discussing the status of the restrooms, he had underestimated 
the extent of public need for them during the pandemic. 
 
Mayor Porta asked those in attendance whether the tentative plan would be agreeable, and noted 
that members of the audience nodded their heads. He asked staff whether the tentative plan would 
be feasible. Ms. Leidich responded that nearby jurisdictions were handling the issue in different 
ways, and that several localities had not reopened their public restrooms. She noted that the Town’s 
cleaning company was available on Fridays but she would need to find out whether they were 
available on Thursdays. She also said that there was a problem with two of the toilets and that the 
plumber would be repairing them the following morning. 
 



 
Town Council Regular Meeting Minutes - Draft          June 2, 2020 
  

Page 3 of 11 
 

Mayor Porta said his primary concern was having sanitation supplies to enable staff to wipe down 
restroom fixtures. He asked whether staff would have access to the wipes by June 4. Ms. Leidich 
responded that staff had been unable to procure the wipes recently due to the high demand. Mayor 
Porta asked Ms. Leidich to look into the matter the next day and determine whether the restrooms 
could reopen on June 4 or June 6. Ms. Leidich noted that Prince William County planned to put up 
signs notifying users that the restrooms were cleaned once a day and encouraging physical 
distancing and personal hygiene. Mayor Porta said he thought this information would be beneficial, 
and that it was particularly important for restroom users to have the ability to clean the fixtures. 
 
Vice Mayor Sivigny said he agreed with Mayor Porta’s proposed plan, dependent on supplies. 
Councilmember Dawson also agreed with the proposed plan. He added that restroom users could 
use paper towels to avoid touching the fixtures. 
 
Councilmember Fithian asked whether there were toilet seat covers in the restrooms. Ms. Leidich 
responded that she would need to check on this. Mayor Porta agreed that toilet seat covers were a 
good idea. 
 
Councilmember Holloway said someone would need to check the restrooms regularly to ensure that 
the sanitation supplies were stocked. She noted that she had been against reopening the restrooms 
during the pandemic. She added that she had made many purchases from various Town businesses 
during the pandemic and that no one had mentioned the restroom issue until recently. She also said 
that she would like to reopen the restrooms but she had concerns about the logistics of limiting them 
to one person at a time. Mayor Porta responded that unless the main doors to the restrooms could be 
locked, the Town would need to keep someone nearby to monitor their use. Councilmember 
Holloway also noted that Prince William County planned to clean its restrooms once a day, and that 
did not seem sufficient. 

 
Mayor Porta said he expected to hear requests for additional restroom hours. He added that he did 
not feel compelled to alter the proposed hours until the Town was ready to do so. Councilmember 
Holloway noted that the Town was busy on Tuesdays and Wednesdays. Mayor Porta responded that 
he would be in favor of opening the restrooms Tuesday-Sunday if possible. 
 
Councilmember Perkins said he would prefer to open the restrooms throughout the week and that 
users would need to take personal responsibility for sanitation. He added that if the Town provided 
sanitation products and limited use to one person at a time, users would be reasonably safe. 
Councilmember Holloway agreed with this, but expressed concern about the Town’s ability to limit 
users to one person at a time. Councilmember Perkins responded that the Town would be 
responsible for cleaning the restroom and limiting the number of users. Council agreed that the 
restrooms initially should be open Thursday-Sunday with a goal of opening them Tuesday-Sunday. 
 
Mayor Porta noted that Northern Virginia was expected to move into Phase Two of the Governor’s 
reopening plan in the next couple of weeks, which would include indoor seating at restaurants at 50 
percent of capacity. This would mean that customers also would have access to restaurant restrooms 
he explained. 
 
Councilmember Fithian said she thought that if the Town opened the restrooms on June 4, they 
should be open every day subsequently, with an attendant to keep the sanitation supplies stocked. 
Ms. Leidich confirmed that Council wanted an attendant in place from 12:00 p.m. to 4:00 p.m. 
every day. Mayor Porta noted that Council would assess the situation at its future meetings. 
 



 
Town Council Regular Meeting Minutes - Draft          June 2, 2020 
  

Page 4 of 11 
 

Ms. Merklein asked if the restroom hours could be extended. Mayor Porta responded that the hours 
would be extended once staff determined it was feasible to do so safely. 
. 

4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
a. April 7, 2020 Regular Business Meeting Minutes 

Moved by Councilmember Dawson; seconded by Councilmember Perkins. 
Motion passed unanimously by voice vote. 

 
b. April 21, 2020 Work Session Minutes 

Moved by Councilmember Perkins; seconded by Councilmember Fithian. 
Motion passed unanimously by voice vote. 

 
5. MAYOR’S REPORT 

             Mayor Porta read the following statement: 
 
             “Assuming a majority of the Council does not overrule me, I am instructing the Events and 
             Community Development Director to suspend comments, not posts, on the Town’s social media 
             pages for the time being. As I mentioned in my earlier remarks, exaggeration and hyperbole, not to 
             mention misinformation, that is sometime harmless, is potentially less so in the current 
             environment. Unfortunately, while social media is a sometimes useful vehicle for distributing 
             information, for a governmental-entity it is far from ideal for engaging in a subsequent ongoing 
             conversation. Unlike a private organization the First Amendment prohibits governmental entities 
             from moderating such conversations in a way that would be commonplace in other circumstances. 
             Consequently, particularly during times of stress or crisis, when staff should be focused on 
             compiling and distributing accurate information, they risk having their time diverted to responding 
             to sometimes lengthy comments that are peppered with inaccuracies, misinformation, or worse, that 
             if left unaddressed potentially imply endorsement. Meanwhile attempts to address some 
             inaccuracies sometimes simply encourage the inaccurate narrative, or the bad faith actor, in a 
             medium whose very algorithms are designed to favor the inflammatory and divisive. Closing off 
             comments is considered in some quarters the best practice for governmental entities. It does not in 
             any meaningful way inhibit communication between the government and its citizens, who can still 
             communicate directly not simply by phone or email, but by the social media platform’s private 
             messaging vehicle. What it does prevent is a patina of legitimacy being ascribed to misinformation 
             because it appears on a government site, while other priorities have prevented staff from addressing 
             them. For those who wish to grandstand with misinformation before a larger audience, they are free 
             to do so on their own or some other site, and when staff receive private messages or emails on a 
             subject they can decide whether or not the questions or comments are of sufficient import or value 
             to modify or add to a post. Let me be clear that while there has periodically been inaccurate 
             commentary on the Town’s social media platforms by bad faith actors, this is a preemptive action 
             driven by the particularly difficult times in which we are operating, where the danger of 
             misinformation is heightened. To ensure that people are aware of how best to communicate to staff 
             regarding a social media post, the Events and Community Development Director will be given a 
             standard message to include at the bottom of each post, which will read something like “If you 
             have questions or comments about this post, please send an email to [  ] or a PM to [   ] and we will 
             respond as soon as practical and consider updating the post as appropriate.” 
 



 
Town Council Regular Meeting Minutes - Draft          June 2, 2020 
  

Page 5 of 11 
 

             Mayor Porta requested that Council direct Ms. Little to keep his proposed policy in place for the  
             remainder of the Council term, ending June 30, at which time Council could revisit the issue. He 
             noted that he had spoken with Ms. Little about the matter and that she was in agreement. 
 
             Councilmember Fithian said she respected Ms. Little’s judgment on the matter and that she would 
             like to hear from Councilmember Holloway, who had considerable experience with social media. 
             Councilmember Holloway responded that it usually was not advisable to limit conversation on a 
             social media page, but this was an unusual situation. She added that she would be comfortable with 
             Mayor Porta’s proposal as long as the messaging included staff contact information. She also noted 
             that staff should continue to communicate frequently with the public, particularly in times of crisis. 
 
             Mayor Porta noted that he had heard feedback from some residents who did not use Facebook due 
             to its security problems, and he wanted the Town to consider using an additional social media 
             platform. He added that this was the Town’s only communication method that required the 
             audience to register with a specific vendor. He suggested that staff look into Vero, MeWe and other 
             social media platforms. 
 
             Councilmember Holloway noted that when the Town redesigned its website, the goal was to design 
             a site that could easily be updated. She said she would prefer for the Town’s website to be the go-to 
             place for information, augmented by Facebook. She added that Vero and MeWe were not 
             commonly used platforms. Mayor Porta responded that he did not intend to replace Facebook with 
             another social media platform, but he wanted to provide another option for people with privacy 
             concerns. He added that the Town had made the decision to invest in its social media presence. 
             Councilmember Holloway said she understood Mayor Porta’s concerns and that although she did 
             not think an alternative social media page would benefit the Town, it would provide another option 
             for residents with concerns about Facebook. She added that she did not think the Town had taken 
             full advantage of its website features. 
 
             Councilmember Perkins said he agreed that the Town could make better use of its website, and that 
             Facebook also was an important tool for disseminating news and information. He added that if the 
             Town decided to offer an additional social media page, it should be a commonly used platform 
             with fewer privacy concerns than Facebook. 
 
             Mayor Porta said he thought Council was mostly in agreement on these points and that his main 
             concern was that any additional social media offerings did not substantially increase Ms. Little’s 
             workload. He added that the value of social media was its ability to push out information to users 
             and that he simply wanted to address the concerns of residents who did not want to join Facebook. 
             He asked Ms. Little to look into the alternative options and report back to Council. 
 

6. COUNCILMEMBER REPORTS 
Councilmember Perkins reported that the Planning Commission had not met. Mayor Porta asked 
whether the Commission would hold its June meeting. Councilmember Perkins responded yes. 
 
Councilmember Holloway reported that the Architectural Review Board also had not met, and that 
she hoped the Board would hold its June meeting. 
 
Councilmember Holloway also mentioned that a small memorial service for longtime resident Rick 
Musselman was planned for June 3. She noted that social distancing would be implemented during 
the memorial service. 



 
Town Council Regular Meeting Minutes - Draft          June 2, 2020 
  

Page 6 of 11 
 

Councilmember Fithian thanked Town staff for their recent clean-up efforts, particularly trash and 
storm drain cleaning. Vice Mayor Sivigny also thanked the Police and Public Works Departments. 

 
7.  STAFF REPORTS 

a. Town Attorney 
Mr. Crim noted that the Town’s new Noise Ordinance had been posted in accordance with 
the Town Charter. 
 
Mr. Crim also reported that he had advised staff in regard to outdoor dining regulations. 
Mayor Porta noted that several restaurants had submitted applications for temporary outdoor 
seating. Ms. Little said The Spot on Mill Street had recently inquired about using a nearby 
parking space for temporary seating. Mayor Porta responded that staff would need to review 
the request from a safety standpoint. 

 
b. Town Engineer 

The meeting agenda included a written report from the Town Engineer. 
No further discussion. 

 
c. Building Official 

The meeting agenda included a written report from the Building Official. 
No further discussion. 
 

d. Zoning Administrator 
The meeting agenda included a written report from the Zoning Administrator. 
No further discussion. 
 

e. Town Treasurer 
The meeting agenda included a written report from the Town Treasurer. 
 
Mayor Porta noted that the Business, Professional and Occupational License (BPOL) 
delinquencies all were over a year old. He asked what the next course of action would be, 
and whether the businesses on the delinquency list had filed for a license without payment. 
Ms. Dellinger responded that the businesses listed had business licenses in 2019, but she 
would need to check on the status of their 2020 applications. Mayor Porta asked about the 
collections process for businesses that had been delinquent for more than a year. Ms. 
Dellinger responded that she had not yet pursued collections, and that she would wait to 
find out which businesses submitted their 2020 applications by the June 15 deadline. She 
added that she would provide Council with an updated report at its July meeting. Mayor 
Porta told Ms. Dellinger that she could work with Ms. Leidich and Mr. Crim to determine 
the appropriate course of action for enforcement.  
 
Councilmember Holloway asked about an “In Compliance” note next to Cock and Bowl’s 
name on the delinquency list. Ms. Dellinger explained that the business had been sold and 
the new owner was current on his BPOL taxes. Mayor Porta asked Ms. Dellinger to speak 
with Mr. Crim about how to pursue collections from the previous owner. Mayor Porta also 
asked Ms. Dellinger to speak with Mr. Crim regarding Ballywhack Inc., which was 16 
months delinquent on its Transient Occupancy Taxes.  
 



 
Town Council Regular Meeting Minutes - Draft          June 2, 2020 
  

Page 7 of 11 
 

f. Chief of Police 
The meeting agenda included a written report from the Chief of Police. 
 
Councilmember Perkins expressed his appreciation for the Police Department’s 
engagement in the community. Councilmember Fithian noted that the Police Department 
had contributed 987 uncompensated hours to the Town. 
 
Mayor Porta asked about the Police Department’s morale in light of widespread negativity 
toward police officers. Chief Linn responded that the department was doing well and the 
officers felt the support of the community, though they sometimes experienced stress 
outside of Town. Councilmember Holloway said she thought the department’s positive 
relationship with the community was due to the way the officers interacted with people. 
 
Mayor Porta asked Chief Linn to ensure that the department had masks available when they 
were in public. 

 
g. Public Works 

No discussion. 
 

h. Events and Community Development Director 
The meeting agenda included a written report from the Events and Community 
Development Director. 
 
Ms. Little noted that the Town would hold a drive-in concert on June 18. She added that the 
event was scheduled for a weekday to minimize the impact on parking under the Route 123 
bridge.  
 
Mayor Porta noted that the Lorton Workhouse Arts Center had mentioned Occoquan 
restaurants in promotions for its drive-in movie theater. He added that the Workhouse was 
charging admission for its drive-in events, and noted that Councilmember Fithian had 
previously suggested charging for Occoquan’s drive-in events. Councilmember Fithian 
responded that she thought people would be willing pay for admission. Ms. Little 
responded that the Lorton Workhouse was a revenue-generating entity, whereas the Town 
was not trying to profit from its drive-in events. Mayor Porta stated that the admission fees 
would be intended to help offset the increased costs of the events. Ms. Little said she 
considered the drive-in events to be a potential boon for the Town restaurants. 
Councilmember Fithian noted that many movie theaters charged $15.00 per person, so 
$15.00 per car would be a good deal.  
 
Councilmember Holloway asked whether holding the concert on a weekday was a trial run, 
as the artist scheduled for July preferred a weekend performance. Ms. Little responded that 
the weekday event was intended to relieve the strain on parking, to benefit restaurants 
during their non-peak days and to limit the number of participants. She added that the Town 
would consider the July artist’s scheduling preferences when planning for that event. 
Councilmember Holloway noted that Northern Virginia’s delay in entering Phase Two 
meant the Town’s efforts to hold events in River Mill Park would be delayed. 
 
Mayor Porta asked whether Ms. Little was proceeding with a plan for signage for mandated 
mask wearing for the Town businesses. Ms. Little responded that she had asked the 



 
Town Council Regular Meeting Minutes - Draft          June 2, 2020 
  

Page 8 of 11 
 

Occoquan Merchants’ Guild to help develop the wording for the signs. Councilmember 
Perkins asked whether Ms. Little had given the Guild a time limit. Ms. Little responded that 
she had been expecting to hear from them that day and that she would follow up. Mayor 
Porta asked if Council would need to approve anything in regard to the signage. Ms. Little 
responded no. 
 
Mayor Porta asked whether staff was able to obtain sanitation products. Councilmember 
Dawson noted that small bottles of hand sanitizer were available, but the large bottles were 
difficult to find. Mayor Porta said he sometimes heard from companies that could provide 
sanitation products, and that he would continue to forward those messages to staff. He 
asked Ms. Leidich if she was confident that the Town would be able to obtain the necessary 
products. Ms. Leidich responded yes. Councilmember Fithian asked how much an 
electrostatic sprayer would cost. Councilmember Dawson responded that it would cost 
$1,800.00. Mayor Porta said the Town could look into this option later on if appropriate. 
 
Mayor Porta noted that Northern Virginia likely would be in Phase Three of reopening by 
August, and that he would like to plan a kayak and stand-up paddle board race. 
 

8. REGULAR BUSINESS 
a. COVID-19 Town Response Review 

i. CARES Act Funding 
Ms. Little reported that she had adapted the guidelines from the Prince William 
County microgrant program for the Town’s use. She said she planned to meet the 
following week with members of the Occoquan Merchants’ Guild and other 
members of the Town business community to discuss the eligibility requirements. 
 
Mayor Porta noted that the proposed guidelines stated that eligible businesses must 
be for-profit. He asked whether this had been included in the County’s conditions. 
Ms. Little responded no, and explained that she thought the Town already had been 
helping its nonprofit organizations consistently. She said she could remove this 
guideline if Council wished. Mayor Porta responded that some of the nonprofits in 
Town did not have paid employees, but the Veterans of Foreign Wars did. He asked 
Ms. Little to consider this when finalizing the program criteria. 
 
Mayor Porta asked whether the guideline “must have a brick-and-mortar 
establishment open more than 20 hours per week” was intended to mean under 
normal conditions or during the pandemic. Ms. Little responded that this was 
intended to mean under normal conditions. 
 
Councilmember Holloway said she had been asked whether the Town would give 
extra consideration to businesses that had tried to stay open during the pandemic. 
She noted that this would be a difficult decision. Mayor Porta agreed that it was a 
difficult decision, as some businesses had closed for the safety of employees, but 
some of them may have benefited from other funding sources. Councilmember 
Holloway responded that some may have benefited from the Paycheck Protection 
Program, but different businesses had made their decisions for a variety of reasons. 
 
Mr. Crim noted that Prince William County and the City of Manassas had run their 
Coronavirus, Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act microgrant 



 
Town Council Regular Meeting Minutes - Draft          June 2, 2020 
  

Page 9 of 11 
 

programs through their economic development authorities. He explained that the 
Town did not have the authority to make monetary grants directly to businesses. 
Mayor Porta asked if the Town could give the funds to the Occoquan Historical 
Society to be disbursed by the Society’s treasurer. Mr. Crim responded that the Town 
could give money to charitable organizations for their own purposes. Mayor Porta 
asked whether the Occoquan Merchants’ Guild would be allowed to distribute the 
funds. Mr. Crim said he would look into the matter. He also asked Ms. Little to 
contact the Guild to remind Town businesses about the application deadline for 
Prince William County’s microgrant program. 

 
7. STAFF REPORTS 

i. Boards and Commissions 
No discussion. 
 

j. Town Manager 
Ms. Leidich noted that she had received the certification memo for CARES Act funding for 
Mayor Porta’s signature. Mayor Porta asked Mr. Crim to review the memo. 
 
Ms. Leidich reported that Town staff and volunteers had done a great job of preparing for 
Phase One of the Governor’s reopening plan.  
 
She also noted that she expected work on the Town kayak ramp to be completed by the end 
of June. Mayor Porta asked Ms. Leidich to work with the contractor to complete the project 
as soon as possible. He also asked when staff thought the Town should post “no fishing” 
signage in the vicinity of the ramp. Ms. Leidich responded that staff had ordered the 
signage and that it would be posted as soon as it arrived. Mayor Porta said he was glad to 
hear that, as people likely would need time to adjust to the rule. Councilmember Holloway 
noted that the caution tape that had been posted by police in that area had been removed. 
 
Councilmember Perkins asked when construction of the ramp was expected to begin. Ms. 
Leidich responded that it would take approximately two weeks to install the ramp once the 
Town received the building permit. Mayor Porta asked Ms. Leidich about the permitting 
issues. Ms. Leidich responded that the application process had been extended due to the 
pandemic. She added that the ramp had been delivered to the contractor and was ready for 
installation. Councilmember Holloway asked if there had been any further discussion about 
the kayak racks. Ms. Leidich responded that she thought it would be better to address that 
once the ramp was installed, in order to see how the components fit in the space. Mayor 
Porta said he agreed with this decision, but he wanted to ensure that the Town had some 
type of temporary rack space available. Councilmember Holloway expressed concern that 
ramp users might leave their kayaks on private property if racks were not available. 
Councilmember Fithian said she did not think it was too early to determine how much 
space the racks would use. She also suggested that staff work on the welcome signage she 
had discussed at previous meetings. Councilmember Perkins said he would like to hear 
about the pricing and placement options for the kayak racks at the next meeting. 
 
Ms. Leidich reported that the reconfigured Public Works Department had met and produced 
a work schedule. Chief Linn explained the Police Department had recently started working 
with the Maintenance Supervisor and that that they had produced a draft Public Works 
report. He welcomed Council’s comments regarding the report, adding that his team would 



 
Town Council Regular Meeting Minutes - Draft          June 2, 2020 
  

Page 10 of 11 
 

be adding projects to their schedule as they went along. Councilmember Perkins 
commended Chief Linn for the quality of the report. Mayor Porta asked if this would be a 
weekly report. Chief Linn responded yes.  
 
Mayor Porta noted that the Virginia Department of Transportation (VDOT) had been 
working on Tanyard Hill Road following a meeting with himself and Prince William 
County Supervisor Kenny Boddye. Councilmember Perkins asked if the Town had received 
an update on the road work on Washington Street, which apparently had been suspended. 
Ms. Leidich said she would look into the matter. Councilmember Holloway asked Ms. 
Leidich to also find out whether there were any plans to resurface Tanyard Hill Road. 
Mayor Porta asked Ms. Leidich to notify Council about VDOT’s responses so they could 
respond to resident inquiries. Councilmember Holloway asked Ms. Leidich to also notify 
VDOT of damage to the planks on the footbridge.  
 

8. REGULAR BUSINESS 
a. COVID-19 Town Response Review 

ii. Planning Commission/Architectural Review Board Meetings 
Council confirmed that Planning Commission and Architectural Review Board 
meetings would resume in June. 
 

iii. Council Agendas 
Council agreed to resume all regular business, including nonessential items, for 
future meetings. 

 
b. Request to Expend Funds to Update Town Annex 

Motion to authorize Town Police to expend an amount not to exceed $4,000 to provide 
for minor capital improvements and IT costs for the second floor of the Town Annex. 
Moved by Vice Mayor Sivigny; seconded by Councilmember Fithian. 
Motion passed unanimously by voice vote. 
 

9. Closed Session 
Motion to convene in closed session to discuss the following:  

• As permitted by the Virginia Code Section 2.2-3711(A)(3), a matter involving the 
acquisition of real property within Town boundaries for public purposes. 

• As permitted by the Virginia Code Section 2.2-3711(A)(7), consultation with legal 
counsel pertaining to probable litigation involving First Amendment concerns. 

• As permitted by the Virginia Code Section 2.2-3711(A)(1), a personnel matter 
involving the assignment, appointment, promotion, performance, demotion, salaries, 
disciplining, or resignation of specific public officers, appointees, or employees of the 
Town, specifically dealing with all Town employees. 

Moved by Vice Mayor Sivigny; seconded by Councilmember Perkins. 
Motion passed unanimously by voice vote. 
 
Closed session began at 8:53 p.m.  



 
Town Council Regular Meeting Minutes - Draft          June 2, 2020 
  

Page 11 of 11 
 

Closed session ended at 11:10 p.m. 
 
Motion to certify that, in the closed session just concluded, nothing was discussed except the 
matter or matters (1) specifically identified in the motion to convene in closed session and (2) 
lawfully permitted to be discussed under the provisions of the Virginia Freedom of 
Information Act cited in that motion.  
Moved by Vice Mayor Sivigny; seconded by Councilmember Holloway.  
Ayes: Vice Mayor Sivigny, Councilmember Dawson, Councilmember Fithian, Councilmember 
Holloway and Councilmember Perkins, by roll call vote.  
Nays: None. 

 
10. ADJOURNMENT 

The meeting was adjourned at 11:11 p.m. 
 
 
 

_____________________________ 
 
Katy Nicholson 
Town Clerk 



 

     OCCOQUAN TOWN COUNCIL 
Public Hearing Minutes - DRAFT 

Town Hall – 314 Mill Street, Occoquan, VA 22125 
Tuesday, June 16, 2020 

7:00 p.m. 

 
Present: Mayor Earnie Porta; Vice Mayor Pat Sivigny; Councilmembers Matthew Dawson, Laurie 

Holloway and Eliot Perkins 
Absent:  Councilmember Cindy Fithian 
Staff:  Kathleen Dellinger, Town Treasurer; Adam Linn, Chief of Police; Jason Forman, Town 

Sergeant; Julie Little, Events Director; Katy Nicholson, Town Clerk 
  

1. CALL TO ORDER  
Mayor Porta called the Public Hearing for the Proposed FY 2021 Tax Rates to order at 7:05 p.m.  
            

2. PUBLIC HEARING 
a. Public Hearing on Proposed Fiscal Year 2021 Tax Rates 

No comments. 
 

3. ADJOURNMENT 
The Public Hearing was adjourned at 7:06 p.m. 
 
 
 
_____________________________ 
 
Katy Nicholson 
Town Clerk 

 

 



 

     OCCOQUAN TOWN COUNCIL 
Work Session Minutes - DRAFT 

Town Hall – 314 Mill Street, Occoquan, VA 22125 
Tuesday, June 16, 2020 

                   Upon Completion of Budget Public Hearing 

 
Present: Mayor Earnie Porta; Vice Mayor Pat Sivigny; Councilmembers Matthew Dawson, Laurie 

Holloway and Eliot Perkins 
Absent:  Councilmember Cindy Fithian 
Staff:  Kathleen Dellinger, Town Treasurer; Adam Linn, Chief of Police; Jason Forman, Town 

Sergeant; Julie Little, Events and Community Development Director; Katy Nicholson, Town 
Clerk 

  
1. CALL TO ORDER                

Mayor Porta called the meeting to order at 7:06 p.m. 
 

2. REGULAR BUSINESS 
a. Motion to Adopt and Appropriate Fiscal Year 2021 Budget and Tax Rates 

Motion to set the Real Estate Tax Rate at $0.12 per $100 of assessed valuation for the 
Fiscal Year 2021 beginning July 1, 2020. 
Moved by Councilmember Perkins; seconded by Councilmember Dawson. 
Ayes: Councilmember Perkins, Councilmember Dawson, Vice Mayor Sivigny and 
Councilmember Holloway, by roll call vote.  
Nays: None. 
 
Motion to set the Meals Tax Rate at three (3) percent for the Fiscal Year 2021 beginning 
July 1, 2020. 
Moved by Councilmember Perkins; seconded by Councilmember Dawson. 
Ayes: Councilmember Perkins, Councilmember Dawson, Vice Mayor Sivigny and 
Councilmember Holloway, by roll call vote.  
Nays: None. 
 
Motion to set the Transient Tax Rate at two (2) percent for the Fiscal Year 2021 beginning 
July 1, 2020. 
Moved by Councilmember Perkins; seconded by Councilmember Dawson. 
Ayes: Councilmember Perkins, Councilmember Dawson, Vice Mayor Sivigny and 
Councilmember Holloway, by roll call vote.  
Nays: None. 

 
Motion to adopt the Fiscal Year 2021 General Fund budget beginning July 1, 2020, as 
presented in the amount of $969,831, and appropriate the funds for the expenditures 
shown in the budget. 
Moved by Vice Mayor Sivigny; seconded by Councilmember Holloway. 

 

 



 
Town Council Work Session Minutes - Draft          June 16, 2020 
  

Page 2 of 3 
 

Ayes: Councilmember Perkins, Councilmember Dawson, Vice Mayor Sivigny and 
Councilmember Holloway, by roll call vote.  
Nays: None. 

 
Motion to adopt the Fiscal Year 2021 Capital Improvement Plan budget beginning July 1, 
2020, as presented in the amount of $165,896 in expenditures and $19,411 in revenues, and 
appropriate the funds for the expenditures shown in the budget. 
Moved by Councilmember Holloway; seconded by Councilmember Perkins. 
Ayes: Councilmember Perkins, Councilmember Dawson, Vice Mayor Sivigny and 
Councilmember Holloway, by roll call vote.  
Nays: None. 
 
Motion to adopt the Fiscal Year 2021 Mamie Davis Fund budget beginning July 1, 2020, as 
presented in the amount of $1,200 in revenue, as shown in the budget. 
Moved by Councilmember Dawson; seconded by Councilmember Holloway. 
Ayes: Councilmember Perkins, Councilmember Dawson, Vice Mayor Sivigny and 
Councilmember Holloway, by roll call vote.  
Nays: None. 
 
Motion to adopt the Fiscal Year 2021 Craft Show Fund budget beginning July 1, 2020, as 
presented in the amount of $156,552 in expenditures and $225,100 in revenues, and 
appropriate the funds for the expenditures shown in the budget. 
Moved by Councilmember Perkins; seconded by Councilmember Holloway. 
Ayes: Councilmember Perkins, Councilmember Dawson, Vice Mayor Sivigny and 
Councilmember Holloway, by roll call vote.  
Nays: None. 

 
Mayor Porta explained that Ms. Little had met with Town business owners and was working with the Town 
Attorney regarding the microgrant program. He noted several key points for Council to consider, adding 
that if Council was in agreement, he and staff would continue the administrative work required to roll out 
the program.  

• The funding would be disbursed by the Occoquan Merchants’ Guild, as Mr. Crim had advised that 
the Town could not legally distribute the funds directly. 

• Town staff would determine which businesses were eligible for the program. 
• Staff recommended that the microgrant funding be distributed equally among eligible businesses 

that submitted applications. 
• The application period would be approximately five days long, beginning after the Town received 

its Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act funding from Prince William County. 
Information would be printed in the Town newsletter and staff would conduct additional outreach 
to Town businesses.  

• Nonprofits like the Veterans of Foreign Wars would be eligible for the microgrant program. 



 
Town Council Work Session Minutes - Draft          June 16, 2020 
  

Page 3 of 3 
 

Mayor Porta presented out-going Vice Mayor Sivigny and Councilmember Dawson with plaques 
commemorating their service to the Town. He commended Councilmember Dawson’s calm counsel and 
sense of humor, and Vice Mayor Sivigny’s respectfulness and empathy. 
 

3. Closed Session 
Motion to convene in closed session to discuss, as permitted by the Virginia Code Section 2.2-
3711(A)(1), a matter involving personnel matters involving all Town staff. 
Moved by Vice Mayor Sivigny; seconded by Councilmember Holloway. 
Motion passed unanimously by voice vote. 
 
Closed session began at 7:18 p.m.  
Closed session ended at 7:36 p.m. 
 
Motion to certify that, in the closed session just concluded, nothing was discussed except the 
matter or matters (1) specifically identified in the motion to convene in closed session and (2) 
lawfully permitted to be discussed under the provisions of the Virginia Freedom of 
Information Act cited in that motion.  
Moved by Vice Mayor Sivigny; seconded by Councilmember Dawson.  
Ayes: Vice Mayor Sivigny, Councilmember Dawson, Councilmember Holloway and 
Councilmember Perkins, by roll call vote.  
Nays: None. 

 
4. ADJOURNMENT 

The meeting was adjourned at 7:37 p.m. 
 
 
 

_____________________________ 
 
Katy Nicholson 
Town Clerk 



Member of the Virginia Municipal League 

 

TOWN OF OCCOQUAN 
Circa 1734 ● Chartered 1804 ● Incorporated 1874 

314 Mill Street ● PO Box 195 ● Occoquan, Virginia 22125 
(703) 491-1918 ● Fax (571) 398-5016 ● info@occoquanva.gov 

www.occoquanva.gov 
 

 
 

Town Engineer’s Report 

Town Council Meeting – August 4, 2020 
 

ACTIVE ITEMS: 
 

Kayak/Canoe Launch – update from last report 

Permit issued with third-party inspection contract executed.  Mobilization commenced and six additional pilings proposed 

by structural engineer.  Additional concrete required to accommodate erosion under proposed landing.  Work tentatively set 

to be completed two weeks after change orders approved 
 

Vistas at Occoquan – Landscape Maintenance Bond Release – update from last report 

Staff report dated April 15, 2020 recommends landscape maintenance bond be released. 
 

Historic District Parking Exhibit – no change from last report 

Prepared exhibit showing re-striping options in Historic District for possible changes when roads repaved by VDOT.  Will 

prepare reviewable striping plan for VDOT. 
 

Mill Street Cross-walk Improvement Plan by VDOT –update from last report 

Pre-final plans issued by VDOT – Right of Way Authorization (22 square feet on property of Walker).  Additional area on 

Town property needed for ramp slopes at Ellicott and Mill – letter of permission to accommodate. 
 

Kiely Court Project –update from last report 

Land Disturbance Permit issued - construction commenced.  Zoning permits have been issued for both houses.  Town staff 

continues to monitor erosion and sediment controls and parking on/near job site.  A Stop Work order has been issued until 

sediment transport onto Mill Street is corrected.  Certificate of Appropriateness for fence denied by ARB; applicant is 

appealing the decision to the Town Council.. 
 

Rivertown Overlook Project – no change from last report 

Land Disturbance Permit issued – construction proceeding. 
 

Mill at Occoquan – no change from last report 

Revised preliminary site plan and Special Use Permit applications re-submitted August 2, 2019 – staff report prepared and 

distributed for Planning Commission hearing.  Developer asked for postponement of Planning Commission to date to be 

determined. 
 

 

INACTIVE ITEMS (no action/monitoring pending): 
 

Vantage Point BMP maintenance – no change from last report 

Bid received from Total Development Solutions ($38,730).  Lynn property – re-inspected with calculations on channel 

capacity and protective lining.  Town Engineer evaluated runoff onto downstream property and prepared channel 

improvement plan for owner. 
 

Boundary Branch – no change from last report 

Meeting on site with VDOT to review options for Poplar Lane crossing of Boundary Branch - VDOT providing possible 

options, which may include George Mason University students.  Also inspected erosion issues at Mill Cross Lane and 

provided possible costs to correct.  Boundary Branch, Vantage Point BMP – various stormwater issues throughout Town. 
 

Tanyard Hill Park (Oaks III) – no change from last report 

Approved by PWC BOS 5/15/18 with revised proffers 
Use as park and open space – trails and Stormwater Pond shown on GDP 

Plat vacating lot line when site plan needed - NRA to review first 

Access to potential parking lot for trail head allowed off Tanyard Hill 

Reserve ROW along Tanyard Hill and Old Bridge Roads 

Use LID as part of any development 

Pay $75 per acre zoned (4.229 acres) 

TOWN COUNCIL 
Earnie W. Porta, Jr., Mayor 
Jenn Loges, Vice Mayor 
Krys Bienia 
Cindy Fithian 
Laurie Holloway 
Eliot Perkins 

 
TOWN MANAGER 
Kathleen R. Leidich, AICP 
 

TOWN TREASURER 
M. Kathleen Dellinger 
 

 



Permit Number Main Address Description Permit Type Permit Status Permit Workclass Issue Date Finalize Date Sq Feet Valuation City

BLD2019-03820 206 COMMERCE ST ANTENNA MOUNTED TO POLE IN TOWNBuilding Pending C - Alteration/Repair 0.00 $16,000.00 OCCOQUAN
BLD2019-00547 402 FORTRESS WAY KITCHEN RENOVATION TO CONDO UNIBuilding Issued C - Alteration/Repair 07/30/2018 0.00 $16,000.00 OCCOQUAN
GAS2019-00432 270 GASLIGHT LANDING CTALTERATION/REPAIRS TO REPLACE HVGas Issued C - Alteration/Repair 09/20/2018 0.00 $4,751.00 OCCOQUAN
FPP2020-00826 12525 GORDON BLVD EMERGENCY REPAIRS TO REPLACE 1 AFire Protection Permit Finaled Sprinkler 05/18/2020 06/02/2020 0.00 $876.00 WOODBRIDGE
BLD2020-05195 111 MILL ST N/S FOR CANOE & KAYAK RAMP IN THEBuilding Issued C - Accessory Structure 07/10/2020 600.00 $43,000.00 OCCOQUAN
PLB2020-00752 201 MILL ST CAPPING THE WATER SERVICE Plumbing Issued C - Alteration/Repair 10/01/2019 0.00 $300.00 OCCOQUAN
BLD2018-04471 313 MILL ST PARTIAL ROOF REPAIR DUE TO WATERBuilding Issued C - Alteration/Repair 02/23/2018 800.00 $10,000.00 OCCOQUAN
BLD2018-02969 426 MILL ST *SEE NOTE* LOT SPECIFIC  SFD -  KIELYBuilding Issued R - New Single Family Dwell 10/22/2019 3,056.00 $100,000.00 OCCOQUAN
BLD2018-05964 426 MILL ST RETAINING WALL Building Issued R - Retaining Wall 10/09/2018 0.00 $20,000.01 OCCOQUAN
BLD2019-04458 426 MILL ST ** SEE NOTE ** SHEETING/SHORING PEBuilding Issued R - Retaining Wall 04/15/2019 0.00 $7,500.00 OCCOQUAN
BLD2018-02984 430 MILL ST *SEE NOTE* KIELY RESIDENCE - LOT S Building Issued R - New Single Family Dwell 04/15/2019 3,468.00 $100,000.00 OCCOQUAN
BLD2018-05963 430 MILL ST RETAINING WALL MAX HEIGHT 9'6'' Building Issued R - Retaining Wall 10/09/2018 570.00 $20,000.01 OCCOQUAN
ELE2020-04159 430 MILL ST HOUSE ELECTRICAL Electrical Issued R - New Single Family Dwell 04/07/2020 3,468.00 $15,000.00 OCCOQUAN
BLD2020-02847 1604 MOUNT HIGH ST 20 X 24 FRONT YARD OPEN DECK W 2 XBuilding Issued R - Addition 11/26/2019 480.00 $3,500.00 WOODBRIDGE
BLD2020-06083 1406 OCCOQUAN HEIGHTS 12' X 20' OPEN DECK - NO STAIRS - PERBuilding Finaled R - Addition 06/15/2020 06/26/2020 240.00 $14,300.00 OCCOQUAN
BLD2014-05879 1441 OCCOQUAN HEIGHTS DECK Building Issued R - Addition 04/25/2014 288.00 $6,700.00 OCCOQUAN
BLD2018-02753 113 POPLAR LN 36' x 18' INGROUND POOL Building Issued R - Swimming Pool 12/07/2017 648.00 $60,000.00 OCCOQUAN
ELE2018-02286 113 POPLAR LN }}FDG 36' x 18' INGROUND POOL Electrical Issued R - Swimming Pool 12/07/2017 648.00 $6,000.00 OCCOQUAN
ELE2019-00599 113 POPLAR LN Install circuits, fixtures, and receptacles Electrical Issued R - Alteration/Repair 08/15/2018 3,550.00 $2,200.00 OCCOQUAN
GAS2018-01390 113 POPLAR LN Gas Line to Pool Heater and Gas Line to F Gas Issued R - Swimming Pool 01/16/2018 0.00 $2,000.00 OCCOQUAN
BLD2018-04392 1551 RIVERTOWN PL LOT SPECIFIC TOWNHOUSE - LOT 1 155Building Issued R - New Townhouse 03/22/2018 2,754.00 $45,000.00 OCCOQUAN
ELE2019-04221 1551 RIVERTOWN PL LOT SPECIFIC TOWNHOUSE - LOT 1 155Electrical Issued R - New Townhouse 04/29/2019 2,754.00 $45,000.00 OCCOQUAN
GAS2019-00596 1551 RIVERTOWN PL LOT SPECIFIC TOWNHOUSE - LOT 1 155Gas Issued R - New Townhouse 10/22/2018 2,754.00 $1,000.00 OCCOQUAN
MEC2019-01181 1551 RIVERTOWN PL INSTALL NEW HVAC Mechanical Issued R - New Townhouse 11/20/2018 2,754.00 $5,500.00 OCCOQUAN
PLB2019-00861 1551 RIVERTOWN PL LOT SPECIFIC TOWNHOUSE - LOT 1 155Plumbing Issued R - New Townhouse 10/22/2018 2,754.00 $10,000.00 OCCOQUAN
BLD2018-04390 1552 RIVERTOWN PL LOT SPECIFIC TOWNHOUSE - LOT 6 155Building Issued R - New Townhouse 03/22/2018 3,246.00 $45,000.00 OCCOQUAN
GAS2019-00603 1552 RIVERTOWN PL LOT SPECIFIC TOWNHOUSE - LOT 6 155Gas Issued R - New Townhouse 10/22/2018 3,246.00 $1,000.00 OCCOQUAN
PLB2019-00870 1552 RIVERTOWN PL LOT SPECIFIC TOWNHOUSE - LOT 6 155Plumbing Issued R - New Townhouse 10/22/2018 3,246.00 $10,000.00 OCCOQUAN
BLD2018-04393 1553 RIVERTOWN PL  LOT SPECIFIC TOWNHOUSE - LOT 2 15Building Issued R - New Townhouse 03/22/2018 2,790.00 $45,000.00 OCCOQUAN
ELE2019-04222 1553 RIVERTOWN PL  LOT SPECIFIC TOWNHOUSE - LOT 2 15Electrical Issued R - New Townhouse 04/29/2019 2,790.00 $45,000.00 OCCOQUAN
GAS2019-00598 1553 RIVERTOWN PL  LOT SPECIFIC TOWNHOUSE - LOT 2 15Gas Issued R - New Townhouse 10/22/2018 2,790.00 $1,000.00 OCCOQUAN
MEC2019-01193 1553 RIVERTOWN PL INSTALL NEW HVAC SYSTEM Mechanical Issued R - New Townhouse 11/21/2018 2,790.00 $5,500.00 OCCOQUAN
PLB2019-00864 1553 RIVERTOWN PL  LOT SPECIFIC TOWNHOUSE - LOT 2 15Plumbing Issued R - New Townhouse 10/22/2018 2,790.00 $10,000.00 OCCOQUAN
BLD2018-04376 1554 RIVERTOWN PL LOT SPECIFIC TOWNHOUSE - LOT 5 155Building Issued R - New Townhouse 03/22/2018 3,246.00 $45,000.00 OCCOQUAN
GAS2019-00601 1554 RIVERTOWN PL LOT SPECIFIC TOWNHOUSE - LOT 5 155Gas Issued R - New Townhouse 10/22/2018 3,246.00 $1,000.00 OCCOQUAN
PLB2019-00869 1554 RIVERTOWN PL LOT SPECIFIC TOWNHOUSE - LOT 5 155Plumbing Issued R - New Townhouse 10/22/2018 3,246.00 $10,000.00 OCCOQUAN
BLD2018-04394 1555 RIVERTOWN PL  LOT SPECIFIC TOWNHOUSE - LOT 3 15Building Issued R - New Townhouse 03/22/2018 2,754.00 $45,000.00 OCCOQUAN
ELE2019-04220 1555 RIVERTOWN PL  LOT SPECIFIC TOWNHOUSE - LOT 3 15Electrical Issued R - New Townhouse 04/29/2019 2,754.00 $45,000.00 OCCOQUAN
GAS2019-00599 1555 RIVERTOWN PL  LOT SPECIFIC TOWNHOUSE - LOT 3 15Gas Issued R - New Townhouse 10/22/2018 2,754.00 $1,000.00 OCCOQUAN
MEC2019-01194 1555 RIVERTOWN PL INSTALL NEW HVAC Mechanical Issued R - New Townhouse 11/21/2018 2,754.00 $5,500.00 OCCOQUAN
PLB2019-00865 1555 RIVERTOWN PL  LOT SPECIFIC TOWNHOUSE - LOT 3 15Plumbing Issued R - New Townhouse 10/22/2018 2,754.00 $10,000.00 OCCOQUAN
BLD2018-04375 1556 RIVERTOWN PL LOT SPECIFIC TOWNHOUSE - LOT 4 155Building Issued R - New Townhouse 03/22/2018 3,246.00 $45,000.00 OCCOQUAN
GAS2019-00600 1556 RIVERTOWN PL LOT SPECIFIC TOWNHOUSE - LOT 4 155Gas Issued R - New Townhouse 10/22/2018 3,246.00 $1,000.00 OCCOQUAN
PLB2019-00867 1556 RIVERTOWN PL LOT SPECIFIC TOWNHOUSE - LOT 4 155Plumbing Issued R - New Townhouse 10/22/2018 3,246.00 $10,000.00 OCCOQUAN
BLD2018-04008 199 UNION ST UPDATE AND REPAIR BATHROOM IN R Building Issued C - Alteration/Repair 01/31/2018 64.00 $1,000.00 OCCOQUAN
PLB2018-01862 199 UNION ST INTERIOR RENOVATIONS TO LAUNDRYPlumbing Issued C - Alteration/Repair 01/31/2018 25.00 $4,000.00 OCCOQUAN
BLD2019-00218 201 UNION ST RESTURANT - TLO - NEW KITCHEN, KIT Building Issued C - Tenant Layout 10/25/2018 1,242.00 $75,000.00 OCCOQUAN
ELE2019-00426 201 UNION ST //HXF RESTURANT - TLO - NEW KITCHE Electrical Issued C - Tenant Layout 05/15/2019 1,242.00 $75,000.00 OCCOQUAN
FPP2020-00671 201 UNION ST FPP FOR RANGE HOOD Fire Protection Permit Issued Hood System 03/19/2020 1,242.00 $75,000.00 OCCOQUAN
GAS2019-00113 201 UNION ST RESTURANT - TLO - NEW KITCHEN, KIT Gas Issued C - Tenant Layout 03/19/2019 1,242.00 $12,000.00 OCCOQUAN
MEC2019-00933 201 UNION ST RESTURANT - TLO - NEW KITCHEN, KIT Mechanical Issued C - Tenant Layout 03/19/2019 1,242.00 $75,000.00 OCCOQUAN

Town of Occoquan - Permit Report 
July 2020

Report Date: 7/28/2020 DEVELOPMENT SERVICES - BUILDING DEVELOPMENT er_DS_OccoquanPermits
Report Time: 9:05:39 AM Page 1 of 2



PLB2019-00145 201 UNION ST {{ KJJ{{ RESTURANT - TLO - NEW KITCHPlumbing Issued C - Tenant Layout 03/19/2019 1,242.00 $2,000.00 OCCOQUAN
BLD2020-03981 202 UNION ST ALTERATION/REPAIRS TO DEMO SPAC Building Issued Demolition 02/12/2020 0.00 $2,200.00 OCCOQUAN
BLD2020-04453 202 UNION ST SALAD SALOON - TLO Building Pending C - Tenant Layout 217.00 $14,000.00 OCCOQUAN
MEC2020-02163 202 UNION ST SALAD SALOON - TLO Mechanical Pending C - Tenant Layout 217.00 $14,000.00 OCCOQUAN
PLB2018-02373 411 UNION ST CONVERTING FROM SEPTIC TO PUBLICPlumbing Issued R - Alteration/Repair 03/23/2018 0.00 $15,000.00 OCCOQUAN
BLD2020-05154 103 VISTA KNOLL DR 20 X 10 OPEN DECK NO STAIRS - COUNBuilding Finaled R - Addition 04/22/2020 06/10/2020 200.00 $5,000.00 OCCOQUAN
BLD2019-00785 131 WASHINGTON ST FINISH BASEMENT -*REVISED 9/19/18 TBuilding Issued R - Alteration/Repair 08/13/2018 215.00 $750.00 OCCOQUAN
ELE2019-00643 131 WASHINGTON ST FINISH BASEMENT -*REVISED 9/19/18 TElectrical Issued R - Alteration/Repair 08/16/2018 215.00 $500.00 OCCOQUAN
PLB2019-00381 131 WASHINGTON ST FINISH BASEMENT -*REVISED 9/19/18 TPlumbing Issued R - Alteration/Repair 08/15/2018 215.00 $750.00 OCCOQUAN
PLB2018-01956 103 WEST LOCUST ST Water Service Plumbing Issued R - Alteration/Repair 02/08/2018 0.00 $1,400.00 OCCOQUAN

END OF REPORT



Member of the Virginia Municipal League 

 

TOWN OF OCCOQUAN 
Circa 1734 ● Chartered 1804 ● Incorporated 1874 

314 Mill Street ● PO Box 195 ● Occoquan, Virginia 22125 
(703) 491-1918 ● Fax (571) 398-5016 ● info@occoquanva.gov 

www.occoquanva.gov 
 

 
 

Town Zoning Administrator’s Report 

Town Council Meeting – August 4, 2020 

 
 

The following is a list of zoning reviews from June 26 to July 31, 2020: 

 

128 East Colonial Drive – new 16’ x 8’ deck with 2 steps 

125 Mill Street, Unit 3 – new tenant 

127 Washington Street – house remodel 

306 Commerce Street – new tenant 

 

The following is a list of violation letters from June 26 to July 31, 2020: 

 

119 Washington Street – Grass/weed violation. 

104 West Locust – ladder storage, vacate house 

 

As a follow up to previous violations, no additional inspections were made in July: 

 

Berrywood – Trash Enclosure is not present, certified letter (3rd notice) was unclaimed 

3rd Base Pizza –seasonal lights still in place. 

426/430 Mill Street – working with contractor on water/sediment on sidewalk and street. 

Additional enforcement measures are being reviewed. 

 

The following is a list of plan reviews from June 26 to July 31, 2020: 

 

None. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

-END- 

TOWN COUNCIL 
Earnest W. Porta, Jr., Mayor 
Jenn Loges, Vice Mayor 
Krys Bienia 
Cindy Fithian 
Laurie Holloway 
Eliot Perkins 

 
TOWN ZONING 
ADMINISTRATOR 
Ned A. Marshall 
 

 

















TOWN OF OCCOQUAN 
Circa 1734 ● Chartered 1804 ● Incorporated 1874 

314 Mill Street ● PO Box 195 ● Occoquan, Virginia 22125 
(703) 491-1918 ● Fax (571) 398-5016 ● info@occoquanva.gov 

www.occoquanva.gov 
 
 

Occoquan Police Department 
 

Monthly Town Council Report 
August 4, 2020 

 
Departmental Goals 
 
Goal 1: Provide for the public safety of the persons and property of the residents, businesses, 

and visitors of the Town of Occoquan. 
Goal 2:  Promote a professional and accountable police department. 
Goal 3:  Promote safe roads and sidewalks in the Town of Occoquan. 
 
Current Initiatives 
 
Continued the Calls for Service police coverage and COVID-19 response in Town.  Working 
with town officers and auxiliary police officers to increase patrols and visibility during peak 
calls for service times.1 Directed patrols during business hours.1 Continued community 
policing and safe sidewalks.1 Worked with officers to address administrative needs of Police 
Department.2  
 
Provided limited traffic enforcement on Gordon Boulevard and Commerce Street area 
(speeding, Block the Box and Driving off Roadway), Union Street/Tanyard Hill Road (speed 
enforcement), and Washington Street and Union Street (pedestrian safety and speeding).3  
Directed stop sign enforcement and pedestrian safety enforcement in historic district.3  

Continued foot patrols and visibility in historic business area.   
 
Continued body worn cameras program for Town Officers and DMV selective enforcement 
grants to reduce accidents and pedestrian safety.4  
  
Community Relations 
 
Provided patrol and visibility for COVID-19. Met with community residents to discuss police 
administration and use of force policies.  Provided patrol and visibility throughout Town, 
including foot patrols through Historic Downtown and residential areas on Washington Street, 
East Colonial Drive, Overlook Drive, Fortress Way, Occoquan Heights, and Mill Cross. 
Continued stop sign and speed compliance details.  Provided visibility patrol during July 4th 
events, Concert in the Park, and Pokémon event.  
 
  

TOWN COUNCIL 
Earnest W. Porta, Jr., Mayor 
Jennifer Loges, Vice Mayor 
Cindy Fithian 
Laurie Holloway 
Eliot Perkins 
Krystyna Bienia 
 
TOWN MANAGER 
Kathleen R. Leidich, AICP 
 
CHIEF OF POLICE 
Adam C. Linn, J.D. 

 



Occoquan Police Department Report July 2020 Page 2 
 

 
 

Patrol and Enforcement Activities 
 
As of July 27th, in the month of July, the Town Police made 12 custodial arrests (3 DUI, 1 
DUID, 1 Refusal, Breaking & Entering, Assault on a Family Member, Destruction of Property, 
Obstruction of Justice, Trespassing and 2 warrant services), issued 147 traffic summonses, 
and 52 warnings.   

 
Traffic Summonses FYTD (GRAPH) 5 

 

 
 

Parking Tickets Issued FYTD (GRAPH)3 

 

 

147

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

212

259

203
170

198
181 185

219 230

149

204
189

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

Fiscal Year 2021

Fiscal Year 2020

12

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

18

23

8

11

20

15

11 12

9

0

10
12

0

5

10

15

20

25

Fiscal Year 2021

Fiscal Year 2020



Occoquan Police Department Report July 2020 Page 3 
 

 
 

Traffic Stops YTD (GRAPH) 5 

 

 
 
 Patrol/Administrative Hours FYTD (GRAPHS) 5  

 

 

 

 

199

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

328

383

294 297
326

369

307

380 380

216

277 273

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

Fiscal Year 2021

Fiscal Year 2020

566.5
502.5 534

658

442 422
508 531.5 495

588
490.5 506 536

0
100
200
300
400
500
600
700

Total Patrol Hours

Fiscal Year 2021

Fiscal Year 2020

0

50

100

150

200

250
Total Admin/Training Hours

Fiscal Year 2021

Fiscal Year 2020



Occoquan Police Department Report July 2020 Page 4 
 

 
 

 
Volunteer in Police Service (New) 
 
Since March, our volunteer in police service (VIPS) members, auxiliary police officers, and 
paid police staff have donated a total of 1,327 uncompensated hours to the Town.  Below is a 
list of volunteer hours (uncompensated time) provided by our VIPS members, auxiliary 
police officers, and paid police staff: 
 

 
 
Miscellaneous 
 
Continued Field Training for 1 auxiliary police officer who completed academy.2 Continued 
Narcan – Opioid safety program3.  Worked with public works on Town needs.5 
 

 
1 Goals 1, 2, and 3 
2 Goal 2 
3 Goal 3 
4 Goals 1, 2, and 3 
5 Goals 1 and 3 

52
97

32 40 34
0

0
86 92

59

135

202 184.5
188

126

MARCH APRIL MAY JUNE JULY

Volunteered Hours

VIPS Auxillary Staff



TOWN OF OCCOQUAN 
Circa 1734 ● Chartered 1804 ● Incorporated 1874 

314 Mill Street ● PO Box 195 ● Occoquan, Virginia 22125 
(703) 491-1918 ● Fax (571) 398-5016 ● info@occoquanva.gov 

www.occoquanva.gov 
 

 

Monthly Town Council Report 
August 4, 2020 

 
Public Works Responsibilities 
 
1. To maintain the Town’s infrastructure, including but not limited to, Town-owned 

streets, brick sidewalks, gas lights, buildings, equipment, trash collection, park 
maintenance and general maintenance activities. 

2.  To prepare and execute improvement projects for the Town.  
3. To respond to emergency events that occur in Town, including but not limited to 

snow removal and other weather-related events. 
4. To assist in special events, including the Arts & Crafts Show, Riverfest, and other 

town sponsored events. 
 

Current Initiatives 

 
Beginning in May, 2020, the Police Department began to oversee the Public Works Department 
with Sgt. Forman managing work and reporting directly to Chief Linn.   
 
Public Works is currently working with the Town Council on its FY 2021 initiatives. 
 

Weekly Activities 
 
The Public Works Department engages in the following weekly maintenance activities: 
 

 

Activity Mon Tue Wed Thur Fri Sat Sun Notes

Trash Collection √ √ √ √ √ √ √ Done Daily 

Street Sweeping √ √ √ Done Mon/Wed/Fri

Check/Repair Gaslights √ √ Due Wed/Fri

Check/Repair Street Banners √ √ √ Due Mon/Wed/Fri 

Clean Trashcan Lids √ Due Friday

Check/Replace Doggie Bags √ Due Friday 

Check Storm Water Drains √ Due Friday 

Clean River Mill Park Restrooms √ √ √ √ √ √ Due Mon/Wed/Fri (COVID- daily)

Clean RMP Restrooms/Contractor √ √ Due Mon/Thur

Check Tanyard Hill Park √ √ Due Tue/Thur

Brick Sidewalk Review/Repair See Brick Replacement Schedule

Check/Replace Flags √ Due Friday 

Annex Cleanup √ √ √ √ √ √ √ Due Daily 

Review/Clean Dumpster Area √ √ Due Mon/Fri 

Confirm Trash Contractor √ √ Due Mon/Fri

Water Flowers √ √ √ Due Mon/Wed/Fri  

Open Bathrooms √ √ √ √ √ √ √ Done Daily 

Status

WEEKLY MAINTENANCE ACTIVITES

TOWN COUNCIL 
Earnest W. Porta, Jr., Mayor 
Jennifer Loges, Vice Mayor 
Cindy Fithian 
Laurie Holloway 
Eliot Perkins 
Krystyna Bienia 

 
TOWN MANAGER 

Kathleen R. Leidich, AICP 
 
CHIEF OF POLICE 
Adam C. Linn, J.D. 

 



Occoquan Public Works Department Report July 2020 Page 2 
 

 

 

 

Upkeep and Maintenance Projects 
 
Since March, 2020, the Town staff has been tasked with 91 projects.  Of those 91, 56 have been 
completed, 20 are in progress and 15 have not started. 
 
The below chart outlines the status of the projects: 
 

  Status 

Project Title 
Not 
Started 

In 
Progress Completed 

Install 1st & 2nd Floor Access Control Systems     √ 

Clean & Organize First Floor Storage Closet     √ 

Clean & Organize First Floor Outside Storage Closet     √ 

Clean & Paint outside 1st Floor Stairs and Entry Way     √ 

Clean/Paint/Organize Conference Room     √ 

Install TV and Video Conference Equipment in Conference Room     √ 

Clean/Paint/Organize Chief of Police Office     √ 

Clean/Paint/Organize PD Office     √ 

Install New Furniture in PD and Chief of Police Office     √ 
Paint Floors in 1st Floor Office Space     √ 
Install Interior Town Staff Door Way-Finding Signs     √ 
Install proper American/State/Town Flag in Town Council Chambers     √ 
Install Town Seal in Town Council Chambers     √ 
Install Town Seal in Conference Room      √ 
Town Hall Bathroom Remodel  √     
Town Hall Kitchen Remodel  √     
Install exterior PD way-finding signage     √ 
Order and Install "Social Distancing Signs" in Town Parks     √ 
Clean and Change exterior light fixtures at Town Hall      √ 
Clean and Organize Annex     √ 
Clean and Change exterior light fixtures at Annex     √ 
Install new landscape lighting at Mami Davis Park      √ 
Install new landscape lighting at Town Hall      √ 
Sew new grass at town hall √     
Sew new grass at River Mill Park √     
Clean and Organize River Mill Park Garage      √ 
Install new door hardware on all interior and exterior doors at Town Hall      √ 
Replace Annex Lower Level Door   √   
Re-Stain Annex Fence and Stairs     √ 
Add additional fencing to annex roadway fence     √ 
Extend and Replace fencing around dumpster enclosure     √ 
Add additional fencing around dumpster enclosure area   √   
Fix stump at Mill and Union      √ 



Occoquan Public Works Department Report July 2020 Page 3 
 

 

 

Fix stump at Union and Commerce     √ 
Weed and replant planters at Museum     √ 
Weed and replant planters on Boardwalk     √ 
Replace motion sensing light on Boardwalk      √ 
Replace Boardwalk Ladders    √   
Install rescue throw buoys on boardwalk   √   
Replace No Fishing Signage on Boardwalk    √   
Trim Trees on Mill St    √   
Trim Trees on Union St   √   
Trim Trees on Commerce St   √   
Clean Sediment from curbsides     √ 
Clean storm water drains from debris     √ 
Annex Step Project     √ 
Town Hall Elevator Gate Repair     √ 
No Fishing Signs around Kayak Ramp     √ 
Paint Door and Repair Windows on ATM Storage Building   √   
Replace Men's Bathroom Light Switch     √ 
Replace Exterior Lights on River Mill Bathroom    √   
River Mill Bathroom Lock Change     √ 
Remove Overgrown tree from Town Hall      √ 
Repair Town Hall Eve Damage due to Tree that was Removed    √   
Street Sign Audit and Repair and Cleaning   √   
Repair River Mill Bathrooms - back stalls run constantly      √ 
Cut and Paint LOVE sign for River Mill Park (For artist to paint) √     
Paint Alley Way Sign Poles  √     
Replace Social Distancing Sign in River Mill Park     √ 
Replace One Way sign at Washington St and Poplar Alley    √   
Replace Social Distancing Signs on Boardwalk     √ 
Replace light bulbs in Town Hall sign     √ 
Paint curbs by Town Hall / Manager location     √ 
Install Hand sanitizer Dispensers at Mill Park      √ 
Install Hand sanitizer Dispensers at Town Hall for Public and Town Staff     √ 
Repair/Replace hazardous boards on Boardwalk   √   
Replace Mirror by Union St. & Poplar Alley √     
Pressure Wash Pilar under Rt. 123 to remove graffiti remnants     √ 
Repair Banner at Ellicott and Mill     √ 
Clean Gutters on Town Buildings      √ 
Get estimates for gutter covers for town buildings    √   
Trim tree on Mill St hanging over Lynn property on Mill St.      √ 
Remove graffiti from retaining wall and area on Gordon Blvd.     √ 
Spray/Remove kudzu from fence near town entrance      √ 
Spray/Remove kudzu from fence under the 123 Bridge   √   
Remove sediment from under 123 Bridge    √   
Clean Bridge Trusses and clean overall area under Bridge    √   



Occoquan Public Works Department Report July 2020 Page 4 
 

 

 

Tree Trimming near Mill House Museum     √ 
Fix table bench on Town Boardwalk   √   
Clean Sediment from Curbsides from entrance way at Rt123     √ 
Remove Graffiti from River Mill Park Building     √ 
Fix leaking hose bibs on boardwalk      √ 
Add wrap-wrap (rock) under parking area in front of Kayak Ramp    √   
Fix Town Hall Trash Can area  √     
Fix Town Hall rear flower bed  √     
Clean Lower Level Emergency Exit Stairs at Town Hall  √     
Discuss signage on FFX side of Footbridge  √     
Cut back over-growth at Tanyard and Olde Bridge to make OCQ Sign more 
visible  √     
Re-Stain Town Hall lower level stairs  √     
Paint and realign parking stops in front of Visitor Center √     
Remove Parking signs in front of Visitor Center √     

 
 
In addition to the above projects, Town staff has installed custom bricks in front of River Mill 
Park.  The below is the status of the replacement and maintenance sidewalk bricks: 
 

 
 

 

Location Not Started In Progress Completed

Corner by Post Office (Mill & Washington) √

206 Mill St. (Details) √

Town Hall √

Loft Gallery/Elements √

Bottle Stop √

Mamie Davis Park (in front - Mill St.) √

Mamie Davis Park (in park) √

Museum Area √

Status



Events and Community Development 
Report, August 2020 

 

Town of Occoquan Micro-Grant Program 
The Micro-Grant panelists met on July 14, 2020 to review 37 applications.  Every Town business that met 
the application deadline was deemed eligible and received an equal amount. Grant funds were 
transferred to the Occoquan Merchants’ Guild on July 23, 2020. Checks were cut on July 29 and 
distributed via postal service. 
 

Event Planning During COVID-19 
In lieu of Craft Show revenue, the Town needs to generate funds for CIP reserves. The key factors in 
considering revenue-generating events are essentially all Phase III limitations: size, crowd control, social 
spacing, sanitation, etc. Smaller events can take place in the parks where size can be more easily limited 
and spacing can be enforced. Under consideration are events that will generate the most revenue with 
respect to feasibility and the effort involved. 

• Chili Cookoff  
• Athletic Fundraiser 
• Date Night Fun / Tournaments in the Park 
• Holiday 

 
Other Potential Revenue Streams 
Park Rentals and Brick Pavers 
Currently, staff is working on a brick paver campaign for social media as well as a promotional plan to 
encourage park rentals for small weddings, graduations, and birthdays. 

 
Visitors Center 
As a result of the challenges and restrictions on the size and logistics of outdoor events and activities 
relative to the time and effort investment, and as the Prince William Tourism sponsored Visitors’ Center 
is closing, staff recommends utilizing the Visitors’ Center building to generate an additional revenue 
stream either through a revenue sharing program with a renter or curating a Town-controlled tourism 
shop.  
 

Current Events 
Music on Mill 
August 7, The New Thirty (Popular), 7-9pm 
August 22, The Princess Bride, (rated PG) begins at sundown, approx. 8:30pm 
September 4, Time Warp Rock (Rock), 7-9pm 
 
Discover Occoquan Week August 17-23 
This year Discover Occoquan Week features a variety of virtual and outdoor activities extended over a 
week’s time to accommodate the challenges we face in hosting social gatherings.   



 
Recent Awards 
Winners in “Best of Virginia” sponsored by Virginia Living Magazine: 

Mom’s Apple Pie, Dessert 
Nazbro Chocolates, Chocolatier (2nd) 
The Reclaimed Treasures, Home Furnishings (3rd) 
Occoquan Chocolate Walk, Food Festival (2nd) 
Occoquan Arts & Crafts Show, Non-Food Festival 

 
 
  



TOWN OF OCCOQUAN 

   TOWN COUNCIL MEETING 
                                         Agenda Communication 
 

 
 
 

10. Regular Business Meeting Date: August 4, 2020 

10 A: Telecommunications Franchise/Site License – Vote to Award 

Franchise/Approve Site License 

   
Explanation and Summary: 
During the August 4, 2020, meeting Town Council is expected to award a non-exclusive 
franchise agreement for telecommunications.  If such a franchise is awarded to New 
Cingular Wireless PCS, LLC., the latter has requested approval for locating 
telecommunications equipment on existing utility poles within the Town’s rights-of-
way on Mill Street. 
 
On June 25, 2019, the Architectural Review Board approved application ARB 2019-001 
for the materials and color of the wireless communications antenna proposed in the site 
license to be installed on an existing pole. The pole is owned by Dominion Power and 
located in the vicinity of 201 Mill Street, near the ATM.  The proposed installation 
would include affixing a 24.9-inch canister to the top of the pole and attaching a 37-inch 
meter approximately 8 feet from the ground.   
 
This is a request for Town Council to award a non-exclusive franchise agreement to 
New Cingular Wireless PCS, LLC and approve the site license agreement for this 
location under the franchise agreement with New Cingular Wireless PCS, LLC if the 
latter is awarded a franchise. 
 
Under such a franchise agreement, New Cingular Wireless PCS is required to submit a 
site license application for each requested site.  Each site license will require a one-time 
use fee of $1,000 for the site, and an annual payment of $12 per linear foot of pole height 
between the lowest and highest points that the equipment occupies the pole.  The 
Franchise does not allow for the installation of new poles. 
 
Town Attorney’s Recommendation: Approval as to form. 
 
Proposed/Suggested Motion: 
“I move to adopt Ordinance # O-2020-4 to grant to New Cingular Wireless PCS, LLS, a 
small cell facilities franchise to permit use of public rights of way within the corporate 
limits of the Town of Occoquan, Virginia, for location of telecommunications equipment 
on existing or replacement utility poles and structures. 
 
AND  



TOWN OF OCCOQUAN 

   TOWN COUNCIL MEETING 
                                         Agenda Communication 
 

 
 
 

I move to approve the New Cingular Wireless PCS, LLC site license as presented for the 
identified location on Commerce Street.” 
 
OR 
 
Other action Council deems appropriate 
 
 
 
 
Attachments:          Ordinance # O-2020-04  

   New Cingular Wireless PCS, LLC. Site License 
 Occoquan Site Exhibit 
 AT&T Architectural Review Board Agenda Item-6/25/19 
 Architectural Review Board Minutes-6/25/19 
 Notice of Public Hearing and Invitation to Bid 
 
 



1

ORDINANCE # 
O-2020-04

AN UNCODIFIED ORDINANCE TO GRANT A SMALL CELL FACILITIES FRANCHISE
TO PERMIT USE OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY WITHIN THE CORPORATE LIMITS OF THE
TOWN OF OCCOQUAN, VIRGINIA, FOR LOCATION OF TELECOMMUNICATIONS
EQUIPMENT ON EXISTING OR REPLACEMENT UTILITY POLES AND STRUCTURES.

BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the Town of Occoquan, Virginia, meeting in regular session this
day of , 20__, that there shall be granted in the mode prescribed by

the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia for franchise grants and leaseholds, upon the conditions
hereinafter specified, the rights and privileges embodied in the following draft ordinance entitled:

AN UNCODIFIED ORDINANCE GRANTING TO NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS PCS,
LLC, A DELAWARE LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY, ITS PERMITTED SUCCESSORS AND
ASSIGNS, THE RIGHT FOR THE TERM AND UPON THE CONDITIONS HEREIN STATED,
TO USE AND OCCUPY THE PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY, STREETS, AND ALLEYS OF THE
TOWN OF OCCOQUAN, VIRGINIA, FOR THE INSTALLATION, MAINTENANCE,
UPGRADING, REPAIRING AND REMOVING OF GRANTEE FACILITIES AT LOCATIONS
WITHIN THE PRESENT OR FUTURE CORPORATE LIMITS OF THE TOWN TO BE
SPECIFICALLY APPROVED BY THE PROCESS SET FORTH IN THIS FRANCHISE
(hereinafter the “Ordinance” or “Franchise”).

WHEREAS, the Town of Occoquan, Virginia (the “Town”) has the authority to grant franchises
and other authorizations for the use and occupancy of the Public Rights-of-Way (as hereinafter defined);
and

WHEREAS, New Cingular Wireless PCS, LLC (the “Grantee”) desires to obtain a franchise to
use and occupy the Public Rights-of-Way (as hereinafter defined) for the purpose of installing,
maintaining,  upgrading, repairing and removing Grantee Facilities (as hereinafter defined); and

WHEREAS, the Town intends to exercise, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, and
in accordance with the Code of Virginia, its authority with respect to the regulation of the occupation and
use of the Public Rights-of-Way,

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the Town of Occoquan, Virginia,
meeting in regular session this day of 20__, as follows:

Section 1. Grant of Franchise. The right is hereby granted unto New Cingular Wireless PCS,
LLC, hereinafter referred to as “Grantee,” its permitted successors and assigns, for the Term (as hereinafter
defined) and subject to the conditions and limitations hereinafter stated, to use and occupy the Public
Rights-of-Way (consisting  of the public streets, roads, highways, freeways, lanes,  paths,  public ways
or places, sidewalks, boulevards, parkways, drives, alleys or other easement within and through the
corporate limits of the Town, as such corporate limits now exist or may be extended or altered at a later
date), for the installing, maintaining, upgrading, repairing, removing and operating of one or more small
cell facilities (as defined by Virginia Code § 56-484.26) together with such necessary replacement poles
(replacing existing Town poles to accommodate Grantee’s small cell facilities), power cables, conduit,
power distribution panel, radio head, gps antennas, ue relay, omnidirectional antenna, and other associated
equipment (collectively, “Grantee Facilities”) for telecommunications use. The Grantee is not authorized



2

to sublicense or sublease to any business entity or individual the right to use the public rights of way for
any purpose.

Section 2. Construction and Relocation of Grantee Facilities. From and after the date on which
this Ordinance shall become effective, the Grantee may locate Grantee Facilities in the Public Rights-of-
Way at reasonable, suitable and convenient points determined by the Town Council or designee after
consultation with Grantee and review and approval of a Site License in the form attached as Exhibit A (each
a “Site License”). Grantee may not install new poles in the Public Rights-of-Way for attachment of Grantee
Facilities but may attach Grantee Facilities to existing poles owned by third parties and/or replacement
poles.

Except for the relocation of the Grantee Facilities at the Grantee’s expense to make way for new
street construction as specified in this Section 2, if the Town requests removal or relocation of Grantee
Facilities, then the Town shall reimburse the Grantee for all reasonable removal and relocation costs. The
cost of such relocation or removal shall include the cost of installing such Grantee Facilities in a new
location, the cost to remove the Grantee Facilities at the old location, and the cost of any lands, or any
rights or interest in lands, and any other rights, required to accomplish such relocation or removal. The
cost of relocation or removal shall include the entire amount incurred or paid by the Grantee attributable
to such relocation or removal after deducting therefrom any increase in the value of the newly installed
Grantee Facilities and any salvage value derived from the relocated or removed Grantee Facilities.

Whenever the Town or any of its departments, agencies, and/or agents, servants, or employees shall
grade, regrade, construct, reconstruct, widen, or alter any Public Rights-of-Way or shall construct,
reconstruct, repair, maintain, or alter any other municipal public works therein (including, but not limited
to, storm sewers, sanitary sewers, water distribution, electric distribution, and street lights), and except
where such reconstruction or alteration is for the exclusive benefit of a third party, it shall be the duty of
the Grantee, when provided a notice to proceed by the Town, within a reasonable time commensurate
with the size of the project but in no case less than thirty (30) days nor greater than ninety (90) days, to alter
or relocate at Grantee’s expense its Grantee Facilities in the Public Rights-of-Way so as to conform to the
established grade or line of such Public Right-of-Way so as not to unreasonably interfere with such
municipal public works so constructed, reconstructed, or altered. The Town shall reimburse the Grantee
for the cost of alteration, relocation, removal or break-through of the Grantee Facilities to the extent and
only in an amount required by the Code of Virginia, as amended; otherwise, Grantee shall bear the cost of
such alteration, relocation, removal, or break-through. In the event the Grantee must relocate Grantee
Facilities pursuant to this Section 2, the Town shall make available, at no cost to Grantee, permits and
alternative space in the Public Rights-of-Way for such relocation of Grantee Facilities, provided that (i)
such alternative space need not be in the exact same streets or alleys but shall be in reasonable proximity
to the previous location; and (ii) such alternative space is reasonably available elsewhere in the Public
Rights-of-Way. If no such alternative space is reasonably available, or if Grantee rejects the offered
relocation site and the parties thereafter cannot agree on a relocation site within ninety (90) days, that Site
License shall terminate but any other Site Licenses shall be unaffected by that termination.

Section 3. Permits. Grantee agrees to comply with all provisions and requirements imposed by
the Occoquan Town Code and by all other applicable laws. Grantee agrees to comply with the provisions of
the Virginia Underground Utility Damage Prevention Act, Chapter 10.3 of Title 56, §56-265.14
through §56-265.32, of the Code of Virginia (1950), as amended (the “Miss Utility Requirements”).
Grantee shall provide the Town with an emergency contact telephone number that will be staffed at all
hours, every day of the year. Except in case of an emergency in which imminent material harm to persons
or property is reasonably likely, Grantee shall not be permitted to work in the Town’s Public Rights-of-
Way on Town Holidays.



3

The work to be done under this Franchise shall be done in such manner as not to damage any
other underground construction of any other entity holding a franchise from the Town or any construction
that complies with Miss Utility Requirements performed by the Town itself, or by the Virginia
Department of Transportation, or unnecessarily interfere with the making of connections by the Town or
by the citizens thereof with water pipes, sewerage pipes, or electrical lines, which may now or hereafter
be laid or constructed by the Town or by any other entity holding a franchise from the Town that comply
with Miss Utility Requirements. When the Public Rights-of-Way are used by the Grantee for any
underground construction, the surface thereof shall be restored by the Grantee within a reasonable time from
completion of the work to, as nearly as possible, the same condition as existed prior to such construction.
All work done under this Ordinance shall be done in such a manner as to not needlessly interfere with or
impede free and proper use of the Public Rights-of-Way by the public, or obstruct public travel except with
the advance, express permission of the Town which may be granted or withheld in the Town’s sole
discretion, not to be unreasonably withheld, or in the case of an emergency related to the safety, health and
welfare of the public. The Town Manager or designee shall have the sole right to determine whether an
emergency related to the safety, health and welfare of the public exists. All such work, whether scheduled
or emergency, shall be done at Grantee’s expense.

Grantee shall provide to the Town, within fifteen (15) days of completion of installation of any
Grantee Facilities, a complete and accurate as-built drawing for such Grantee Facilities.

Section 4. Insurance. Throughout the Term, as hereinafter defined, the Grantee shall, at its own
expense, maintain a liability insurance policy or policies. Except to the extent other provisions are provided
in a Site License, such policy or policies of insurance shall insure the Grantee and, excluding Workers’
Compensation and Employer’s Liability, include the officials, boards,  commissions, councils,  elected
officials, agents  and employees  of the Town as additional insureds as their interest may appear, and
include:

(a) Commercial General Liability Insurance, as per form ISO CG 00 01 or equivalent form reasonably
acceptable to the Town, in the amount of Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000.00) combined single
limit per occurrence and in the aggregate for property damage and bodily injury (limits may be
satisfied with primary and/or excess coverage). Such insurance shall cover the construction,
operation and maintenance of the Grantee Facilities; and

(b) Commercial Automobile Liability Insurance in the amount of One   Million Dollars
($1,000,000.00) combined single limit each accident for the bodily injury and property damage
coverage; and

(c) Workers’ Compensation Insurance meeting all statutory requirements of the Commonwealth of
Virginia; and

(d) Employers’ Liability Insurance in the amount of One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) each
accident/disease/policy limit; and

(e) Umbrella/Excess Liability Insurance shall be maintained above the primary Commercial
General Liability, Commercial Automobile Liability, and Employers’ Liability policies required
herein. The limit of such Umbrella/Excess Liability Insurance shall be  Five Million Dollars
($5,000,000.00) each occurrence and aggregate.  Grantee may use any combination of primary and
excess to meet required total limits.

The foregoing minimum limitations shall not prohibit the Grantee from obtaining any insurance
policy or policies in excess of such limitations set forth above. All policies of insurance shall be with insurers
licensed to sell insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia.



4

Section 5. Right to Trim and Cut. In the location and erection of the conduits and other Grantee
Facilities and fixtures and in stringing fiber or wires as herein authorized, Grantee shall have the right to
trim, cut and keep clear of its wires and fixtures trees and other vegetation in and along the Public Rights-
of-Way, but shall not cut or otherwise injure said trees and other vegetation to any greater extent than is
reasonably necessary in the installation, construction, and maintenance of said conduits, Grantee Facilities
wires, fixtures and other structures of Grantee as herein authorized and provided.

Section 6. Restoration. In the event Grantee shall, in the construction or repair of the Grantee
Facilities, damage any Town-owned property, Grantee shall promptly, but temporarily, stabilize the damage
to enable the Town to make immediate, permanent repairs. The Town shall promptly submit an invoice to
the Grantee for costs reasonably incurred in making such repairs. Grantee agrees to reimburse the Town for
the repairs to Town-owned property necessitated by the damage caused by Grantee within 180 days of
receiving an invoice from the Town.

Section 7. Separation from Power Lines. All Grantee Facilities shall be constructed and
maintained so as to remain at least ten feet (10’) from all electrical lines. Grantee is responsible for
maintaining at least ten feet (10’) of separation between Lessee Facilities and any electrical lines.

Section 8. Indemnification and Liability of Parties. Grantee agrees and binds itself, by the
acceptance of this Ordinance, to the fullest extent of the law, to indemnify, defend, keep and hold the
Town and its officers, employees and agents free and harmless from liability on account of injury or damage
to persons or public or private property to the extent caused by Grantee’s construction, improvement,
maintenance, repair, relocation, removal and operation of the Grantee Facilities and related works
(“Grantee’s Work”), except that Grantee shall not be required to indemnify the Town and any of its
officers, employees and agents against injuries or damage to the extent caused by the willful
misconduct or negligent acts or omissions of the Town or its officers, employees and agents. In the event
a lawsuit is brought against the Town, any of its officers, employees or agents, either independently or
jointly with Grantee, to the extent caused by Grantee’s work, Grantee, upon notice to it by the Town, will
defend the Town, and any of its officers, employees and agents in any such lawsuit at the cost of Grantee,
and, in event of a final judgment being obtained against the Town or any of its officers, employees or
agents, either independently or jointly with Grantee, Grantee will pay such judgment, with all costs, interest
and penalties, and hold the Town harmless.

Neither the Town nor its officials, employees, agents, attorneys, consultants or independent
contractors shall be responsible to the Grantee for any liability as a result of or in connection with the
operation, protection, breaking through, movement, removal,  alteration, or relocation of any Grantee
Facilities by or on behalf of the Grantee or the Town in accordance with this Franchise or in connection
with any emergency related to the safety, health and welfare of the public. However, nothing in this Section
8 shall waive any rights that the Grantee otherwise has against the Town for any willful misconduct
or negligent acts or omissions of the Town.

The Grantee shall have no liability to the Town or any officer, employee or agent of the Town for
any special, incidental, consequential, punitive or other damages as a result of the exercise of any right of
the Grantee pursuant to this Ordinance or applicable law. However, nothing in this Section shall waive
any rights that the Town otherwise has against the Grantee for any willful misconduct or grossly negligent
acts or omissions of the Grantee.

Section 9. Transfer of Franchise. This Franchise shall not be transferred to third parties without
the Town’s written consent, which shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed; provided,



5

however, that notwithstanding any provision in this Franchise to the contrary, Grantee shall have the right
to assign this Franchise to any parent, subsidiary, affiliate, or any person, firm, or corporation that shall
control, be under control of, or be under common control with Grantee, or to any entity into which
Grantee may be merged or consolidated or which purchases all or substantially all of the assets of Grantee
that are subject to this Franchise. Any transfer of the Franchise shall be in accordance with state franchise
law requirements and Grantee shall provide the Town with notice of any transfer. All rights and privileges
hereby granted to Grantee may, in accordance with this Section 9, be exercised by any successor or
successors, assignee or assignees of Grantee, but the successor or successors, assignee or assignees shall
be subject to all the provisions, obligations, stipulations and penalties herein prescribed in this Franchise.

Section 10. Term. The rights and privileges hereby granted shall continue for the period of ten (10)
years from and after the effective date of this Ordinance and, unless Grantee provides notice of its intention
not to renew, shall automatically be renewed for three (3) additional five-year terms, unless this Ordinance
be sooner voluntarily surrendered by Grantee, or unless the same is sooner terminated as provided by the
terms of this Ordinance or applicable law (hereinafter the “Term”). The Town shall conduct any advertising
and/or public notice that is required for such renewal terms. If the Grantee continues to use the Grantee
Facilities in the Public Rights-of-Way after the Term expires, then the Grantee shall continue to
comply with all applicable provisions of this Ordinance and other Town laws and ordinances, throughout
the period of such continued use.

Section 11. Restoration Upon Termination or Expiration. Upon the expiration of the Term,
and upon the termination of the rights hereby granted, by surrender, forfeiture, or otherwise, Grantee shall
remove, at Grantee’s expense, all Grantee Facilities in the Public Rights-of-Way within 180 days after
the expiration or termination of such rights and privileges. All Public Rights-of-Way must be returned to
their original condition by the Grantee within 180 days of removal of any of the above-mentioned property..
If Grantee fails to do so, the Grantee Facilities shall be deemed abandoned and Town may, but is not required
to, remove the Grantee Facilities and dispose of them in any fashion it deems fit.  Grantee shall reimburse
Town for the cost of disposal and removal of the Grantee Facilities.

Section 12. Performance Guarantees.
(a) Grantee shall deposit with the Town a performance bond in the amount of Ten Thousand

Dollars ($10,000.00), with good and sufficient security and which shall be in such form as may be
satisfactory to the Town Attorney (this performance bond is hereinafter referred to as the “Bond”). The
Bond shall be in place during any time when Grantee is using any Public Rights-of-Way in the Town. The
Bond shall be used to insure the faithful performance by Grantee of all provisions of this Ordinance and
any Site License issued in order to ensure compliance with all orders, permits and directions of any
agency, commission, board, official, department, division or office of the Town having jurisdiction over
its acts or defaults under this Franchise, and to ensure payment by Grantee of damages (including liquidated
damages), claims, liens, attorney’s fees and taxes due the Town that arise by reason of the construction,
operation or maintenance of the Grantee Facilities. Such acceptance and the Bond shall be filed with the
Town within thirty (30) days from the effective date of this Ordinance. The Bond shall not in any way be
considered as the limit of Grantee’s obligations or possible liabilities hereunder. Whenever the Town draws
upon the Bond, Grantee shall replenish the Bond within thirty (30) days thereafter. The Town shall release
the Bond after termination of this Franchise and after completion of any of Grantee’s post-termination
obligations, including audits, if any.

(b) To the extent necessary to determine the Grantee’s compliance with this Franchise or to
enable the Town to fully carry out its duties to manage and account for the Public Rights-of-Way, the
Grantee shall make available to the Town for inspection, examination and/or audit within thirty (30)
business days’ notice to the Grantee, such complete and accurate books of account, records, documents,
and other information as the Town may reasonably need with respect to the Grantee Facilities to enable the
Grantee to demonstrate, at all times throughout the Term or thereafter during any hold-over period that it
is, and has been, in compliance with each term and condition of this Ordinance.



6

(c) The Town may conduct compliance audits concerning Grantee's compliance with the
terms and conditions of this Ordinance at any time, provided that the Town gives the Grantee written
notice sixty (60) days in advance of the commencement of compliance audits, and such audit has not
taken place within the previous twenty-four (24) months. If the compliance audit finds underpayments or
other non-performance, Grantee shall reimburse the Town the cost of performing the compliance audit upon
presentation of an invoice for that expense.

(d) The Town may use any lawful collection method to recover costs due to it under the
terms of this Franchise, and the applicable law. Grantee shall be liable to the Town for all costs of collection,
including a reasonable attorney’s fee and expert witness fees. This fee-shifting provision shall survive
termination of this Franchise. This Section 12(d) shall apply to all sections herein where the Grantee may
be liable for the payment of any sum to the Town.

Section 13. Site License. In addition to the terms of this Franchise, Grantee shall be bound by the
terms of each Site License issued under this Franchise. If any term in a Site License conflicts with a term
in this Franchise, the provision which is more restrictive on Grantee or more beneficial to the Town shall
control.

Section 14. Nonexclusive Franchise. Nothing in this Ordinance affects the right of the Town to
grant any person or entity a franchise to occupy and use the Public Rights-of-Way to place and maintain
such person’s or entity’s facilities, or to engage in any other activity in the Public Rights-of-Way,
provided that the  exercise of such right will not require any  then existing Grantee  Facilities to  be
unreasonably interfered with or relocated except as expressly provided herein.

Section 15. Quality. All work involved in the installation, maintenance, upgrade, repair and
removal of Grantee Facilities shall be performed in a safe, thorough and reliable manner in accordance
with industry, professional, state and federal mandated standards and using materials of good and durable
quality.

Section 16. Safety Precautions. The Grantee shall, at its own cost and expense, undertake to
prevent accidents at its work sites at, on, and in all places used to access the Public Rights-of-Way, including
the placement and maintenance of proper guards, fences, barricades, watchmen and suitable and sufficient
lighting, in accordance with federal and state law.

Section 17. Public Safety. To protect the health or safety of any person or property due to fire,
disaster or other emergency, or to correct an unsafe work condition, all as determined by the Town in its sole
reasonable discretion, the Town may cut or move Grantee Facilities or property belonging to the Grantee at
or immediately near its work sites or the Public Rights-of-Way. The Town will make every reasonable effort
to first turn off Grantee Facilities and consult with the Grantee prior to any such cutting or movement of
Grantee Facilities or property referenced in this Section 17 and the Grantee shall be given the opportunity to
perform such work itself, if possible. The Town shall have the obligation to protect Grantee Facilities to the
maximum extent reasonable under the circumstances. All costs to repair or replace such Grantee Facilities
shall be borne by the Grantee except to the extent any such repair or replacement is due to the negligence or
willful misconduct of the Town.

Section 18. Compliance with Laws. The Grantee shall comply with all local laws, rules,
regulations, orders, or other directives of the Town issued pursuant to this Ordinance or with respect to
the Town’s management of its Public Rights-of-Way. Nothing herein shall be deemed a waiver of the
Town’s police power, its power to tax, or its power to enforce the applicable laws.



7

Section 19. No Obstruction. Except in the case of any emergency involving public safety, the
Grantee shall not obstruct the Public Rights-of-Way, rivers or other traffic to, from or within the corporate
limits of the Town without the prior written consent of the Town Manager. Facilities in the Public Rights-
of-Way shall be located so as to cause minimum interference with any use of the Public Rights-of-Way
and adjoining property. As soon as practicable, the Grantee shall notify the Town Manager or designee of
an obstruction of the ROW, river or other traffic to, from, or within the town . During emergency situations,
the Grantee may take all reasonable measures to restore service and alter its Grantee Facilities as necessary
to ensure the safety of the citizens of the Town.

Section 20. Right of Town to Use Public Rights-of-Way. Nothing in this Ordinance affects the
right of the Town to occupy and use the Public Rights-of-Way to place and maintain its facilities or
structures or to engage in any other activity in the Public Rights-of-Way, provided that the exercise of
such right will not require any of the Grantee’s existing Grantee Facilities to be unreasonably interfered
with.

Section 21. Notices. All notices, payments, demands and requests hereunder shall be in writing and shall
be deemed to have been properly given three (3) days after the date when mailed by the United States Postal Service
by First Class, Registered or Certified Mail, postage prepaid, or upon receipt when delivered by nationally recognized
overnight courier, and addressed as follows:

TOWN:
Town of Occoquan

Attn: Town Manager
Town Hall

314 Mill Street
P.O. Box 195

Occoquan, VA 22125

With a copy to:
Martin R. Crim, Esq.

Vanderpool, Frostick, & Nishanian, P.C.
9200 Church St, Suite 400

Manassas, VA 20110

GRANTEE:
New Cingular Wireless PCS, LLC

1025 Lenox Park Blvd NE, 3rd Floor
Atlanta, GA 30319

Attn: Tower Asset Group – Lease Administration
Re: Wireless Installation on Public Structures

(Town of Occoquan)

With a copy to:
New Cingular Wireless PCS, LLC

208 S. Akard Street
Dallas, TX 75202-4206

Attn: AT&T Legal Dept. - Network Operations
Re: Wireless Installation on Public Structures

(Town of Occoquan)
Grantee emergency phone number (not for Notice purposes): 877-231-5447



8

Section 22. Termination events. The Town, at its option, may terminate this Ordinance upon
any material breach of this Ordinance by the Grantee should the Grantee fail to correct such breach within
ninety (90) days after receiving specific written notice of such material breach from the Town. If the
breach cannot reasonably be corrected within ninety (90) days, the Town may terminate this Ordinance if
Grantee fails to promptly begin or diligently pursue correction of the breach, or if Grantee fails to fully
correct the breach as determined by the Town in its sole judgment within a reasonable time. Grantee may
terminate this Ordinance for convenience at any time upon written notice to the Town.

Section 23. Delays and Failures Beyond Control of Grantee. Notwithstanding any other
provision of this Ordinance, the Grantee shall not be liable for delay in performance of, or failure to perform,
in whole or in part, its obligations pursuant to this Ordinance due to strike, war or act of war (whether or
not an actual declaration of war is made), insurrection, riot, act of public enemy, accident, fire, flood or
other act of God, technical failure, terrorism, sabotage or other events where the Grantee has exercised all
due care in the prevention thereof and to the extent that such other causes or other events are beyond the
control of the Grantee. If such delay in performance or failure to perform affects only part of the Grantee’s
capacity to perform, the Grantee shall perform to the maximum extent it is able to do so and shall take all
steps within its power to correct such cause(s), and to fully perform in accordance with the terms of this
Ordinance when such causes have been corrected. The Grantee agrees that in correcting such cause(s)
contemplated by this Section 23, it shall take all reasonable steps to do so in as expeditious a manner as
possible.

Section 24. Organization, Standing, Power, Authorization and Enforceability. The Grantee is
and shall remain duly authorized to do business in the Town. The Grantee represents that it has all
requisite power and authority to execute,  deliver and perform in accordance with the terms of this
Ordinance and all other agreements entered into or delivered in connection with or as contemplated
hereby. The officer, employee, or other agent executing this Ordinance on behalf of the Grantee
represents that he or she has the authority to bind the same hereto.

Section 25. Binding Effect. This Ordinance shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the
Town and the Grantee and their respective successors and permitted transferees and assigns.

Section 26. Reserved.

Section 27. Interpretation. The headings contained in this Ordinance are to facilitate reference
only, do not form a part of this Ordinance, and shall not in any way affect the construction or interpretation
hereof.  Terms such as “hereby”, “herein”, “hereof”, “hereinafter”, “hereunder”, and “hereto” refer to this
Ordinance as a whole and not to the particular sentence or paragraph where they appear, unless the context
otherwise requires. The term “may” is permissive; the terms “shall” and “will” are mandatory, not merely
directive. All references to any gender shall be deemed to include all others, as the context may require.
Terms used in the plural include the singular, and vice versa, unless the context otherwise requires. Nothing
in this Franchise is intended to interfere with any tariffs, contracts or other arrangements between the
Grantee and a third party or between the Town and a third party, or to create any third-party beneficiary
rights.

Section 28. Entire Ordinance. This Ordinance, including all exhibits attached hereto, embodies
the entire understanding and agreement of the Town and the Grantee with respect to the subject matter
hereof and supersedes all prior representations, agreements and understandings, whether oral or written,
between the Town and the Grantee with respect to the subject matter hereof, including, without limitation,
all prior drafts of this Ordinance and any and all written or oral statements or representations by any
official, employee, agent, attorney, consultant or independent contractor of the Town or the Grantee.



9

This ordinance is effective upon passage.

Regular Meeting
Ord. No. O-2020-___

MOTION:

SECOND:

RE:

ACTION:

Votes:

Ayes:
Nays:
Absent from Vote:
Absent from Meeting:

CERTIFIED COPY
_______________, Town Clerk



10

EXHIBIT A

Site License



New Cingular Wireless PCS, LLC 7-24-19

SITE LICENSE

SITE: ____________________
____________________
____________________

THIS SITE LICENSE (this “License”), made and entered into this ___ day of
___________, , by and between TOWN OF OCCOQUAN, a Municipal
Corporation of the Commonwealth of Virginia, with an address of 314 Mill Street, Occoquan,
Virginia  22125, herein referred to as “Town” and New Cingular Wireless PCS, LLC, a Delaware
limited liability company, with an address of 1025 Lenox Park Boulevard NE, Third Floor,
Atlanta, GA 30319, herein referred to as “Licensee,” (individually referred to as a “Party”, and
jointly referred to as the “Parties”) recites and provides as follows:

RECITALS

1. On __________________ , the Town has granted Licensee a franchise for the use
of Town-owned streets, avenues, parks, bridges, and other public places (“the Franchise”), under
the terms of which the Licensee may apply for site licenses for specific sites on which to locate
telecommunication equipment as more particularly described below in this License. Permission to
use a specific site is granted under this License.

2. Town is the owner of an area of public right-of-way in Occoquan, Virginia as
described in Exhibit 1 attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference (the “Site”). The
Town retains the right to use the Site except as provided in the Franchise and this License.

3. Licensee is a limited liability company duly organized and validly existing under
the laws of Delaware and in good standing under the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia, and
is duly authorized to do business in the Town of Occoquan, Virginia; and has all requisite power
and authority to accept, execute, deliver and perform this License and all agreements entered into
or delivered in connection with or as contemplated hereby.

4. Licensee intends to co-locate on an existing pole or replace an existing pole as
shown in Exhibit 1 (the “Pole”) on the Site in conformity with the requirements of this License
and all applicable laws, and to connect to the locally available electrical grid to serve the facilities
on the Pole. Licensee intends to use space on the Pole to operate its telecommunications that it
owns or is owned by other wireless communications providers in compliance with the terms of
this License. Licensee does not intend to sublet or assign this License except as provided in the
Franchise or this License.

5. The Parties now desire to set forth the terms pursuant to which Town shall license
use of the Site to Licensee for the purposes just described.



NOW, THEREFORE, in reliance upon the Recitals set forth above, and for and in
consideration of the mutual agreements set forth below, and other good and valuable consideration,
the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows.

1. LICENSE OF SITE:

a. Subject to and in accordance with the provisions of this License, Town hereby
licenses to Licensee the Site, shown in Exhibit 1, Sheet Number SP-1 attached hereto, for the
purposes of replacing the Pole and/or the installation, maintenance, replacement and removal of
various attachments to the Pole, consisting of power cables, conduit, power distribution panel,
radio head, GPS antennas, UE relay, omnidirectional antenna, and other associated equipment
(“Licensee Facilities”), all as shown on Sheet Number EV-1 of Exhibit 1.

b. The Site shall be licensed to Licensee on a non-exclusive basis.  Town and its
invitees, permittees, franchisees, agents and contractors expressly reserve the right to have, and
shall have, free and full use of the Site, provided that the exercise of such right will not adversely
interfere with Licensee’s use of the Site. Licensee shall erect no signs on the Site except as shown
on Exhibit 1. This License grants Licensee no right to use structures, facilities or equipment
belonging to Town except as expressly stated herein.

c. Town and Licensee acknowledge that the exact location of the Site is, as of the date
of the execution of this License, the Parties’ current intent with respect thereto, but the final
location of the Site may be subject to modification (by written agreement of the Town Manager or
designee and an authorized agent of Licensee) based upon Site conditions. Licensee and Town
therefore each covenant and agree, subject to each Party’s approval as required in the immediately
preceding sentence, to execute an As-Built Location Addendum hereto at such time as the final
location of the Site is determined in the event that such location differs from that as set forth on
Exhibit 1. Licensee has inspected the Site and accepts the same “AS IS” and in its present
condition without any representation or warranty of Town except any that may be expressly
set forth in this License.

d. Licensee acknowledges and agrees that it is solely responsible for performing all
necessary due diligence regarding the Site, including confirming by way of a title report and
examination that Town holds legal title to the Site and that no matters affecting title to the Site
prohibit, impair or require third party consent to the licensing of the Site to Licensee, the
construction of the improvements contemplated hereunder or any other matter relating or
pertaining to this License (the “Due Diligence Matters”).  In no event shall Town have any
responsibility for or liability with respect to the Due Diligence Matters.  Licensee agrees to strictly
comply, at its sole cost and expense, with all recorded documents, instruments and agreements
affecting title to the Site.

e. Prior to and as a condition of the approval of this License, Licensee shall pay Town
a permit application fee of $250.



2. MUTUAL ACCESS:

a. Licensee SHALL HAVE nonexclusive access through adjoining and adjacent
portions of the Site, as shown on Exhibit 1 for Grantee’s Work (as defined in Section 8 of the
Franchise).

b. Following reasonable prior notice to Licensee, the Town shall have access to the
Licensee Facilities for any governmental purpose, including safety inspections, in accordance with
the terms and conditions of this License and the Franchise.

3. USE OF SITE:

Licensee shall use the Site solely for installation, upgrade, repair, maintenance, removal,
and operation of the Licensee Facilities on the Pole. Town makes no representation or warranty
whether such use is permitted by any laws or regulations applicable to the Site, and Licensee is
solely responsible for determining whether such use is permitted, and for securing all necessary
licenses, permits and approvals therefor.

4. TERM:

a. This License shall terminate upon expiration or termination of the Franchise, and
commences on the date of the final execution and delivery of this License, unless sooner terminated
or extended under the provisions of this License. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Licensee
Facilities are not installed within twelve (12) months after the date Licensee obtains all required
governmental approvals and permits, this License may be terminated by Town after giving thirty
(30) days written notice to Licensee, unless Licensee installs the Licensee Facilities on the Pole
during the thirty-day notice period. In addition, Licensee or Town may terminate this License with
sixty (60) days prior notice if (i) Licensee is unable to obtain or maintain in force all necessary
governmental approvals or (ii) interference by or to Licensee’s operation cannot, despite good faith
efforts by Licensee and Town, be resolved.  In addition, Licensee may terminate this License with
sixty (60) days prior notice to Town if (i) a material change in government regulations makes it
impractical, unlawful, impossible or uneconomic for Licensee to continue to operate the Licensee
Facilities under this License, (ii) the Pole to which Licensee Facilities are attached or Licensee
Facilities are destroyed or damaged or taken in whole or in part (by condemnation or otherwise)
to such an extent, in Licensee’s reasonable judgment, as to adversely affect Licensee’s use of
Licensee Facilities or (iii) if, after the execution of this License, Licensee is unable to operate the
Licensee Facilities due to the action of the Federal Communications Commission (the “FCC”) or
by reason of any law, physical calamity, governmental prohibition or other reasons beyond
Licensee’s control, subject to Licensee’s restoration obligations under Section 4b of this License.
Licensee may terminate this License for convenience at any time by providing notice to Town.

b. At the end of the term of this License, whether by the passage of time or the exercise
by any party of any right of termination, Licensee shall surrender the Site to Town in the condition
specified in this Section 4b. Unless otherwise agreed to in writing by the Parties, within ninety
(90) days after the end of the term of this License, Licensee shall remove the Licensee Facilities
from the Site and restore any disturbance it has made to the Site through installation or removal of
Licensee Facilities. If Licensee fails to do so, the Licensee Facilities shall be deemed abandoned



and Town may, but is not required to, remove the Licensee Facilities and dispose of them in any
fashion it deems fit.  Licensee shall reimburse Town for the cost of disposal and removal of the
Licensee Facilities.

c. The Licensee Facilities shall during the term of this License be deemed the personal
property of Licensee.

5. UTILITIES, TAXES, MAINTENANCE:

a. Licensee shall be solely responsible for all costs and expenses relating to the
connection, disconnection, consumption and use of any utilities and/or services in connection with
Licensee Facilities including, without limitation, any electric consumption by its equipment, and
Licensee agrees to pay all costs for service and installation of an electric meter directly to the local
utility company.

b. Licensee shall be responsible for the declaration and payment of any applicable
taxes or assessments against the Licensee Facilities or other equipment owned or used by Licensee
or allocable (on a pro rata basis) to the Site, including but not limited to any sales and property
taxes.  During the term, Licensee shall be responsible for the timely payment of all taxes levied
upon the improvements on the Site.

c. Licensee shall at all times during the term of this License, at its own expense,
maintain the Licensee Facilities in proper operating condition and maintain same in reasonably
good condition, and will repair any damage except that caused by Town, its agents or servants,
provided that Licensee shall have no duty to repair if Licensee terminates the License due to
damage pursuant to Section 4a(ii) above. Licensee agrees that it will inspect the Site no less
frequently than once every year.  Licensee shall not damage the Site.

d. Licensee shall maintain the Licensee Facilities at all times in compliance with
Town’s rules and regulations and all governmental rules, regulations and statutes including,
without limitation, requirements of the FCC, the Federal Aviation Administration (the “FAA”),
and other federal, state or local government authorities having jurisdiction over the Pole.

e. Licensee shall be solely responsible, at its sole cost and expense, for keeping the
Licensee Facilities at all times in reasonably good order, condition and repair, and in compliance
with all applicable laws, ordinances and rules. Licensee shall cause the Licensee Facilities to be
regularly inspected and preventative maintenance to be performed in accordance with the
standards of the industry, but in no event less frequently than once every three (3) years.  In no
event shall Town be required to maintain or repair the Licensee Facilities, or pay or reimburse
Licensee for any costs associated therewith unless such repairs are required due to the negligent
acts or willful misconduct of Town.

6. CONSTRUCTION BY LICENSEE:

a. Licensee shall use good faith and commercially reasonable efforts to obtain all
necessary permits and approvals, including, without limitation, those required by the FAA and the



FCC, for construction and operation of the Licensee Facilities. After obtaining the necessary
permits and approvals therefor, Licensee, at its sole cost and expense, shall perform or cause to be
performed all of the following work:

i. Subject to Town’s approval as provided in Section 6d of this License,
performing or causing to be performed all other improvements and work associated with the work
described above that may lawfully be required by the Town of Occoquan or any other
governmental body or official having jurisdiction, as part of or in connection with the work
described above.

b. Licensee’s agreement to perform or cause to be performed at its expense all of the
work described in this License, all at Licensee’s cost and expense, shall be construed broadly to
provide for all costs and liabilities of such work, whether or not such costs are anticipated and
without regard to Licensee’s present estimates for the cost of same, so that all of such work is fully
and properly performed and paid for by Licensee, and upon completion of same the Site, as altered
by such work, is as fully functional and suitable for continued use by Town as it was prior to the
start of Licensee’s work.  Accordingly, the term “Work” shall include, without limitation, all of
the following work, and Licensee’s promise to pay for such Work shall include, without limitation,
all of the costs and liabilities associated with the following: Grantee’s Work (as defined in Section
8 of the Franchise), all labor and materials; design work; legal and professional fees of Licensee’s
consultants; permit drawings and materials; construction costs; construction equipment and
materials; utilities extension or relocation; provision of protective fencing and other safety
measures; maintenance; removal of construction related debris from the Site; liability, property
and workers’ compensation insurance premiums; bond fees; development and construction
permits; inspections and approvals; replacement or relocation of landscaping; re-paving or re-
striping of any damaged or disturbed paved areas whether for traffic control, parking or otherwise;
relocation, replacement or provision of new safety and traffic/directional signage; connection of
new sidewalks, drives, parking areas and other facilities to Town’s existing facilities; and the repair
and restoration of any item, place or thing required as a result of any damage to the Site caused in
the prosecution of the Work contemplated by this License.

c. Licensee shall cause construction of the Licensee Facilities to be commenced as
soon as practicable after receipt of all necessary permits and approvals and to be completed within
a reasonable time thereafter, not to exceed twelve (12) months from the date Licensee obtains all
required governmental approvals, certificates and permits, excepting periods of delay caused by
force majeure.  Once its work on the Licensee Facilities is initiated, Licensee shall diligently and
continuously prosecute such work to final completion (including obtaining all required inspections
and approvals) in a timely manner in accordance with a schedule to be agreed upon in advance by
Town and Licensee (the “Initial Construction Schedule”).  Such schedule shall limit construction
activities to such days and times as Town may require to avoid any material and adverse impacts
on the use and operation of the Site. Licensee shall keep Town fully apprised of any events that
might impact the Initial Construction Schedule.

d. The Licensee Facilities, and each component thereof constructed by Licensee, shall
be constructed by Licensee in a good and workmanlike manner and in accordance with the plans,
drawings and specifications prepared and provided by Licensee for Town’s prior review and
written approval, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.



Construction and installation of the Licensee Facilities by Licensee shall be in compliance with all
applicable rules and regulations including, without limitation, the customary specifications and
requirements of Town and those of the Occupational Safety and Health Administration (“OSHA”),
the FCC, the FAA, and regulations of any governmental agency (town, county, state or federal)
including, but not limited to the applicable requirements of the local planning and zoning and
building, electrical, communications and safety codes of the Town. Licensee shall use
commercially reasonable efforts to cause all work and facilities to be installed free, and remain
free, of mechanics’, materialmen’s and other liens, and claims of any person or entity. Licensee
agrees to defend, with counsel approved by Town, and to indemnify and save Town harmless,
from all loss, cost, damage or expense including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees, to
the extent caused by the Work contemplated by this License, and shall bond off or discharge any
such liens or other claims within thirty (30) days after written notice from Town.

e. Prior to commencing any activities on the Site pursuant to this License, Licensee
shall provide Town with evidence reasonably satisfactory to Town that Licensee and/or its
contractors and agents who will be working on the Site are covered by insurance as required by
the Franchise.

f. Licensee shall restore all of Town’s facilities physically altered by Grantee’s Work
to the reasonable satisfaction of the Town.

7. PERMITS AND SITE SPECIFICATIONS:

It is understood and agreed by the Parties that Licensee’s ability to use the Site is contingent
upon its obtaining after execution of this License, all of the certificates, permits and other approvals
that may be required by federal, state or local authorities for Licensee’s use of the Site as set forth
in this License. Licensee shall use all reasonable efforts promptly to obtain such certificates,
permits and approvals, at Licensee’s sole expense. Town will cooperate reasonably with Licensee
at Licensee’s sole cost and expense, in its effort to obtain such approvals, provided that Town shall
be reimbursed for all reasonable expenses incurred in providing such cooperation within thirty (30)
days of the Town’s issuing an invoice to Licensee demanding payment for such expenses, and
provided further that obtaining Licensee’s permits, certificates and approvals shall not result in the
imposition of any material restrictions or limitations or adverse impacts on the Site or Town’s use,
operation improvement or redevelopment thereof.  In the event any such applications should be
finally rejected or any certificate, permit, license or approval issued to Licensee is canceled,
expires or lapses, or is otherwise withdrawn or terminated by governmental authority, or soil
boring tests are found to be unsatisfactory so that Licensee will be unable to use the Site for the
purposes set forth herein, both Licensee and Town shall have the right to terminate this License
by giving the other party thirty (30) days’ prior notification of termination within sixty (60) days
after receiving notice of the event which is the basis of termination.  Upon such termination, the
Parties shall have no further obligations for charges and liabilities which accrue after the effective
date of termination, including the payment of monies, to each other except as otherwise provided
herein, but Licensee shall be liable to restore the Site in accordance with Section 4b.



8. INTERFERENCE:

Licensee agrees to install equipment of a type and frequency which will not cause
frequency interference with other forms of legally authorized radio frequency communications
existing on Town’s property or in the vicinity as of the date of this License or as may be in
existence in the future (so long as reasonably prevalent).  All such equipment shall fully comply
with all FCC, FAA, OSHA and other governmental (whether federal, state, or county) rules and
regulations.  In the event Licensee’s equipment causes such interference, Licensee agrees it will
take all steps necessary, or shall cause all such steps to be made, to correct and eliminate the
interference consistent with all government rules and regulations upon receipt of written
notification of the interference, provided that the notifying party is operating on spectrum that it is
legally authorized to use for such purpose. Licensee shall be obligated to correct the problem of
interference within forty-eight (48) hours of receipt of written notice from Town.  If the
interference is not corrected within such forty-eight (48) hour period, Licensee shall power down
or turn such equipment off (other than for short tests to determine the nature of the interference,
provided that Town reasonably approves of such tests in advance).  Thereafter, Licensee may
attempt to correct such interference, which may include reactivating the equipment or restoring
power thereto for short periods of testing, provided that Town reasonably approves of such
reactivation or restoration in advance, for a period of one hundred and twenty (120) days.  If such
interference cannot be cured within such one hundred and twenty (120) day period, Licensee shall
immediately remove the interfering equipment from the Pole.  Notwithstanding the forgoing, and
to the extent any Town approved test requires the facilitation or cooperation of Town, Town
agrees, subject to the other provisions of this License, to act reasonably with such facilitation or
cooperation.

9. EVENT OF DEFAULT:

a. Any of the following shall be an event of default by Licensee under this License:

i. If Licensee or its assigns shall fail or neglect to keep and perform any one
of the terms of this License and such failure or neglect continues for more than thirty (30) days (or
such longer period as may be reasonable, provided Licensee is attempting a cure with all due
diligence, not to exceed one hundred twenty (120) days plus any period of where cure is prevented
by force majeure) after Town gives written notice specifying the default; or

ii. If Licensee abandons the Site for a period of more than twelve (12)
consecutive months.

b. In the case of any event of default, Town shall have the right to terminate this
License upon thirty (30) days’ notice and shall have any additional rights and remedies that may
be available at law or in equity.

c. The following shall be an event of default by Town under this License:  If Town or
its assigns shall fail or neglect to keep and perform any one of the terms of this License and such
failure or neglect continues for more than thirty (30) days (or such longer period as may be
reasonable, provided Town is attempting a cure with all due diligence, not to exceed one hundred



twenty (120) days plus any period of where cure is prevented by force majeure) after Licensee
gives written notice specifying the default.  In the case of any event of default by Town, Licensee
shall have the right to terminate this License upon thirty (30) days’ notice and shall have any
additional rights and remedies that may be available at law or in equity.

10. HAZARDOUS MATERIALS:

a. Licensee shall not cause or permit any hazardous or toxic wastes, substances or
materials (collectively, “Hazardous Materials”) to be used, generated, stored or disposed of on,
under or about, or transported to or from, the Site (collectively “Hazardous Materials
Activities”), except in compliance (which shall be at Licensee’s sole cost and expense) with all
applicable legal requirements and using all necessary and appropriate precautions. Licensee shall
indemnify, defend with counsel acceptable to Town and hold Town harmless from and against any
claims, damages, costs and liabilities, including court costs and legal fees, arising out of Licensee’s
Hazardous Materials Activities on, under or about the Site, regardless of whether or not Town has
approved Licensee’s Hazardous Materials Activities.  For the purposes of this License, Hazardous
Materials shall include but not be limited to oil, radioactive materials, PCBs, and substances
defined as “hazardous substances” or “toxic substances” in the Comprehensive Environmental
Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, as amended, 42 U.S.C. Sec. 9601 et seq.;
Hazardous Materials Transportation Act, 49 U.S.C. Sec. 5101 et seq.; and Resources Conservation
and Recovery Act, 42 U.S.C. Sec. 6901 et seq., and those substances defined as “hazardous
wastes” in the regulations adopted and publications promulgated pursuant to said laws.  If
Licensee’s activities violate or create a risk of violation of any legal requirements, Licensee shall
cease such activities immediately upon receiving notice from Town.  Town, Town’s
representatives and employees may enter the Site at any time during the term to inspect Licensee’s
compliance herewith, and may disclose any violation of legal requirements to any governmental
agency with jurisdiction. The provisions of this Section 10 shall survive termination or expiration
of the term of this License for a period of three years.

b. Town acknowledges that Licensee’s equipment cabinets shall contain batteries for
back-up power and that, provided Licensee’s use of same is in compliance with this provision, the
presence of such batteries does not violate this provision if such batteries comply with all laws,
regulations and ordinances relating to Hazardous Materials.

c. Licensee will immediately notify Town and provide copies upon receipt of all
written complaints, claims, citations, demands, inquiries, reports, or notices relating to the
condition of the Site or compliance with environmental laws. Licensee shall promptly cure and
have dismissed with prejudice any of those actions and proceedings to the satisfaction of Town.
Licensee will keep the Site free of any lien imposed pursuant to any environmental laws.

d. Town shall have the right at all reasonable times and from time to time to conduct
environmental audits of the Site, and Licensee shall cooperate in the conduct of those audits.  The
audits may be conducted by Town or a consultant of Town’s choosing, and if any Hazardous
Materials generated, stored, transported or released by Licensee in violation of applicable laws are
detected or if a violation of any of the representations or covenants in this Section 10 is discovered,
the fees and expenses of such consultant will be borne by Licensee.



e. If Licensee fails to comply with any of the foregoing representations and covenants,
Town may cause the removal (or other cleanup acceptable to Town) of any Hazardous Materials
from the Site.  The actual and reasonable costs of removing Hazardous Materials and any other
cleanup (including transportation, disposal, and storage costs) shall be reimbursed by Licensee
promptly after Town’s demand. Licensee will give Town access to the Site to remove or otherwise
clean up any Hazardous Materials. Town, however, has no affirmative obligation to remove or
otherwise clean-up any Hazardous Materials, and this License will not be construed as creating
any such obligation.

f. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Town represents and warrants that to the best of its
knowledge and belief there are no Hazardous Materials on, in or under the Site. Town covenants
not to bring onto the Site any Hazardous Materials.

11. NO PARTNERSHIP:

Nothing contained in this License shall be deemed or construed to create a partnership or
joint venture of or between Town and Licensee, or to create any other relationship between the
Parties hereto other than that of Town and Licensee.

12. NOTICES:

All notices, payments, demands and requests hereunder shall be in writing and shall be
deemed to have been properly given three (3) days after the date when mailed by the United States
Postal Service by First Class, Registered or Certified Mail, postage prepaid, or upon receipt when
delivered by nationally recognized overnight courier, and addressed to the Town as follows:

TOWN: Town of Occoquan
Attn: Town Manager
Town Hall
314 Mill Street
P. O. Box 195
Occoquan, Virginia  22125

with a copy, which will not constitute
notice to:

Vanderpool, Frostick & Nishanian
9200 Church Street, Ste 400
Manassas, VA 20110
Attn: Martin Crim, Town Attorney

and to Licensee as follows:

New Cingular Wireless PCS, LLC
Attn: Network Real Estate Administration
Re: Cell Site #: ________,
Cell Site Name: _____________
Fixed Asset No: _______
1025 Lenox Park Blvd NE, 3rd Floor
Atlanta, GA 30319

with a copy, which will not constitute
notice to:

New Cingular Wireless PCS, LLC
Attn: AT&T Legal Department – Network
Re: Cell Site #: ________,
Cell Site Name: _______________,
Fixed Asset No: __________
208 S. Akard Street
Dallas, TX 75202-4206

or to such other addresses as either of the parties may designate from time to time by giving
written notice as herein required.



13. DAMAGE AND DESTRUCTION:

If the Licensee Facilities cause damage to portions of the Site or other property of Town,
Licensee will immediately notify Town after becoming aware of such damage. If Licensee
Facilities fall across travel lanes or sidewalks, Licensee shall immediately clear such travel lanes
or sidewalks of the Licensee Facilities at Licensee’s expense. If Licensee fails to immediately clear
travel lanes or sidewalks as set forth in this Section 13, Town may take such action as necessary
to mitigate or remove hazards to the public, without notice to Licensee and without liability to
Licensee for any incidental damage to Licensee’s property, and bill the Licensee for Town’s
expenses in doing so. Licensee shall reimburse the Town within twenty (20) business days of
receipt of an invoice showing Town’s expenses as provided in this Section 13.

14. CONDEMNATION:

If all or any part of the Site is taken by eminent domain or sale in lieu thereof, and if said
taking or sale renders the Site unusable for its intended purpose hereunder, then, at Town’s or
Licensee’s option, this License may be terminated upon sixty (60) days prior written notice to the
other party and there will be no further payment of access or additional fees except those which
may have been due and payable at the time of said taking or sale.  In connection with any taking
subject to this Section, Licensee may prosecute its own claim, by separate proceedings against the
condemning authority for damages legally due to it (such as the loss of fixtures which Licensee
was entitled to remove and moving expenses) only so long as Licensee’s award does not diminish
or otherwise adversely affect Town’s award.

15. SALE OF SITE:

Any sale by Town of all or part of the Site to a purchaser other than Licensee shall be under
and subject to this License and Licensee’s right hereunder. Town shall be released from its
obligations under this License in the event of a sale and the assignee assumes Town’s obligations
hereunder (including the recognition of Licensee’s rights hereunder).

16. INTERPRETATION:

The Franchise and this License plus the Exhibits hereto contain the entire agreement
between the Parties relating to the use of the Site and may not be amended, altered or otherwise
changed except as expressly provided for herein, or by a subsequent writing signed by the Parties
to this License.  The invalidation of any one of the terms or provisions of this License or of the
Franchise by judgment or court order shall in no way affect any of the other terms of this License
which shall remain in full force and effect.  Time is of the essence with respect to each provision
of this License. The headings contained in this License are to facilitate reference only, do not form
a part of this License, and shall not in any way affect the construction or interpretation of this
License. Terms such as “hereby,” “herein,” “hereof,” “hereinafter,” “hereunder,” and “hereto”
refer to this License as a whole and not to the particular sentence or paragraph where they appear,



unless the context otherwise requires. The term “may” is permissive; the terms “shall” and “will”
are mandatory, not merely directive. All references to any gender shall be deemed to include all
others, as the context may require. Terms used in the plural include the singular, and vice versa,
unless the context otherwise requires. Nothing in this License is intended to interfere with any
tariffs, contracts or other arrangements between the Licensee and a third party or between the
Town and a third party, or to create any third-party beneficiary rights.  To the extent either party
is required hereunder to obtain the consent or approval of the other under this License, such
consent or approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.

17. BINDING EFFECT:

This License shall bind and inure to the benefit of the Parties hereto and their respective
successors and permitted assigns.

18. HOLDING OVER:

If Licensee remains in possession of the Site after the end of this License, Licensee will
occupy the Site as a licensee from month to month, subject to all conditions, provisions, and
obligations of this License in effect on the last day of the term. Such holding over shall not be
deemed a renewal or extension of the License.

19. NO WAIVER:

No waiver of any condition or agreement in this License by either Town or Licensee will
imply or constitute a further waiver by such Party of the same or any other condition or agreement.
No act or thing done by Town during the term of this License will be deemed an acceptance of
surrender of the Site, and no agreement to accept the surrender will be valid unless in writing
signed by Town.  No payment by Licensee, or receipt from Town, of a lesser amount than the
charges stipulated in this License will be deemed to be anything other than a payment on account
of the earliest stipulated charges.  No endorsement or statement on any check or any letter
accompanying any check or payment will be deemed an accord and satisfaction. Town will accept
the check for payment without prejudice to Town’s right to recover the balance of the charges or
to pursue any other remedy available to Town.

20. AUTHORITY:

Each of the persons executing this License on behalf of Licensee warrants to Town that
Licensee is, and will remain, a duly organized and existing limited liability company under
Delaware law, that Licensee is authorized to do business in the Commonwealth of Virginia, that
Licensee has full right and authority to enter into this License, and that each and every person
signing on behalf of Licensee is authorized to do so.  Upon Town’s request, Licensee will provide
evidence satisfactory to Town confirming these representations.



Town and the person executing and delivering this License on Town’s behalf each
represents and warrants to Licensee that such person is duly authorized to so act and has the power
and authority to enter into this License; and that all action required to authorize Town and such
person to enter into this License has been duly taken.

21. LIMITED LIABILITY:

In no event shall either Party be liable to the other for consequential or punitive damages,
economic losses or losses derived from future expected revenues.  The provisions of this Section
21 are not intended to limit Licensee’s right to seek injunctive relief or specific performance.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto executed this License in two parts on the
dates indicated.

TOWN:

TOWN OF OCCOQUAN

By:
Name: Earnest W. Porta, Jr.
Its: Mayor
Date:

LICENSEE:

New Cingular Wireless PCS, LLC, a Delaware
limited liability company

By:
Name:
Its:
Date:



EXHIBIT 1
Description of Site



New Cingular Wireless PCS, LLC 7-24-19

SITE LICENSE

SITE: Cell Site #: 248453
Cell Site Name: CRAN_RWSH_PWILL_008B
Fixed Asset #: 14858725

THIS SITE LICENSE (this “License”), made and entered into this ___ day of
___________, , by and between TOWN OF OCCOQUAN, a Municipal
Corporation of the Commonwealth of Virginia, with an address of 314 Mill Street, Occoquan,
Virginia  22125, herein referred to as “Town” and New Cingular Wireless PCS, LLC, a Delaware
limited liability company, with an address of 1025 Lenox Park Boulevard NE, Third Floor,
Atlanta, GA 30319, herein referred to as “Licensee,” (individually referred to as a “Party”, and
jointly referred to as the “Parties”) recites and provides as follows:

RECITALS

1. On __________________ , the Town has granted Licensee a franchise for the use
of Town-owned streets, avenues, parks, bridges, and other public places (“the Franchise”), under
the terms of which the Licensee may apply for site licenses for specific sites on which to locate
telecommunication equipment as more particularly described below in this License. Permission to
use a specific site is granted under this License.

2. Town is the owner of an area of public right-of-way in Occoquan, Virginia as
described in Exhibit 1 attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference (the “Site”). The
Town retains the right to use the Site except as provided in the Franchise and this License.

3. Licensee is a limited liability company duly organized and validly existing under
the laws of Delaware and in good standing under the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia, and
is duly authorized to do business in the Town of Occoquan, Virginia; and has all requisite power
and authority to accept, execute, deliver and perform this License and all agreements entered into
or delivered in connection with or as contemplated hereby.

4. Licensee intends to co-locate on an existing pole or replace an existing pole as
shown in Exhibit 1 (the “Pole”) on the Site in conformity with the requirements of this License
and all applicable laws, and to connect to the locally available electrical grid to serve the facilities
on the Pole. Licensee intends to use space on the Pole to operate its telecommunications that it
owns or is owned by other wireless communications providers in compliance with the terms of
this License. Licensee does not intend to sublet or assign this License except as provided in the
Franchise or this License.

5. The Parties now desire to set forth the terms pursuant to which Town shall license
use of the Site to Licensee for the purposes just described.



NOW, THEREFORE, in reliance upon the Recitals set forth above, and for and in
consideration of the mutual agreements set forth below, and other good and valuable consideration,
the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows.

1. LICENSE OF SITE:

a. Subject to and in accordance with the provisions of this License, Town hereby
licenses to Licensee the Site, shown in Exhibit 1, Sheet Number SP-1 attached hereto, for the
purposes of replacing the Pole and/or the installation, maintenance, replacement and removal of
various attachments to the Pole, consisting of power cables, conduit, power distribution panel,
radio head, GPS antennas, UE relay, omnidirectional antenna, and other associated equipment
(“Licensee Facilities”), all as shown on Sheet Number EV-1 of Exhibit 1.

b. The Site shall be licensed to Licensee on a non-exclusive basis.  Town and its
invitees, permittees, franchisees, agents and contractors expressly reserve the right to have, and
shall have, free and full use of the Site, provided that the exercise of such right will not adversely
interfere with Licensee’s use of the Site. Licensee shall erect no signs on the Site except as shown
on Exhibit 1. This License grants Licensee no right to use structures, facilities or equipment
belonging to Town except as expressly stated herein.

c. Town and Licensee acknowledge that the exact location of the Site is, as of the date
of the execution of this License, the Parties’ current intent with respect thereto, but the final
location of the Site may be subject to modification (by written agreement of the Town Manager or
designee and an authorized agent of Licensee) based upon Site conditions. Licensee and Town
therefore each covenant and agree, subject to each Party’s approval as required in the immediately
preceding sentence, to execute an As-Built Location Addendum hereto at such time as the final
location of the Site is determined in the event that such location differs from that as set forth on
Exhibit 1. Licensee has inspected the Site and accepts the same “AS IS” and in its present
condition without any representation or warranty of Town except any that may be expressly
set forth in this License.

d. Licensee acknowledges and agrees that it is solely responsible for performing all
necessary due diligence regarding the Site, including confirming by way of a title report and
examination that Town holds legal title to the Site and that no matters affecting title to the Site
prohibit, impair or require third party consent to the licensing of the Site to Licensee, the
construction of the improvements contemplated hereunder or any other matter relating or
pertaining to this License (the “Due Diligence Matters”).  In no event shall Town have any
responsibility for or liability with respect to the Due Diligence Matters.  Licensee agrees to strictly
comply, at its sole cost and expense, with all recorded documents, instruments and agreements
affecting title to the Site.

e. Prior to and as a condition of the approval of this License, Licensee shall pay Town
a permit application fee of $250.



2. MUTUAL ACCESS:

a. Licensee SHALL HAVE nonexclusive access through adjoining and adjacent
portions of the Site, as shown on Exhibit 1 for Grantee’s Work (as defined in Section 8 of the
Franchise).

b. Following reasonable prior notice to Licensee, the Town shall have access to the
Licensee Facilities for any governmental purpose, including safety inspections, in accordance with
the terms and conditions of this License and the Franchise.

3. USE OF SITE:

Licensee shall use the Site solely for installation, upgrade, repair, maintenance, removal,
and operation of the Licensee Facilities on the Pole. Town makes no representation or warranty
whether such use is permitted by any laws or regulations applicable to the Site, and Licensee is
solely responsible for determining whether such use is permitted, and for securing all necessary
licenses, permits and approvals therefor.

4. TERM:

a. This License shall terminate upon expiration or termination of the Franchise, and
commences on the date of the final execution and delivery of this License, unless sooner terminated
or extended under the provisions of this License. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Licensee
Facilities are not installed within twelve (12) months after the date Licensee obtains all required
governmental approvals and permits, this License may be terminated by Town after giving thirty
(30) days written notice to Licensee, unless Licensee installs the Licensee Facilities on the Pole
during the thirty-day notice period. In addition, Licensee or Town may terminate this License with
sixty (60) days prior notice if (i) Licensee is unable to obtain or maintain in force all necessary
governmental approvals or (ii) interference by or to Licensee’s operation cannot, despite good faith
efforts by Licensee and Town, be resolved.  In addition, Licensee may terminate this License with
sixty (60) days prior notice to Town if (i) a material change in government regulations makes it
impractical, unlawful, impossible or uneconomic for Licensee to continue to operate the Licensee
Facilities under this License, (ii) the Pole to which Licensee Facilities are attached or Licensee
Facilities are destroyed or damaged or taken in whole or in part (by condemnation or otherwise)
to such an extent, in Licensee’s reasonable judgment, as to adversely affect Licensee’s use of
Licensee Facilities or (iii) if, after the execution of this License, Licensee is unable to operate the
Licensee Facilities due to the action of the Federal Communications Commission (the “FCC”) or
by reason of any law, physical calamity, governmental prohibition or other reasons beyond
Licensee’s control, subject to Licensee’s restoration obligations under Section 4b of this License.
Licensee may terminate this License for convenience at any time by providing notice to Town.

b. At the end of the term of this License, whether by the passage of time or the exercise
by any party of any right of termination, Licensee shall surrender the Site to Town in the condition
specified in this Section 4b. Unless otherwise agreed to in writing by the Parties, within ninety
(90) days after the end of the term of this License, Licensee shall remove the Licensee Facilities
from the Site and restore any disturbance it has made to the Site through installation or removal of
Licensee Facilities. If Licensee fails to do so, the Licensee Facilities shall be deemed abandoned



and Town may, but is not required to, remove the Licensee Facilities and dispose of them in any
fashion it deems fit.  Licensee shall reimburse Town for the cost of disposal and removal of the
Licensee Facilities.

c. The Licensee Facilities shall during the term of this License be deemed the personal
property of Licensee.

5. UTILITIES, TAXES, MAINTENANCE:

a. Licensee shall be solely responsible for all costs and expenses relating to the
connection, disconnection, consumption and use of any utilities and/or services in connection with
Licensee Facilities including, without limitation, any electric consumption by its equipment, and
Licensee agrees to pay all costs for service and installation of an electric meter directly to the local
utility company.

b. Licensee shall be responsible for the declaration and payment of any applicable
taxes or assessments against the Licensee Facilities or other equipment owned or used by Licensee
or allocable (on a pro rata basis) to the Site, including but not limited to any sales and property
taxes.  During the term, Licensee shall be responsible for the timely payment of all taxes levied
upon the improvements on the Site.

c. Licensee shall at all times during the term of this License, at its own expense,
maintain the Licensee Facilities in proper operating condition and maintain same in reasonably
good condition, and will repair any damage except that caused by Town, its agents or servants,
provided that Licensee shall have no duty to repair if Licensee terminates the License due to
damage pursuant to Section 4a(ii) above. Licensee agrees that it will inspect the Site no less
frequently than once every year.  Licensee shall not damage the Site.

d. Licensee shall maintain the Licensee Facilities at all times in compliance with
Town’s rules and regulations and all governmental rules, regulations and statutes including,
without limitation, requirements of the FCC, the Federal Aviation Administration (the “FAA”),
and other federal, state or local government authorities having jurisdiction over the Pole.

e. Licensee shall be solely responsible, at its sole cost and expense, for keeping the
Licensee Facilities at all times in reasonably good order, condition and repair, and in compliance
with all applicable laws, ordinances and rules. Licensee shall cause the Licensee Facilities to be
regularly inspected and preventative maintenance to be performed in accordance with the
standards of the industry, but in no event less frequently than once every three (3) years.  In no
event shall Town be required to maintain or repair the Licensee Facilities, or pay or reimburse
Licensee for any costs associated therewith unless such repairs are required due to the negligent
acts or willful misconduct of Town.

6. CONSTRUCTION BY LICENSEE:

a. Licensee shall use good faith and commercially reasonable efforts to obtain all
necessary permits and approvals, including, without limitation, those required by the FAA and the



FCC, for construction and operation of the Licensee Facilities.  After obtaining the necessary
permits and approvals therefor, Licensee, at its sole cost and expense, shall perform or cause to be
performed all of the following work:

i. Subject to Town’s approval as provided in Section 6d of this License,
performing or causing to be performed all other improvements and work associated with the work
described above that may lawfully be required by the Town of Occoquan or any other
governmental body or official having jurisdiction, as part of or in connection with the work
described above.

b. Licensee’s agreement to perform or cause to be performed at its expense all of the
work described in this License, all at Licensee’s cost and expense, shall be construed broadly to
provide for all costs and liabilities of such work, whether or not such costs are anticipated and
without regard to Licensee’s present estimates for the cost of same, so that all of such work is fully
and properly performed and paid for by Licensee, and upon completion of same the Site, as altered
by such work, is as fully functional and suitable for continued use by Town as it was prior to the
start of Licensee’s work.  Accordingly, the term “Work” shall include, without limitation, all of
the following work, and Licensee’s promise to pay for such Work shall include, without limitation,
all of the costs and liabilities associated with the following: Grantee’s Work (as defined in Section
8 of the Franchise), all labor and materials; design work; legal and professional fees of Licensee’s
consultants; permit drawings and materials; construction costs; construction equipment and
materials; utilities extension or relocation; provision of protective fencing and other safety
measures; maintenance; removal of construction related debris from the Site; liability, property
and workers’ compensation insurance premiums; bond fees; development and construction
permits; inspections and approvals; replacement or relocation of landscaping; re-paving or re-
striping of any damaged or disturbed paved areas whether for traffic control, parking or otherwise;
relocation, replacement or provision of new safety and traffic/directional signage; connection of
new sidewalks, drives, parking areas and other facilities to Town’s existing facilities; and the repair
and restoration of any item, place or thing required as a result of any damage to the Site caused in
the prosecution of the Work contemplated by this License.

c. Licensee shall cause construction of the Licensee Facilities to be commenced as
soon as practicable after receipt of all necessary permits and approvals and to be completed within
a reasonable time thereafter, not to exceed twelve (12) months from the date Licensee obtains all
required governmental approvals, certificates and permits, excepting periods of delay caused by
force majeure.  Once its work on the Licensee Facilities is initiated, Licensee shall diligently and
continuously prosecute such work to final completion (including obtaining all required inspections
and approvals) in a timely manner in accordance with a schedule to be agreed upon in advance by
Town and Licensee (the “Initial Construction Schedule”).  Such schedule shall limit construction
activities to such days and times as Town may require to avoid any material and adverse impacts
on the use and operation of the Site. Licensee shall keep Town fully apprised of any events that
might impact the Initial Construction Schedule.

d. The Licensee Facilities, and each component thereof constructed by Licensee, shall
be constructed by Licensee in a good and workmanlike manner and in accordance with the plans,
drawings and specifications prepared and provided by Licensee for Town’s prior review and
written approval, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.



Construction and installation of the Licensee Facilities by Licensee shall be in compliance with all
applicable rules and regulations including, without limitation, the customary specifications and
requirements of Town and those of the Occupational Safety and Health Administration (“OSHA”),
the FCC, the FAA, and regulations of any governmental agency (town, county, state or federal)
including, but not limited to the applicable requirements of the local planning and zoning and
building, electrical, communications and safety codes of the Town. Licensee shall use
commercially reasonable efforts to cause all work and facilities to be installed free, and remain
free, of mechanics’, materialmen’s and other liens, and claims of any person or entity. Licensee
agrees to defend, with counsel approved by Town, and to indemnify and save Town harmless,
from all loss, cost, damage or expense including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees, to
the extent caused by the Work contemplated by this License, and shall bond off or discharge any
such liens or other claims within thirty (30) days after written notice from Town.

e. Prior to commencing any activities on the Site pursuant to this License, Licensee
shall provide Town with evidence reasonably satisfactory to Town that Licensee and/or its
contractors and agents who will be working on the Site are covered by insurance as required by
the Franchise.

f. Licensee shall restore all of Town’s facilities physically altered by Grantee’s Work
to the reasonable satisfaction of the Town.

7. PERMITS AND SITE SPECIFICATIONS:

It is understood and agreed by the Parties that Licensee’s ability to use the Site is contingent
upon its obtaining after execution of this License, all of the certificates, permits and other approvals
that may be required by federal, state or local authorities for Licensee’s use of the Site as set forth
in this License. Licensee shall use all reasonable efforts promptly to obtain such certificates,
permits and approvals, at Licensee’s sole expense. Town will cooperate reasonably with Licensee
at Licensee’s sole cost and expense, in its effort to obtain such approvals, provided that Town shall
be reimbursed for all reasonable expenses incurred in providing such cooperation within thirty (30)
days of the Town’s issuing an invoice to Licensee demanding payment for such expenses, and
provided further that obtaining Licensee’s permits, certificates and approvals shall not result in the
imposition of any material restrictions or limitations or adverse impacts on the Site or Town’s use,
operation improvement or redevelopment thereof.  In the event any such applications should be
finally rejected or any certificate, permit, license or approval issued to Licensee is canceled,
expires or lapses, or is otherwise withdrawn or terminated by governmental authority, or soil
boring tests are found to be unsatisfactory so that Licensee will be unable to use the Site for the
purposes set forth herein, both Licensee and Town shall have the right to terminate this License
by giving the other party thirty (30) days’ prior notification of termination within sixty (60) days
after receiving notice of the event which is the basis of termination.  Upon such termination, the
Parties shall have no further obligations for charges and liabilities which accrue after the effective
date of termination, including the payment of monies, to each other except as otherwise provided
herein, but Licensee shall be liable to restore the Site in accordance with Section 4b.



8. INTERFERENCE:

Licensee agrees to install equipment of a type and frequency which will not cause
frequency interference with other forms of legally authorized radio frequency communications
existing on Town’s property or in the vicinity as of the date of this License or as may be in
existence in the future (so long as reasonably prevalent).  All such equipment shall fully comply
with all FCC, FAA, OSHA and other governmental (whether federal, state, or county) rules and
regulations.  In the event Licensee’s equipment causes such interference, Licensee agrees it will
take all steps necessary, or shall cause all such steps to be made, to correct and eliminate the
interference consistent with all government rules and regulations upon receipt of written
notification of the interference, provided that the notifying party is operating on spectrum that it is
legally authorized to use for such purpose. Licensee shall be obligated to correct the problem of
interference within forty-eight (48) hours of receipt of written notice from Town.  If the
interference is not corrected within such forty-eight (48) hour period, Licensee shall power down
or turn such equipment off (other than for short tests to determine the nature of the interference,
provided that Town reasonably approves of such tests in advance).  Thereafter, Licensee may
attempt to correct such interference, which may include reactivating the equipment or restoring
power thereto for short periods of testing, provided that Town reasonably approves of such
reactivation or restoration in advance, for a period of one hundred and twenty (120) days.  If such
interference cannot be cured within such one hundred and twenty (120) day period, Licensee shall
immediately remove the interfering equipment from the Pole.  Notwithstanding the forgoing, and
to the extent any Town approved test requires the facilitation or cooperation of Town, Town
agrees, subject to the other provisions of this License, to act reasonably with such facilitation or
cooperation.

9. EVENT OF DEFAULT:

a. Any of the following shall be an event of default by Licensee under this License:

i. If Licensee or its assigns shall fail or neglect to keep and perform any one
of the terms of this License and such failure or neglect continues for more than thirty (30) days (or
such longer period as may be reasonable, provided Licensee is attempting a cure with all due
diligence, not to exceed one hundred twenty (120) days plus any period of where cure is prevented
by force majeure) after Town gives written notice specifying the default; or

ii. If Licensee abandons the Site for a period of more than twelve (12)
consecutive months.

b. In the case of any event of default, Town shall have the right to terminate this
License upon thirty (30) days’ notice and shall have any additional rights and remedies that may
be available at law or in equity.

c. The following shall be an event of default by Town under this License:  If Town or
its assigns shall fail or neglect to keep and perform any one of the terms of this License and such
failure or neglect continues for more than thirty (30) days (or such longer period as may be
reasonable, provided Town is attempting a cure with all due diligence, not to exceed one hundred



twenty (120) days plus any period of where cure is prevented by force majeure) after Licensee
gives written notice specifying the default.  In the case of any event of default by Town, Licensee
shall have the right to terminate this License upon thirty (30) days’ notice and shall have any
additional rights and remedies that may be available at law or in equity.

10. HAZARDOUS MATERIALS:

a. Licensee shall not cause or permit any hazardous or toxic wastes, substances or
materials (collectively, “Hazardous Materials”) to be used, generated, stored or disposed of on,
under or about, or transported to or from, the Site (collectively “Hazardous Materials
Activities”), except in compliance (which shall be at Licensee’s sole cost and expense) with all
applicable legal requirements and using all necessary and appropriate precautions. Licensee shall
indemnify, defend with counsel acceptable to Town and hold Town harmless from and against any
claims, damages, costs and liabilities, including court costs and legal fees, arising out of Licensee’s
Hazardous Materials Activities on, under or about the Site, regardless of whether or not Town has
approved Licensee’s Hazardous Materials Activities.  For the purposes of this License, Hazardous
Materials shall include but not be limited to oil, radioactive materials, PCBs, and substances
defined as “hazardous substances” or “toxic substances” in the Comprehensive Environmental
Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, as amended, 42 U.S.C. Sec. 9601 et seq.;
Hazardous Materials Transportation Act, 49 U.S.C. Sec. 5101 et seq.; and Resources Conservation
and Recovery Act, 42 U.S.C. Sec. 6901 et seq., and those substances defined as “hazardous
wastes” in the regulations adopted and publications promulgated pursuant to said laws.  If
Licensee’s activities violate or create a risk of violation of any legal requirements, Licensee shall
cease such activities immediately upon receiving notice from Town.  Town, Town’s
representatives and employees may enter the Site at any time during the term to inspect Licensee’s
compliance herewith, and may disclose any violation of legal requirements to any governmental
agency with jurisdiction.  The provisions of this Section 10 shall survive termination or expiration
of the term of this License for a period of three years.

b. Town acknowledges that Licensee’s equipment cabinets shall contain batteries for
back-up power and that, provided Licensee’s use of same is in compliance with this provision, the
presence of such batteries does not violate this provision if such batteries comply with all laws,
regulations and ordinances relating to Hazardous Materials.

c. Licensee will immediately notify Town and provide copies upon receipt of all
written complaints, claims, citations, demands, inquiries, reports, or notices relating to the
condition of the Site or compliance with environmental laws. Licensee shall promptly cure and
have dismissed with prejudice any of those actions and proceedings to the satisfaction of Town.
Licensee will keep the Site free of any lien imposed pursuant to any environmental laws.

d. Town shall have the right at all reasonable times and from time to time to conduct
environmental audits of the Site, and Licensee shall cooperate in the conduct of those audits.  The
audits may be conducted by Town or a consultant of Town’s choosing, and if any Hazardous
Materials generated, stored, transported or released by Licensee in violation of applicable laws are
detected or if a violation of any of the representations or covenants in this Section 10 is discovered,
the fees and expenses of such consultant will be borne by Licensee.



e. If Licensee fails to comply with any of the foregoing representations and covenants,
Town may cause the removal (or other cleanup acceptable to Town) of any Hazardous Materials
from the Site.  The actual and reasonable costs of removing Hazardous Materials and any other
cleanup (including transportation, disposal, and storage costs) shall be reimbursed by Licensee
promptly after Town’s demand. Licensee will give Town access to the Site to remove or otherwise
clean up any Hazardous Materials. Town, however, has no affirmative obligation to remove or
otherwise clean-up any Hazardous Materials, and this License will not be construed as creating
any such obligation.

f. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Town represents and warrants that to the best of its
knowledge and belief there are no Hazardous Materials on, in or under the Site. Town covenants
not to bring onto the Site any Hazardous Materials.

11. NO PARTNERSHIP:

Nothing contained in this License shall be deemed or construed to create a partnership or
joint venture of or between Town and Licensee, or to create any other relationship between the
Parties hereto other than that of Town and Licensee.

12. NOTICES:

All notices, payments, demands and requests hereunder shall be in writing and shall be
deemed to have been properly given three (3) days after the date when mailed by the United States
Postal Service by First Class, Registered or Certified Mail, postage prepaid, or upon receipt when
delivered by nationally recognized overnight courier, and addressed to the Town as follows:

TOWN: Town of Occoquan
Attn: Town Manager
Town Hall
314 Mill Street
P. O. Box 195
Occoquan, Virginia  22125

with a copy, which will not constitute
notice to:

Vanderpool, Frostick & Nishanian
9200 Church Street, Ste 400
Manassas, VA 20110
Attn: Martin Crim, Town Attorney

and to Licensee as follows:

New Cingular Wireless PCS, LLC
Attn: Network Real Estate Administration
Re: Cell Site #: 248453,
Cell Site Name:
CRAN_RWSH_PWILL_008B
Fixed Asset No: 14858725
1025 Lenox Park Blvd NE, 3rd Floor
Atlanta, GA 30319

with a copy, which will not constitute
notice to:

New Cingular Wireless PCS, LLC
Attn: AT&T Legal Department – Network
Re: Cell Site #: 248453,
Cell Site Name:
CRAN_RWSH_PWILL_008B
Fixed Asset No: 14858725
208 S. Akard Street
Dallas, TX 75202-4206



or to such other addresses as either of the parties may designate from time to time by giving
written notice as herein required.

13. DAMAGE AND DESTRUCTION:

If the Licensee Facilities cause damage to portions of the Site or other property of Town,
Licensee will immediately notify Town after becoming aware of such damage. If Licensee
Facilities fall across travel lanes or sidewalks, Licensee shall immediately clear such travel lanes
or sidewalks of the Licensee Facilities at Licensee’s expense. If Licensee fails to immediately clear
travel lanes or sidewalks as set forth in this Section 13, Town may take such action as necessary
to mitigate or remove hazards to the public, without notice to Licensee and without liability to
Licensee for any incidental damage to Licensee’s property, and bill the Licensee for Town’s
expenses in doing so. Licensee shall reimburse the Town within twenty (20) business days of
receipt of an invoice showing Town’s expenses as provided in this Section 13.

14. CONDEMNATION:

If all or any part of the Site is taken by eminent domain or sale in lieu thereof, and if said
taking or sale renders the Site unusable for its intended purpose hereunder, then, at Town’s or
Licensee’s option, this License may be terminated upon sixty (60) days prior written notice to the
other party and there will be no further payment of access or additional fees except those which
may have been due and payable at the time of said taking or sale.  In connection with any taking
subject to this Section, Licensee may prosecute its own claim, by separate proceedings against the
condemning authority for damages legally due to it (such as the loss of fixtures which Licensee
was entitled to remove and moving expenses) only so long as Licensee’s award does not diminish
or otherwise adversely affect Town’s award.

15. SALE OF SITE:

Any sale by Town of all or part of the Site to a purchaser other than Licensee shall be under
and subject to this License and Licensee’s right hereunder. Town shall be released from its
obligations under this License in the event of a sale and the assignee assumes Town’s obligations
hereunder (including the recognition of Licensee’s rights hereunder).

16. INTERPRETATION:

The Franchise and this License plus the Exhibits hereto contain the entire agreement
between the Parties relating to the use of the Site and may not be amended, altered or otherwise
changed except as expressly provided for herein, or by a subsequent writing signed by the Parties
to this License.  The invalidation of any one of the terms or provisions of this License or of the
Franchise by judgment or court order shall in no way affect any of the other terms of this License
which shall remain in full force and effect.  Time is of the essence with respect to each provision
of this License. The headings contained in this License are to facilitate reference only, do not form
a part of this License, and shall not in any way affect the construction or interpretation of this



License. Terms such as “hereby,” “herein,” “hereof,” “hereinafter,” “hereunder,” and “hereto”
refer to this License as a whole and not to the particular sentence or paragraph where they appear,
unless the context otherwise requires. The term “may” is permissive; the terms “shall” and “will”
are mandatory, not merely directive. All references to any gender shall be deemed to include all
others, as the context may require. Terms used in the plural include the singular, and vice versa,
unless the context otherwise requires. Nothing in this License is intended to interfere with any
tariffs, contracts or other arrangements between the Licensee and a third party or between the
Town and a third party, or to create any third-party beneficiary rights.  To the extent either party
is required hereunder to obtain the consent or approval of the other under this License, such
consent or approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.

17. BINDING EFFECT:

This License shall bind and inure to the benefit of the Parties hereto and their respective
successors and permitted assigns.

18. HOLDING OVER:

If Licensee remains in possession of the Site after the end of this License, Licensee will
occupy the Site as a licensee from month to month, subject to all conditions, provisions, and
obligations of this License in effect on the last day of the term. Such holding over shall not be
deemed a renewal or extension of the License.

19. NO WAIVER:

No waiver of any condition or agreement in this License by either Town or Licensee will
imply or constitute a further waiver by such Party of the same or any other condition or agreement.
No act or thing done by Town during the term of this License will be deemed an acceptance of
surrender of the Site, and no agreement to accept the surrender will be valid unless in writing
signed by Town.  No payment by Licensee, or receipt from Town, of a lesser amount than the
charges stipulated in this License will be deemed to be anything other than a payment on account
of the earliest stipulated charges.  No endorsement or statement on any check or any letter
accompanying any check or payment will be deemed an accord and satisfaction. Town will accept
the check for payment without prejudice to Town’s right to recover the balance of the charges or
to pursue any other remedy available to Town.

20. AUTHORITY:

Each of the persons executing this License on behalf of Licensee warrants to Town that
Licensee is, and will remain, a duly organized and existing limited liability company under
Delaware law, that Licensee is authorized to do business in the Commonwealth of Virginia, that
Licensee has full right and authority to enter into this License, and that each and every person
signing on behalf of Licensee is authorized to do so.  Upon Town’s request, Licensee will provide
evidence satisfactory to Town confirming these representations.



Town and the person executing and delivering this License on Town’s behalf each
represents and warrants to Licensee that such person is duly authorized to so act and has the power
and authority to enter into this License; and that all action required to authorize Town and such
person to enter into this License has been duly taken.

21. LIMITED LIABILITY:

In no event shall either Party be liable to the other for consequential or punitive damages,
economic losses or losses derived from future expected revenues.  The provisions of this Section
21 are not intended to limit Licensee’s right to seek injunctive relief or specific performance.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto executed this License in two parts on the
dates indicated.

TOWN:

TOWN OF OCCOQUAN

By:
Name: Earnest W. Porta, Jr.
Its: Mayor
Date:

LICENSEE:

New Cingular Wireless PCS, LLC, a Delaware
limited liability company

By:
Name:
Its:
Date:



EXHIBIT 1
Description of Site



TITLE SHEET

SITE

PROJECT INFORMATION

VICINITY MAP

CODE COMPLIANCE

AERIAL KEY

DRAWING  INDEX

THESE DRAWINGS ARE SCALED TO FULL SIZE AT 22"X34" AND HALF SIZE AT 11"X17". CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY ALL PLANS AND EXISTING DIMENSIONS AND
CONDITIONS ON THE JOB SITE AND SHALL IMMEDIATELY NOTIFY THE DESIGNER / ENGINEER IN WRITING OF ANY DISCREPANCIES BEFORE PROCEEDING WITH
THE WORK OR MATERIAL ORDERS OR BE RESPONSIBLE FOR THE SAME. CONTRACTOR SHALL USE BEST MANAGEMENT PRACTICE TO PREVENT STORM
WATER POLLUTION DURING CONSTRUCTION.

T-1

SCOPE OF WORK:

SITE ADDRESS:

LATITUDE (NAD 83):
LONGITUDE (NAD 83):

JURISDICTION:

CONSTRUCTION TYPE:
USE GROUP:

TELCO PROVIDER:

POWER PROVIDER:

GROUND ELEVATION:

HUB FA #:

DESIGN CONFIGURATION:

INSTALLATION OF A WIRELESS COMMUNICATIONS
ANTENNA AND ASSOCIATED SUPPORT EQUIPMENT
ON A REPLACEMENT WOOD POLE.

NEAR 201 MILL STREET
OCCOQUAN, VIRGINIA 22125

 38.683286°
-77.259434°

TOWN OF OCCOQUAN

IIB
U

TBD

DOMINION
1-757-857-2112

11.0' AMSL

14695498

MICRO

mobility corp.

NEAR 201 MILL STREET, OCCOQUAN, VIRGINIA 22125
TOWN OF OCCOQUAN

SMALL CELL PROJECT
CANDIDATE NAME: CRAN_RWSH_PWILL_088B

FA #: 14858725
POLE ID #: C0508-SL79

ALL WORK AND MATERIALS SHALL BE PERFORMED AND INSTALLED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CURRENT
EDITIONS OF THE FOLLOWING CODES AS ADOPTED BY THE LOCAL GOVERNING AUTHORITIES. NOTHING IN THESE
PLANS IS TO BE CONSTRUED TO PERMIT WORK NOT CONFORMING TO THE LATEST EDITIONS OF THE FOLLOWING
CODES.

· ANSI/TIA-222-G

· TIA 607

· INSTITUTE FOR ELECTRICAL & ELECTRONICS
ENGINEER 81

· IEEE C2 NATIONAL ELECTRIC SAFETY CODE
LATEST EDITION

· TELECORDIA GR-1275

· ANSI/T 311

· 2015 INTERNATIONAL BUILDING CODE

· 2014 NATIONAL ELECTRICAL CODE

· 2015 NFPA 101, LIFE SAFETY CODE

· 2015 IFC

· AMERICAN CONCRETE INSTITUTE

· AMERICAN INSTITUTE OF STEEL CONSTRUCTION

· MANUAL OF STEEL CONSTRUCTION 13TH EDITION

APPROVALS

AT&T CONSTRUCTION:

AT&T COMPLIANCE:

AT&T RF:

AT&T REAL ESTATE:

T-1

GN-1

C-1

C-2

C-3

D-1

D-2

D-3

TCP-1

E-1

G-1

TITLE SHEET

GENERAL NOTES

SITE PLAN

EXISTING ELEVATIONS

PROPOSED ELEVATIONS

ANTENNA  DETAILS

PLUMBING DIAGRAM & ANTENNA SCHEDULE

EQUIPMENT DETAILS

TRAFFIC CONTROL PLAN

ELECTRICAL RISER & DETAILS

GROUNDING DETAILS

EN
G

IN
EE

R
D

ES
IG

N
RE

C
O

RD
PR

O
FE

SS
IO

N
AL

ST
AM

P
SI

TE
IN

FO
RM

AT
IO

N
SH

EE
T

TI
TL

E
SH

EE
T

N
U

M
BE

R

REVISIONS

DESCRIPTIONDATEREV BY

6095 MARSHALEE DRIVE, SUITE 300
ELKRIDGE, MD 21075

(410) 712-7092

NB+C ENGINEERING SERVICES, LLC.

EN
G

IN
EE

R
AP

PL
IC

AN
T

0 04/29/19 FINAL CD's DPB

NODE NAME:
 CRAN_RWSH_PWILL_088B

FA#: 14858725
HUB FA #: 14695498

NEAR 201 MILL STREET
OCCOQUAN, VA 22192
TOWN OF OCCOQUAN

mobility corp.mobility corp.

TRENT TRAVIS SNARR, P.E.
VIRGINIA PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER

LICENSE #049978



GENERAL
NOTES

GN-1

“

“ ”

EN
G

IN
EE

R
D

ES
IG

N
RE

C
O

RD
PR

O
FE

SS
IO

N
AL

ST
AM

P
SI

TE
IN

FO
RM

AT
IO

N
SH

EE
T

TI
TL

E
SH

EE
T

N
U

M
BE

R

REVISIONS

DESCRIPTIONDATEREV BY

6095 MARSHALEE DRIVE, SUITE 300
ELKRIDGE, MD 21075

(410) 712-7092

NB+C ENGINEERING SERVICES, LLC.

EN
G

IN
EE

R
AP

PL
IC

AN
T

0 04/29/19 FINAL CD's DPB

NODE NAME:
 CRAN_RWSH_PWILL_088B

FA#: 14858725
HUB FA #: 14695498

NEAR 201 MILL STREET
OCCOQUAN, VA 22192
TOWN OF OCCOQUAN

mobility corp.mobility corp.

TRENT TRAVIS SNARR, P.E.
VIRGINIA PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER

LICENSE #049978



MILL STREET

WASHIN
GTON

STREET

SITE
PLAN

C-1
GRAPHIC SCALE

010 5 10 20 40

1 INCH = 10 FEET (22X34)
1 INCH = 20 FEET (11X17)

GRAPHIC SCALE

SCALE: 1" = 10' (22X34)
SCALE: 1" = 20' (11X17)

1

C-1

 SITE PLAN

LEGEND

EN
G

IN
EE

R
D

ES
IG

N
RE

C
O

RD
PR

O
FE

SS
IO

N
AL

ST
AM

P
SI

TE
IN

FO
RM

AT
IO

N
SH

EE
T

TI
TL

E
SH

EE
T

N
U

M
BE

R

REVISIONS

DESCRIPTIONDATEREV BY

6095 MARSHALEE DRIVE, SUITE 300
ELKRIDGE, MD 21075

(410) 712-7092

NB+C ENGINEERING SERVICES, LLC.

EN
G

IN
EE

R
AP

PL
IC

AN
T

0 04/29/19 FINAL CD's DPB

NODE NAME:
 CRAN_RWSH_PWILL_088B

FA#: 14858725
HUB FA #: 14695498

NEAR 201 MILL STREET
OCCOQUAN, VA 22192
TOWN OF OCCOQUAN

mobility corp.mobility corp.

TRENT TRAVIS SNARR, P.E.
VIRGINIA PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER

LICENSE #049978

R

S

1-800-552-7001 !
G

B

T0P

AL
C-

L Y
OREF E

O

D
I

U

O

RI
G

V

INI

A TS

E

.
C

NI
,

M

LLN CE A SY

VIRGINIA LAW REQUIRES
THREE WORKING DAYS NOTICE PRIOR TO

ANY EARTH MOVING ACTIVITIES



EXISTING
ELEVATIONS

C-2
0

GRAPHIC SCALE
3 1.5 3 6 12

1 INCH = 3 FEET (22X34)
1 INCH = 6 FEET (11X17)

SCALE: 1" = 3' (22X34)
SCALE: 1" = 6' (11X17)

2

C-2

 POLE ELEVATION (SIDE VIEW)

0

GRAPHIC SCALE
3 1.5 3 6 12

1 INCH = 3 FEET (22X34)
1 INCH = 6 FEET (11X17)

SCALE: 1" = 3' (22X34)
SCALE: 1" = 6' (11X17)

3

C-2

 POLE ELEVATION (BACK VIEW)
NOT TO SCALE

1

C-2

 EXISTING CONDITIONS (LOOKING SOUTH -WEST)

EN
G

IN
EE

R
D

ES
IG

N
RE

C
O

RD
PR

O
FE

SS
IO

N
AL

ST
AM

P
SI

TE
IN

FO
RM

AT
IO

N
SH

EE
T

TI
TL

E
SH

EE
T

N
U

M
BE

R

REVISIONS

DESCRIPTIONDATEREV BY

6095 MARSHALEE DRIVE, SUITE 300
ELKRIDGE, MD 21075

(410) 712-7092

NB+C ENGINEERING SERVICES, LLC.

EN
G

IN
EE

R
AP

PL
IC

AN
T

0 04/29/19 FINAL CD's DPB

NODE NAME:
 CRAN_RWSH_PWILL_088B

FA#: 14858725
HUB FA #: 14695498

NEAR 201 MILL STREET
OCCOQUAN, VA 22192
TOWN OF OCCOQUAN

mobility corp.mobility corp.

TRENT TRAVIS SNARR, P.E.
VIRGINIA PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER

LICENSE #049978



PROPOSED
ELEVATIONS

C-3
0

GRAPHIC SCALE
3 1.5 3 6 12

1 INCH = 3 FEET (22X34)
1 INCH = 6 FEET (11X17)

SCALE: 1" = 3' (22X34)
SCALE: 1" = 6' (11X17)

1

C-3

 POLE ELEVATION (SIDE VIEW)

0

GRAPHIC SCALE
3 1.5 3 6 12

1 INCH = 3 FEET (22X34)
1 INCH = 6 FEET (11X17)

SCALE: 1" = 3' (22X34)
SCALE: 1" = 6' (11X17)

2

C-3

 POLE ELEVATION (BACK VIEW)

EN
G

IN
EE

R
D

ES
IG

N
RE

C
O

RD
PR

O
FE

SS
IO

N
AL

ST
AM

P
SI

TE
IN

FO
RM

AT
IO

N
SH

EE
T

TI
TL

E
SH

EE
T

N
U

M
BE

R

REVISIONS

DESCRIPTIONDATEREV BY

6095 MARSHALEE DRIVE, SUITE 300
ELKRIDGE, MD 21075

(410) 712-7092

NB+C ENGINEERING SERVICES, LLC.

EN
G

IN
EE

R
AP

PL
IC

AN
T

0 04/29/19 FINAL CD's DPB

NODE NAME:
 CRAN_RWSH_PWILL_088B

FA#: 14858725
HUB FA #: 14695498

NEAR 201 MILL STREET
OCCOQUAN, VA 22192
TOWN OF OCCOQUAN

mobility corp.mobility corp.

TRENT TRAVIS SNARR, P.E.
VIRGINIA PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER

LICENSE #049978



 ANTENNA MOUNTING DETAIL
NTS

3

D-1

ANTENNA &
EQUIPMENT DETAILS

D-1

 GALTRONICS ANTENNA DETAIL
NTS

1

D-1

 NOKIA LAA RRU DETAIL
NTS

5

D-1

 PROPOSED ANTENNA (BOTTOM VIEW)
NTS

2

D-1

 NOKIA PCS/AWS DUAL BAND RRH DETAIL
NTS

4

D-1

 DELTA 2.0kW PSU
NTS

6

D-1

EN
G

IN
EE

R
D

ES
IG

N
RE

C
O

RD
PR

O
FE

SS
IO

N
AL

ST
AM

P
SI

TE
IN

FO
RM

AT
IO

N
SH

EE
T

TI
TL

E
SH

EE
T

N
U

M
BE

R

REVISIONS

DESCRIPTIONDATEREV BY

6095 MARSHALEE DRIVE, SUITE 300
ELKRIDGE, MD 21075

(410) 712-7092

NB+C ENGINEERING SERVICES, LLC.

EN
G

IN
EE

R
AP

PL
IC

AN
T

0 04/29/19 FINAL CD's DPB

NODE NAME:
 CRAN_RWSH_PWILL_088B

FA#: 14858725
HUB FA #: 14695498

NEAR 201 MILL STREET
OCCOQUAN, VA 22192
TOWN OF OCCOQUAN

mobility corp.mobility corp.

TRENT TRAVIS SNARR, P.E.
VIRGINIA PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER

LICENSE #049978



ANTENNA
MODEL AZIMUTH RRU MODELCABLE

LENGTHSECTOR STATUS ANTENNA
MANUFACTURER

RAD
CENTER

ANTENNA SCHEDULE

ANTENNA
DIMENSIONS

TIP
HEIGHT CABLE SIZE

APPROVAL
REQUIRED

MIDBAND
PICO JUMPER
LOSSES (dB)

1/4" FLEX
LENGTH

(FT)

MICRO CABLE LOSS CHART

SERVICE
IMPACT

3/8" FLEX
LENGTH

(FT)

1/2" LSF
LENGTH

(FT)

ADDED
COST

ADDED
TIME

<1.0

<2.5

<2.5

[10' [16' [18'

≥52'≥42'≥30'

12-28' 18-40' 20-50'

NA NA NA NA

DESIGN
ENGINEER

LOSS OF
SENSITIVITY

UP TO 2 NODES
PER TRIGGER

DESIGN CHECK
(10 - 45 DAYS)

RAN DIRECTOR
APPROVAL

RECOMMEND
RELOCATION

DESIGN REVIEW
(20 - 45 DAYS)

NOTES:
CELL EDGE TRAFFIC ESSENTIAL TO THE EFFICIENCY OF THE NODE CANNOT BE SACRIFICED TO JUMPER LENGTH.

UNKNOWN

<0.5

APPROVAL
REQUIRED

LAA 5.8GHz
JUMPER

LOSSES (dB)

1/4" FLEX
LENGTH

(FT)

LAA CABLE LOSS CHART

SERVICE
IMPACT

≤2' N/A

3/8" FLEX
LENGTH

(FT)

1/2" LSF
LENGTH

(FT)

ADDED
COST

ADDED
TIME

≤4' ≤4'

<1.0

<1.0

4-6' 6-8' 6-10'

N/A N/A N/A

12-16' 18-24' 20-28'

DESIGN
ENGINEER

UP TO 40%
DISPARITY WITH PICO

RISK OF LOSING
GIG-ZONE

DESIGN CHECK
(10 - 45 DAYS)

RAN DIRECTOR
APPROVAL

INEFFICIENT USE OF
RADIO RESOURCES

LOSS OF
GIG-ZONE

DESIGN REVIEW
(20 - 45 DAYS)

NOTES:
CELL EDGE TRAFFIC ESSENTIAL TO THE EFFICIENCY OF THE NODE CANNOT BE SACRIFICED TO JUMPER LENGTH.

PLUMBING DIAGRAM
& ANTENNA
SCHEDULE

D-2 PLUMBING DIAGRAM
NTS

2

D-2

CONTRACTOR SHALL UTILIZE FIBER P_TOUCH TAGS SECURED WITH
WAX STRING ON EACH END OF CABLE. TAG SHALL IDENTIFY
FREQUENCY AND PORT # IN WHICH CABLE IS CONNECTED TO. ON
THE REVERSE SIDE OF THE TAG, LOCATION OF THE OPPOSITE CABLE
END SHALL BE LABELED TO CREATE A "TO" AND "FROM" SCENARIO.
(SEE DETAIL 1/D-2 FOR ADDITIONAL INFO)

 FIBER P_TOUCH TAG DETAIL
NTS

1

D-2

EN
G

IN
EE

R
D

ES
IG

N
RE

C
O

RD
PR

O
FE

SS
IO

N
AL

ST
AM

P
SI

TE
IN

FO
RM

AT
IO

N
SH

EE
T

TI
TL

E
SH

EE
T

N
U

M
BE

R

REVISIONS

DESCRIPTIONDATEREV BY

6095 MARSHALEE DRIVE, SUITE 300
ELKRIDGE, MD 21075

(410) 712-7092

NB+C ENGINEERING SERVICES, LLC.

EN
G

IN
EE

R
AP

PL
IC

AN
T

0 04/29/19 FINAL CD's DPB

NODE NAME:
 CRAN_RWSH_PWILL_088B

FA#: 14858725
HUB FA #: 14695498

NEAR 201 MILL STREET
OCCOQUAN, VA 22192
TOWN OF OCCOQUAN

mobility corp.mobility corp.

TRENT TRAVIS SNARR, P.E.
VIRGINIA PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER

LICENSE #049978



 COMMSCOPE EQUIPMENT DETAIL
NTS

1

D-3

 SERVICE DISCONNECT DETAIL
NTS

4

D-3

 METER DETAIL
NTS

5

D-3

 METER/DISCONNECT MOUNTING DETAIL
NTS

6

D-3

EQUIPMENT
DETAILS

D-3

 RF NOTICE SIGN
NTS

3

D-3

 COMMSCOPE ISOMETRIC VIEW (INSIDE)
NTS

2

D-3

EN
G

IN
EE

R
D

ES
IG

N
RE

C
O

RD
PR

O
FE

SS
IO

N
AL

ST
AM

P
SI

TE
IN

FO
RM

AT
IO

N
SH

EE
T

TI
TL

E
SH

EE
T

N
U

M
BE

R

REVISIONS

DESCRIPTIONDATEREV BY

6095 MARSHALEE DRIVE, SUITE 300
ELKRIDGE, MD 21075

(410) 712-7092

NB+C ENGINEERING SERVICES, LLC.

EN
G

IN
EE

R
AP

PL
IC

AN
T

0 04/29/19 FINAL CD's DPB

NODE NAME:
 CRAN_RWSH_PWILL_088B

FA#: 14858725
HUB FA #: 14695498

NEAR 201 MILL STREET
OCCOQUAN, VA 22192
TOWN OF OCCOQUAN

mobility corp.mobility corp.

TRENT TRAVIS SNARR, P.E.
VIRGINIA PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER

LICENSE #049978



TRAFFIC CONTROL
PLAN

TCP-1

EN
G

IN
EE

R
D

ES
IG

N
RE

C
O

RD
PR

O
FE

SS
IO

N
AL

ST
AM

P
SI

TE
IN

FO
RM

AT
IO

N
SH

EE
T

TI
TL

E
SH

EE
T

N
U

M
BE

R

REVISIONS

DESCRIPTIONDATEREV BY

6095 MARSHALEE DRIVE, SUITE 300
ELKRIDGE, MD 21075

(410) 712-7092

NB+C ENGINEERING SERVICES, LLC.

EN
G

IN
EE

R
AP

PL
IC

AN
T

0 04/29/19 FINAL CD's DPB

NODE NAME:
 CRAN_RWSH_PWILL_088B

FA#: 14858725
HUB FA #: 14695498

NEAR 201 MILL STREET
OCCOQUAN, VA 22192
TOWN OF OCCOQUAN

mobility corp.mobility corp.

TRENT TRAVIS SNARR, P.E.
VIRGINIA PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER

LICENSE #049978



RAYCAP PANEL

 RAYCAP LOAD CENTER PANEL DETAIL
NTS

2

E-1

ELECTRICAL
RISER & DETAILS

E-1

ELECTRICAL LEGEND

EN
G

IN
EE

R
D

ES
IG

N
RE

C
O

RD
PR

O
FE

SS
IO

N
AL

ST
AM

P
SI

TE
IN

FO
RM

AT
IO

N
SH

EE
T

TI
TL

E
SH

EE
T

N
U

M
BE

R

REVISIONS

DESCRIPTIONDATEREV BY

6095 MARSHALEE DRIVE, SUITE 300
ELKRIDGE, MD 21075

(410) 712-7092

NB+C ENGINEERING SERVICES, LLC.

EN
G

IN
EE

R
AP

PL
IC

AN
T

0 04/29/19 FINAL CD's DPB

NODE NAME:
 CRAN_RWSH_PWILL_088B

FA#: 14858725
HUB FA #: 14695498

NEAR 201 MILL STREET
OCCOQUAN, VA 22192
TOWN OF OCCOQUAN

mobility corp.mobility corp.

TRENT TRAVIS SNARR, P.E.
VIRGINIA PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER

LICENSE #049978

 ELECTRICAL RISER DIAGRAM
NTS

1

E-1

 RAYCAP LOAD CENTER PANEL SCHEDULE
NTS

3

E-1

 RAYCAP LOAD CENTER PANEL SCHEDULE
NTS

3

E-1



 CADWELD GROUNDING CONNECTION DETAILS
NTS

6

G-1

 COAX CABLE GROUNDING
NTS

4

G-1

 TYPICAL GROUND ROD DETAIL
NTS

5

G-1

GROUNDING
DETAILS

G-1

NOT TO SCALE

3

G-1

 DIRECTIONAL SPLICE
NOT TO SCALE

2

G-1

 ELECTRIC SERVICE GROUNDING ELECTRODE

NOT TO SCALE

1

G-1

 GROUNDING RISER DIAGRAM

EN
G

IN
EE

R
D

ES
IG

N
RE

C
O

RD
PR

O
FE

SS
IO

N
AL

ST
AM

P
SI

TE
IN

FO
RM

AT
IO

N
SH

EE
T

TI
TL

E
SH

EE
T

N
U

M
BE

R

REVISIONS

DESCRIPTIONDATEREV BY

6095 MARSHALEE DRIVE, SUITE 300
ELKRIDGE, MD 21075

(410) 712-7092

NB+C ENGINEERING SERVICES, LLC.

EN
G

IN
EE

R
AP

PL
IC

AN
T

0 04/29/19 FINAL CD's DPB

NODE NAME:
 CRAN_RWSH_PWILL_088B

FA#: 14858725
HUB FA #: 14695498

NEAR 201 MILL STREET
OCCOQUAN, VA 22192
TOWN OF OCCOQUAN

mobility corp.mobility corp.

TRENT TRAVIS SNARR, P.E.
VIRGINIA PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER

LICENSE #049978



Portions of this meeting may be held in closed session pursuant to the Virginia Freedom of Information Act. 

TOWN OF OCCOQUAN 
Town Hall, 314 Mill Street, Occoquan, VA 22125 

www.occoquanva.gov | info@occoquanva.gov | (703) 491-1918 

 
 

ARCHITECTURAL REVIEW BOARD MEETING 
 

Tuesday, June 25, 2019 
7:30 PM 

 
TOWN HALL – 314 MILL STREET 

 
1.     Citizen Comments 
2.    May 28, 2019 Meeting Minutes 
3.    Exterior Elevation Applications 

a. ARB2019-001 - 201 Mill Street 
b. ARB2019-002 - 303 Mill Street 

4.    Town Sign Inventory Presentation/Discussion 
5.    Town Code Discussion  
6.    Town Council Report 
7.    Planning Commission Report 
8.    Chair Report 

 
 

 
Brenda Seefeldt 

Chair, Architectural Review Board 
 

 

















ARB Meeting Notes - June 25, 2019 
 
Meeting called to order by Brenda Seefeldt at 7:31 pm. 
 
In Attendance: Brenda Seefeldt, Laurie Holloway, Lori Domenech, Carol Bailey, Darryl Hawkins, 
Ryan Dillard, Doug Kastens; Jonathan Torres unexcused absent 
 
Town Staff in attendance: Kathy Leidich, Chris Coon, Luke Seigfried (intern) 
  
No citizen comments 
 
Minutes from May 28, 2019 meeting: A motion was made by Laurie to approve; Darryl 2nd,  
Approved as written (note correction: Laurie Holloway was in attendance) 
 
Exterior Elevation Applications: 
 
A. ARB2019-001 - 201 Mill St. - AT&T wireless communications antenna installation. Existing 
wooden pole which is owned by Dominion Power will be replaced by another of the same 
size/height. A 24.9” Canister would be affixed to the top of the pole. There would also be a 
meter attached to the pole approximately 8’ from the ground. The canister is to be painted 
brown to match the pole and minimize impact.  
 
ARB was reminded that our task is to approve materials and color, The Council is responsible 
for overall approval of other aspects. A motion was made by Lori D to approve; Doug 2nd; 
approved unanimously. 
 
B. ARB2019-002 - 303 Mill Street - change of exterior paint colors. New paint colors proposed 
are: McCormick Paint - Kingston Clay (taupe) for the siding, Putty Hill (lighter taupe) for trim, 
and Potomac (dark gray/green) for shutters. A motion was made by Carol to approve; Laurie 
2nd; approved unanimously. 
 
Town Sign Inventory Presentation/Discussion: 
 
A slide show was prepared by town staff to show all signs in Occoquan, followed by staff 
recommendations for changes, repairs, removal, or replacement. 
 
Chris C. suggested the ARB have input into font choices for any new signs in order to create 
consistency. It was suggested by the ARB that street name signs be changed to a more historic 
style, keeping the brown color currently being used. It was also suggested that new signs omit 
the town emblem or make it smaller, except for major entrance or information signs, and to use 
a uniform color blue for all town signs, 
 
ARB also agreed with staff to change the information boards to blue with white trim rather than 
the raw wood. 
 
Town Code Discussion: 
 
Brenda reviewed the areas for discussion of temporary seasonal displays, stringed lighting, yard 
signs, and illegal banners.  Town Manager brought up some discrepancies in the code which 
makes enforcement difficult, particularly regarding stringed lights and the removal of illegal 



banners. The ARB was informed that even though the code says the Town has authority to 
remove illegal signs, the attorney advises that Town does not have that authority.  
 
It was recommended that ARB members read through the following sections of town code to 
consider how to clarify the temporary seasonal display issue: 157.121 (a) 21 and 157.304 (b) 4. 
Chris C. suggested specifying dates (e.g., Nov. 1-Jan. 15 or 30) for holiday lights/decorations, 
etc. Brenda would like for the ARB to write the start of the new ordinance for temporary 
seasonal displays at the next meeting.  
 
Brenda asked that town council and staff look into ways to enforce codes including 
consequences (penalties, fines, etc.) for infractions. Staff said they would speak with the town 
attorney. She pointed out again that there are multiple violations currently in evidence. 
 
Laurie thanked staff for pursuing banner removals requested at the May meeting. It was agreed 
that this discussion would continue at the next ARB meeting. 
 
9:45 pm adjournment 



Town of Occoquan, Virginia 
Notice of Public Hearing and Invitation to Bid on a Non-Exclusive Franchise for 

Telecommunications Equipment 
  

Notice is hereby given pursuant to §§ 15.2-1800 and 15.2-2100 of the Code of Virginia, as amended, that 
the Council of the Town of Occoquan, Virginia, a Municipal Corporation of the Commonwealth of 
Virginia, proposes a non-exclusive franchise to permit use of public rights of way within the corporate 
limits of the Town of Occoquan, Virginia, for location and operation of telecommunications equipment 
on new or existing utility poles for a term of ten years with up to three renewal terms of five years each, 
and invites (i) public comment and (ii) bids thereon.  Bids shall be in writing and delivered to Town 
Council, 314 Mill Street, Occoquan, Virginia 22125 no later than August 4, 2020 at 7:00 p.m., local time, 
in open session of Council to the presiding officer of Council. A copy of the full text of the ordinance is 
on file in the Office of the Town Clerk, 314 Mill Street, Occoquan, Virginia. 
  
If multiple bids are submitted, the Town Council will refer them to the Town Manager for a 
recommendation based on the interests of the Town. Town Council may make other investigations of 
bidders as it sees fit. The Town reserves the right to reject any and all bids. 
  
  
  
  
Run dates: July 23 and July 30 
 



TOWN OF OCCOQUAN 

   TOWN COUNCIL MEETING 
                                             Agenda Communication 
 

 

10. Regular Business Meeting Date: August 4, 2020 

10 b: Vote on Appeal of Architectural Review Board Denial of Certificate of Appropriateness 
   

Explanation and Summary: 
On May 17, 2020, the owners of 430 Mill Street submitted an application to the ARB for 
a Certificate of Appropriateness for a fence constructed on the property. The ARB 
considered the matter at its June 23, 2020 meeting, but did not render a decision. At a 
meeting on July 7, 2020, the ARB denied the issuance of a Certificate of Appropriateness 
by a vote of 1-4 with one member voting to issue the Certificate. In accordance with 
Town Code §157.181, the property owners have appealed the decision to the Town 
Council. The advertisements for the required public hearing ran July 23 and July 30.  
This action is for consideration of the appeal. 
 

Cost and Financing:   N/A 
Account Number:  N/A 
 

Proposed/Suggested Motion: 
 

“I move to approve the issuance of a Certificate of Appropriateness for the fence at 430 
Mill Street as requested by the applicant.” 
 

OR 
 

“I move to deny a Certificate of Appropriateness to the applicant.” 
 

OR 
 

“I move to approve the issuance of a Certificate of Appropriateness for the fence at 430 
Mill Street provided the applicant agrees to the following conditions: 
____________________________________________________________________________.” 
 

OR 
 

Other action Council deems appropriate. 
 

Attachments:  Original application of the property owner 
Draft minutes of the June 23, 2020 ARB meeting 
Submission by the property owner to the ARB for its July 7 meeting 
Draft minutes of the ARB meeting of July 7 
Denial letter of the ARB 
Appeal of the property owner to the Town Council 
Notice of public hearing 









ARB Meeting Notes – June 23, 2020 
 

1. Meeting called to order by Brenda Seefeldt at 7:30 pm. 
 
In Attendance: Brenda Seefeldt, Laurie Holloway, Lori Domenech, Carol Bailey, Darryl Hawkins, 
and Jonathan Torres. *Doug Kastens attended remotely via Zoom 
Excused absence: Ryan Dillard 
 * As there was a quorum without Doug Kastens, it was decided that he would not vote. 
 
Town Staff in attendance: Katy Nicholson 
  

2. No citizen comments 
 

3. Approval of Minutes from February 25, 2020 meeting:  Laurie Holloway moved to 
approve; Lori Domenech 2nd;  Approved 
 

4. Exterior Elevation Applications 
A) 305 Mill Street - Paint Application 
Lori Domenech moved to approve, Laurie Holloway 2nd; Approved 
B) 430 Mill Street - Tabled as applicants were not present. Town Clerk will ask the 
applicant some questions such as erosion issues related to the fence which has already 
been installed without ARB approval. 

 
5. Town Council Report – Laurie Holloway reported that the town budget was passed with 

no tax increase. 
- $94,000 was received in grant money relief from Prince William County for Covid-19. 
- An account of $30,000 was set up to help local businesses. The businesses can apply 

for funds in order to keep operating. Julie Little is heading up that program. 
- The Town passed a noise ordinance based on Prince William’s ordinance.  

 
6. Planning Commission Report – Darryl Hawkins also discussed the noise ordinance which 

is being reviewed and revised to better suit needs of the town. 
- A significant change was made in the town maintenance policy. The Police 

Department will now oversee public works issues in cooperation with Bucky. 
- Beautification projects are still pending 

 
7. Chair Report – New sign ordinances is still under review by Planning Commission, 

delayed due to pandemic. 
 
Adjourned - 8:00 pm 
 
Meeting Notes prepared by Lori Domenech 
 



ARB Ask to be read aloud as neither my wife nor I have time to attend.

“Of all tyrannies, a tyranny sincerely exercised for the good of its victims 
may be the most oppressive. It would be better to live under robber barons 
than under omnipotent moral busybodies. The robber baron's cruelty may 
sometimes sleep, his cupidity may at some point be satiated; but those who 
torment us for our own good will torment us without end for they do so with 
the approval of their own conscience.”

― C. S. Lewis

"Which is better - to be ruled by one tyrant three thousand miles away or by 
three thousand tyrants one mile away?”

-Mather Byles

The Occoquan of history is not the Occoquan of your imagination.  
Occoquan was crossroads and industrial town.  Occoquan would have 
smelled of horse manner, of rotting fish, of heavy coal.  It would have been 
dirty, muddy, and unattractive.  The fences were cheap, sparse and 
utilitarian. The real Occoquan of the past was not Pinterest worthy.  The 
ARB has, and continues to turn Occoquan into a fake Disneyfied version of 
itself.  If you have questions about the real Occoquan, I would consult 
Mayor Porta who has delved as deep as any into the topic.

The 4th of July just having past, I ask that the members of the ARB reflect 
on their position and duties.  While you may think that your job is to protect 
or preserve history in Occoquan, in most cases it is the exact opposite.  

The ARB is a history prevention organization.  Had the Dogue natives had 
a board to oversee and preserve the history of Occoquan, Rockledge 
would never have been built as it was not in keeping with the architectural 
style.  Your position is to prevent any new, interesting or unusual 
architecture from being built in Occoquan.  The ratchet of government 
control over every aspect of our lives rotates in one direction.  It has gotten 
to the point that anything that is not mandated is forbidden.  

Submitted for July 7, 2020 Architectural Review Board Special Meeting



In recent weeks, petty busybodies have finally been recognized for what 
they are, and the effect they have on their fellow citizens.  When you send 
armed men to police the selling of loose cigarettes or other such minor 
transgressions, on occasion a citizen ends up paying the ultimate price.  
The first, last and only recourse for achieving your objectives should not be 
a law. 

If architecture meets with your preconceived notions of what an idealized 
fictional past Occouquan might have been, it will be approved.  If it does 
not meet with your vision, it will be denied.  Think of what this means.  A 
fellow American Citizen wants to build something on her own land, and you 
tell her the she is not permitted.  These are not actions of fellow citizens.  
Fellow citizens talk, encourage, dissuade, ask.  Tyrants force.  Make no 
mistake, your actions are force - backed up by men with guns. 

Every 4th of July I ask friends and family to name something in the ‘Land of 
the Free’ that isn't taxed or regulated.  To date, I haven't found anything.
I am embarrassed and ashamed that we have fallen so far from our ideals 
as Americans that one citizen would use the law to browbeat another and 
to impose their will by force instead of persuasion.  None of you have come 
to talk to me.  None of you have invited me to talk about architecture over a 
beer or coffee.  These would be the actions of neighbors instead of tyrants.

We post pictures of service members associated with Occoquan 
throughout the town as a remembrance of what they have done to win and 
preserve liberty- do you think this is what they fought for?  I ask that you 
maintain some dignity and respect for yourselves as citizens instead of 
tyrants.  Take a stand for freedom.  Make a statement.  I ask that you 
resign your posts and recommend to the Town Council abolish the ARB in 
favor of freedom.  Ask yourselves this: did you ever think as a kid that you 
would be the kind of person who would get self satisfaction from bossing 
people around?  Instead of criticizing others architectural choices, build 
something yourself.  Make your own statement about what Occoquan 
should be, and let that statement be a town who unapologetically supports 
freedom.  Freedom is messy.  It is sometimes ugly, loud, and 
uncomfortable, but only by granting our fellow neighbors freedom can we 
have it in turn.  



As for this meeting, I believe it to violate the open meetings act.  I do not 
have time to prepare or attend, nor is this letter a validation of this meeting. 
Suffice it to say that the exposed structural nature of the fence already has 
ARB approval and is not your concern.  Nor is how, why, how tall, for what 
purpose or how much “grace” is in the application.  Further the style has 
been used by the Town Council, and is found in historical pictures of 
Occoquan.  

Chris Kiely



DRAFT Minutes ARB Special Meeting – July 7, 2020 

 
1. Called to order at 6:31 

 
In attendance: Brenda Seefeldt, Laurie Holloway, Lori Domenech, Darryl Hawkins, Carol Bailey 
Excused Absence: Doug Kastens, Ryan Dillard, Johnathan Torres 
 

2. Exterior Elevation Application 
A. ARB2020-005 - 430 Mill Street - Fence Application 

 
The applicant submitted a written statement which was given to each ARB member to read, 
though it was not read aloud. 
 
ARB members were asked to consider the following Town Codes in order to make a decision on 
the application:  

1. Town Code section 33.49 (I) “vote and announce its decision on any matter properly 
before if not later than 14 days after the conclusion of the hearing on the matter unless 
time is extended by mutual agreement between the Board and the applicant” 

2. Town Code section 157.175 (7) The extent to which the building or structure will 
promote the general welfare by: 

a) Preserving and protecting historic places and areas; 
b) Maintaining and increasing real estate value; 
c) Generating business; 
d) Creating new positions; 
e) Attracting tourists, students, writers, historians, artists and artisans, and new 

residents; 
f) Encouraging study of and interest in American history; 
g) Stimulating interest in and study of architecture and design; 
h) Educating citizens in American culture and heritage; and 
i) Making the town a more attractive and desirable place in which to live. 

 
The Town Attorney read the section of the Design Guidelines pertaining to fences.  
 
 Fences and Walls 
 

If fences and walls are to be used as screens or accent elements, the design, colors, and 
choice of materials shall be consistent with the design and materials of the building.  
Landscaping can be used in conjunction with these structures to strengthen their 
screening properties.  Chain link, stockade, bamboo, and snow fencing are not 
considered appropriate. 

 
 



Discussion was had on stockade, snow and chain-link fences not being allowed. Design, color 
and choice is governed by ARB.  
 
There was discussion regarding the question of whether the fence complements the building it 
is paired with and if it is consistent with the design or materials used in the buildings. Also 
discussed was whether the fence was erected for privacy, safety or screening. There was some 
question as to whether the fence that was installed should be considered stockade in style.  
 
The original site plan indicated that there would be a stairway going from the new construction 
to the Rockledge property indicating an opening through which Rockledge could be viewed. The 
fence as built blocks that view. 
 
Laurie Holloway asked the town Attorney if it mattered that the fence was already installed. It 
does not.  
 
ARB members were instructed that if approval was denied, reasons for denial would need to be 
stated. Those reasons would have to be consistent with existing regulations. 
 
Questions to be considered in deciding whether to approve: 
a) Is the fence “stockade”? It has vertical slats but not pointed tops on slats. 
b) Does the fence obstruct the view of Rockledge?  
c) Are materials consistent with the rest of the project? 
 
The applicant was not in attendance to answer questions. Town code does not specifically 
require attendance. The applicant asked the ARB to make a decision on his application in his 
absence although his signed application indicated that he must be present. 
 
A Motion was made by Brenda Seefeldt; do we approve this application despite the 
unanswered questions (see above). Carol Bailey 2nd.   
 
Votes:  
Lori Domenech - No 
Laurie Holloway - Aye 
Darryl Hawkins -No  
Carol Bailey - No 
Brenda Seefeldt - No 
 
Meeting adjourned 7:02 pm 
 



Date: July 8, 2020 
 
To: Kathy Leidich, Town Manager 
 Earnie Porta, Mayor 
 Town Council 
 
From: Brenda Seefeldt, ARB Chair 
 
Subject: Denial of ARB2020-005 
 
On July 7, 2020, a quorum of the Architectural Review Board denied the 
application. 
 
The ARB met on this application June 23, 2020 and then again on July 
7, 2020. The ARB has many questions about this application and no 
answers have ever been presented by the applicant. 
 
The reasons for denial are threefold: 
 

1. According to the Design Guidelines: 
 
Fences and Walls 
 
If fences and walls are to be used as screens or accent elements, the 
design, colors, and choice of materials shall be consistent with the 
design and materials of the building.  Landscaping can be used in 
conjunction with these structures to strengthen their screening 
properties.  Chain link, stockade, bamboo, and snow fencing are not 
considered appropriate. 
 

Doing a simple search on HomeDepot.com, this fence (which has 
already been installed) looks like a stockade fence. According to 
the architect member of the ARB, this is also a stockade fence. 

 
2. There were questions whether the choice of materials of the 

already installed fence were consistent with the design and 
materials of the building. The buildings have many high-end 
features while the fence is generic. 
 

3. The installed fence blocks the view of Rockledge Mansion, one of 
the historical points of Occoquan and one of the most 
photographed and painted views of all of Occoquan. The original 
plans included a view of Rockledge Mansion between the two homes 
complete with stairs and landscaping. This fence blocks all 
views. I include the part of the Town Code that asks the ARB to 
consider these things. What is bolded is what I consider 
pertinent to this application.  

 



157.179 MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED BY THE BOARD. 
(B) The Board shall consider the following in passing upon the 
appropriateness of architectural features: 

(1) Exterior architectural features, including all signs that are 
subject to public view from a public street, way, or place; 

(2) General design and arrangement; 
(3) Texture, material, and color; 
(4) The relation of the factors in division (B)(1) through (B)(3) 

above, to similar features of the buildings and structures in the 
immediate surroundings; 

(5) The extent to which the building or structure would be in 
harmony with the old and historic aspect of the surroundings; 

(6) In the case of a building to be razed, a primary 
consideration will be the extent to which its continued existence 
would tend to protect irreplaceable historic places and preserve the 
general historic atmosphere of the town; and 

(7) The extent to which the building or structure will promote 
the general welfare by: 

(a) Preserving and protecting historic places and areas; 
(b) Maintaining and increasing real estate value; 
(c) Generating business; 
(d) Creating new positions; 
(e) Attracting tourists, students, writers, historians, 
artists and artisans, and new residents; 
(f) Encouraging study of and interest in American history; 
(g) Stimulating interest in and study of architecture and 
design; 
(h) Educating citizens in American culture and heritage; 

and 
(i) Making the town a more attractive and desirable place 
in which to live. 

 
 
 
Brenda Seefeldt 
Chair, Architectural Review Board 



ARB de-fence Appeal
Chris Kiely
430 Mill st

While appealing the decision of the ARB, I retain the right to bring the issue before the Circuit 
Court.  The Town believes that the fence has been denied their Orwellian “Certificate of 
Appropriateness”.  As the timeline for each process are in parallel, one must appeal by both 
venues to preserve each right.

Appeal:

The ARB is woefully ignorant both in their assigned duties, responsibilities, as well as limitations 
under the town code, they are also ignorant of history and frankly, reality.  They imagine a 
Pinterest past and determined to create a Disney fantasy future.

Occoquan was an industrial town, and would have smelled of manure, rotting fish, and heavy 
coal.  Buildings and fences were cheap, utilitarian and not designed for aesthetics.  This is the 
real Occoquan.  The attached pictures of the town’s banner across the street are just a few 
examples showing the same type of fence as constructed on my property, which are also 
installed throughout town.  

I believe the ARB should be disbanded as they are history preventers rather than history 
preservers.  Failing that, the ARB needs to be reined in - back to reality.  There should be term 
limits for ARB members, a palate of pre-approved colors and styles and types of structures 
(fences, buildings, lighting and the like) that do not require prior restraint.  ARB members should 
be picked periodically at random from the town citizens - and asked to participate.  The current 
system self-selects the worst busybodies by its nature.  

As for the ARB members, one member is operating under an alias, at least one is friends with 
the owner of Rockledge and one promoted a professional business at Rockledge.  These issues 
were not disclosed before the vote, nor adjudicated by the other board members as required by 
law. Further, the members of the board have features of their individual properties that violate 
the Code and the ARB guidelines.  If the members have any honor, they will remove these 
violations.  An example is a cactus at the chairman’s house which is a non-native species.  I 
have no problem whatsoever with any citizen of Occoquan keeping cactus plants (or doing any 
other thing they please with their own property) but it is grossly hypocritical to point the finger at 
others while flaunting the law at the same time.  These are not my rules, and I don't force 
anyone against their will with them, these are your rules.  
Rules that pit neighbor against neighbor.
Lastly, the ARB chairman blatantly lied on multiple occasions during the discussion to influence 
the votes of the other members.  

The “denial” letter that was sent bears very little resemblance to the recording of the events.  I 
invite the members of the board to listen to what was said, and then read the letter that was 
sent.  For example:

 “What is bolded is what I consider pertinent to this application”  



Note the “I” in this sentence.  This letter is a personal statement by one member of the board 
and is not representative of the board’s meeting.  The chairman purports the chairman’s point of 
view as the most important, indeed the only view that matters.

As for the “questions” the ARB brought up:

1) Stockade fence: The town attorney read the definition of a stockade fence, and a member 
brought up a second definition of a stockade fence, nether of which fit my fence.  Stockade 
fences have pointed pickets (for example the Jamestown fortification).

2) Fence Materials inconsistent with building materials:

The buildings are made from stone, brick and copper. Building a structure of these materials 
would be called a “wall” not a fence.  A fence is required by the code.  Further, guests at 
Rockledge have use my property as a dump, throwing cigarette buts, liquor bottles, whole flats 
of cupcakes and innumerable other objects over the property line.  Also, any car that pulls up 
can look through our bedroom windows.

3) “Blocks the view of Rockledge”

This is a stunningly ignorant and incompetent statement by the chairman.  
Firstly, the chairman approved the original application which includes a tree in the spot between 
the buildings which will block any view that the fence did not.  One could be excused as lazy for 
not preparing for the meeting by looking up the pertinent facts, but for the chairman who 
approved of the tree not to know is incompetence on top of laziness.  
Second, the entirety of historic Rockledge can be seen from Mill st. 
Further, the ARB is specifically prohibited from addressing the blocking of the view of Rockledge 
under section § 157.179 “Matters to be Considered by the Board ”The Board shall not consider 
the…….. relative size of the building or structure”

Lastly, in defense of my……fence…. the materials, structure and color of the fence are the 
same as the Town used in the park “LOVE” display.  See also below historical examples of the 
use of the type of the fence in the town, shown in the town’s own banner display.







Town of Occoquan, Virginia 
Notice of Public Hearing on an Appeal of Architectural Review Board  

Denial of a Certificate of Appropriateness 
  

Notice is hereby given pursuant to Town Code § 157.181   that the Council of the Town of Occoquan, 
Virginia, a Municipal Corporation of the Commonwealth of Virginia, will hold a hearing on an appeal 
from the Town of Occoquan Architectural Review Board (ARB) regarding denial of a Certificate of 
Appropriateness (COA) on an Exterior Elevation Application (ARB2020-005) for 430 Mill Street in the 
Town of Occoquan, specifically for a fence along the Rockledge property boundary.  The hearing before 
the Town Council will take place on Tuesday, August 4, 2020, at 7:00 p.m. at the Occoquan Town Hall, 
413 Mill Street, Occoquan, VA, during the regularly scheduled council meeting.  Copies of the 
application and ARB denial may be examined at that location. 
 
Run dates: July 23 and July 30 
 



TOWN OF OCCOQUAN 

   TOWN COUNCIL MEETING 
                                         Agenda Communication 
 

 

 

10. Regular Business Meeting Date: August 4, 2020 

10 c: Vistas at Occoquan Bond Release 

   
Explanation and Summary: 
D.R. Horton executed an agreement for maintenance and posted a 1 year maintenance 
bond to cover the costs of potential failed landscaping for the Vistas at Occoquan.  The 
maintenance bond was posted in 2017 in the amount of $4,974.50.  On April 15, 2020, the 
Town Zoning Administrator filed a report indicating that the terms of the agreement 
had been met and recommending release of the landscape maintenance bond.  This 
action would release the cash bond and return the amount of $4,974.50 to the applicant. 
 
Cost and Financing:   N/A 
Account Number:  N/A 
 
Proposed/Suggested Motion: 
 
“I move to release the cash bond for the Vistas at Occoquan related to potential failed 
landscaping and return the sum of $4,974.50 to the applicant.” 
 
OR 
 
Other action Council deems appropriate. 
 
 



Member of the Virginia Municipal League 
 

TOWN OF OCCOQUAN 
Circa 1734 ● Chartered 1804 ● Incorporated 1874 

314 Mill Street ● PO Box 195 ● Occoquan, Virginia 22125 
(703) 491-1918 ● Fax (571) 398-5016 ● info@occoquanva.gov 

www.occoquanva.gov 
 
 

 
 

STAFF REPORT 
TOWN OF OCCOQUAN 

VISTAS AT OCCOQUAN 
 
Applicant: DR Horton Prepared by: Ned A. Marshall 
 
Date: April 15, 2020 
  

PART I 
 
A. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1. The applicant executed an Agreement for maintenance and posted a 1year maintenance 
bond to cover the costs of potential failed landscaping.  The maintenance bond was posted 
in the amount of $4,974.50. 

 
 
B. DESCRIPTION OF PETITION 

The Applicant requests the release of the currently posted landscape maintenance bond. 
 
C. APPLICABLE REGULATIONS 
 
 1. § 156.068 Improvements (J) (2) Maintenance Bond 
 
 

PART II 
 
A. ANALYSIS OF EXISTING CONDITIONS 
 
1. Lot Area  - ±0.97 acres 
 
2. Location  -  East side of Ellicott Street, north of Union Street 
 
3. Buildings/Structures  - 8 Townhouse units, Zoned R-3 
 
4. Access  - Ellicott  Street 
 
5. As-Built Status – Approved by Town Council May 5, 2017 
 
6. Surety Status –  Site is in conformance with approved plans. 
 
7. Landscaping – The landscaping was confirmed to be in conformance with the approved plans. 

TOWN COUNCIL 
Earnest W. Porta, Jr., Mayor 
Patrick A. Sivigny, Vice Mayor 
J. Matthew Dawson 
Cindy Fithian 
Laurie Holloway 
Eliot Perkins 
 
TOWN MANAGER 
Kathleen R. Leidich, AICP 

 



Member of the Virginia Municipal League 
 

 
PART III 

 
STAFF CONCLUSIONS 
 
Landscaping has been placed in general accordance with the approved site plan. (with a generally 
accepted plant substitution).   
 
I recommend the release of the landscape maintenance bond. 
 

 
 
 
PREPARED BY: Ned A. Marshall, Zoning Administrator 
DATE PREPARED:  April 15, 2020 
 
 
cc: File 
 Kathleen Leidich, Town Manager, Town of Occoquan 
  
 





















TOWN OF OCCOQUAN 

  TOWN COUNCIL MEETING 
                                         Agenda Communication 
 

 

10. Regular Business Meeting Date: August 4, 2020 

10 d: Zoning Administrator Appointments 

   
Explanation and Summary: 
The Town’s current Zoning Administrator, Ned Marshall, is retiring in September and 
has provided notice that he will be resigning as Zoning Administrator August 31, 2020.  
Legacy Engineering, which currently serves as the Town’s Engineer, has offered to 
provide this service as their existing rate of $180 per hour, which is a reduction from the 
rate the Town currently pays for these services.  This action would appoint Sara R. Fila 
of Legacy Engineering as Zoning Administrator and reappoint Bruce Reese of Legacy 
Engineering as Deputy Zoning Administrator. 
 
Cost and Financing:   N/A 
Account Number:  N/A 
 
Proposed/Suggested Motion: 
 
“I move to appoint Sara R. Fila as Zoning Administrator.” 
 
AND 
 
“I move to reappoint Bruce Reese as Deputy Zoning Administrator.” 
 
OR 
 
Other action Council deems appropriate. 
 
 





| | 

 

 
Dedicated Service, Inspired Design. 

www.legacy-eng.com 
419 Chatham Square Office Park 

Fredericksburg, VA 22401 540.373.8350 office 

 
 
 
July 23, 2020 
 
 
Via email: EPorta@occoquanva.gov 
 
 
Mayor Earnie W. Porta, Jr. 
Town of Occoquan 
314 Mill Street 
P.O. Box 195 
Occoquan, VA  22125 
 
 
Re: Zoning Administrator 
 
 
Dear Mayor Porta; 
 
In light of Mr. Ned Marshall’s impending retirement, eliminating the Town’s Zoning Administrator, 
I would like to suggest that until a more permanent solution is introduced and vetted, Sara R. Fila, 
PE be named the Zoning Administrator.  I would continue as a Deputy Zoning Administrator in 
cases where Sara was not immediately available, and as a general back-up. 
 
This option would fill the position while alternatives could be considered.  Sara has over 15 years of 
land development and zoning experience and would be well suited as the interim Zoning 
Administrator.  This option also allows for a smooth transition following Ned’s departure, 
permitting me to assist Sara as needed with historic perspective. 
 
I am happy to answer any question or discuss further. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
LEGACY ENGINEERING, PC 

 
Bruce A. Reese, PE, LS 
Executive Vice President 



TOWN OF OCCOQUAN 

  TOWN COUNCIL MEETING 
                                         Agenda Communication 
 

 

10. Regular Business Meeting Date: August 4, 2020 

10 e: Retention of Quist & Associates, LLC for Accounting Consulting Services 

   
Explanation and Summary: 
The Town wishes to again contract with Quist & Associates, LLC to provide accounting 
consulting services to the Town Treasurer as outlined in the attached engagement letter 
and draft contract. The rate for such services is $90 per hour and the contract will run 
through June 30, 2021. Funds are budgeted in FY 2021 for this purpose. The contract has 
been reviewed by the Town attorney. 
 
Cost and Financing:   N/A 
Account Number:  N/A 
 
Proposed/Suggested Motion: 
 
“I move to authorize the Mayor to sign the engagement letter and contract to retain 
Quist & Associates, LLC, for accounting consulting services.” 
 
OR 
 
Other action Council deems appropriate. 
 
 



Page 1 of 3 
 

QUIST & ASSOCIATES, LLC 
P.O. BOX 372 

OCCOQUAN, VA  22125 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
July 28, 2020 
 
 
Town of Occoquan 
Attn: Mayor Earnie Porta, JD, PhD 
314 Mill Street 
PO Box 195 
Occoquan, VA  22125 
 
 
Dear Mayor Porta, 

This letter is to confirm our understanding of the terms and objectives of our engagement and the nature 
and limitations of the services we will provide to the Town of Occoquan. 

We will provide the following services through June 30, 2021: 

1. Assist Treasurer with monthly/quarterly closing 
2. Suggest adjusting journal entries 
3. Assist in preparation of audit fieldwork schedules 
4. Assist Treasurer and Town Manager in development of standard operating procedures 
5. Assist in creation of a professional development program (suggested training/coursework, etc.) 
6. Other consulting services, as needed 

Our engagement is limited to the period and the services indicated above.  We will not audit or review 
your financial statements, or any other accounting documents and information you provide, in accordance 
with generally accepted auditing standards.  Accordingly, we ask that you not in any manner refer to this 
as an audit or review.  Nor will we otherwise verify the data you submit for accuracy or completeness.  
Rather, we will rely on the accuracy and completeness of the documents and information you provide to 
us.  Accordingly, our engagement cannot be relied upon to disclose errors, fraud, or other illegal acts that 
may exist.  However, it may be necessary to ask you for clarification of some of the information you 
provide, and we will inform you of any errors, fraud or other illegal acts that come to our attention, unless 
they are clearly inconsequential.  In addition, we have no responsibility to identify and communicate 
significant deficiencies or material weaknesses in your internal controls as part of this engagement, and 
our engagement cannot, therefore, be relied upon to make disclosure of such matters. 

You are responsible for adopting sound accounting policies, for maintaining an adequate and efficient 
accounting system, for safeguarding assets, for authorizing transactions, for retaining supporting 
documentation for those transactions, and for devising a system of internal controls that will, among other 



Page 2 of 3 
 

things, help assure the preparation of proper financial statements.  Furthermore, you are responsible for 
management decisions and functions, for designating a competent employee to oversee any of the 
services we provide, and for evaluating the adequacy and results of those services.  

For purposes of entry of the financial information from your basic transaction documents, classification 
according to the agreed-upon chart of accounts will be performed by you or your employees.  As business 
conditions change, we may mutually agree to change/modify this arrangement.   

For the period of the engagement, our fees will be billed at the rate of $90.00 per hour.  Invoices will be 
generated on or around the 5th of each month. 

If we elect to terminate our services for nonpayment, or for any other reason provided, our engagement 
will be deemed to have been completed upon written notification of termination.  You will be obligated to 
compensate us through the date of termination.         

It is our policy to retain engagement documentation for a period of seven years, after which time we will 
commence the process of destroying the contents of the engagement files.  To the extent we accumulate 
any of your original records during the engagement, those documents will be returned to you promptly 
upon completion of the engagement.  The balance of the engagement file is our property, and we will 
provide copies of such documents at our discretion and if compensated for any time and costs associated 
with the effort.     

Except as permitted in the immediately following paragraph, we agree not to disclose your confidential 
and/or proprietary information to any individual or entity unless you provide us with your express prior 
written consent.  We also agree to comply at all times with applicable statutory and professional standards 
for physical, electronic and procedural safeguards for confidential and/or proprietary information.  

In the event we are required to respond to a subpoena, court order or other legal process for the 
production of documents and/or testimony relative to information we obtained and/or prepared during the 
course of this engagement, you agree to compensate us at our standard hourly rates then existing for the 
time we expend in connection with such response, and to reimburse us for all out-of-pocket costs incurred 
in that regard. 

This engagement letter is contractual in nature and includes all of the relevant terms that will govern the 
engagement for which it has been prepared.  The terms of this letter supersede any prior oral or written 
representations or commitments by or between the parties.  Any material changes or additions to the 
terms set forth in this letter will only become effective if evidenced by a written amendment to this letter, 
signed by all of the parties.   

We appreciate the opportunity to serve you.  Please contact me with any questions that you may have. 

 

Very truly yours, 

 

 

Elizabeth A. C. Quist 



Page 3 of 3 
 

ACCEPTED AND AGREED: 

 

Town of Occoquan 

 

 

_____________________________________     ___________ 

By:          Date  

Its:    



 1 

TOWN OF OCCOQUAN  
STANDARD CONTRACT FOR GOODS, SERVICES, CONSTRUCTION AND INSURANCE 

 
This Contract is entered into on and as of its Effective Date by and between the TOWN OF 
OCCOQUAN, a body politic and corporate of the Commonwealth of Virginia (hereinafter, 
“Town”), and QUIST & ASSOCIATES, LLC (hereinafter “Contractor”), for Goods, Services, 
Construction and/or Insurance identified herein, on the following terms and conditions: 
 
SOLICITATION TITLE: On-Call Financial Assistance 
 
SOLICITATION NUMBER: N/A 
 
I. DEFINITIONS  

A. Capitalized terms that are defined in the VPPA, Town Policy, or the Town’s standard 
Solicitation for Goods, Services, Construction or Insurance have the same meanings in 
this Contract as are given in that law, policy, or Solicitation.  Capitalized terms not 
defined in those sources but used in this Contract have the following meanings, unless the 
context clearly requires otherwise.  Undefined terms have their common meanings 
appropriate to their context.   

1. “Contract Administrator” means the person designated by the Town Council to 
administer the Contract for the Town.  The initial Contract Administrator is Kathleen 
Leidich, but the Town Council may designate a new Contract Administrator by 
notice to the Contractor. 

2. “Contractor's Representative” means the person who is responsible for the 
performance obligation of the Contractor under this Contract.  The initial Contractor’s 
Representative is Elizabeth A. C. Quist, but the Contractor may designate a new 
Contractor’s Representative by notice to the Town. 

3. “Drug-free workplace” means a site for the performance of work done in connection 
with a specific contract awarded to a contractor, the employees of whom are 
prohibited from engaging in the unlawful manufacture, sale, dispensation, possession 
or use of any controlled substance or marijuana during the performance of the 
contract. 

4. “Notice of Default” means a notice sent to the other party’s designee (Contract 
Administrator for the Town, Contractor’s Representative for the Contractor) setting 
forth the facts showing that party to be in default under the Contract. 

5. “Notice of Termination” means a notice sent to the other party’s designee (Contract 
Administrator for the Town, Contractor’s Representative for the Contractor) 
informing that party of the termination of the Contract as of a particular date. 

6. “Town” means the Town of Occoquan, Virginia, the Town Council, or the Council’s 
designee assigned responsibility for this Contract, as permitted by the context. 



 2 

7. “Using Department” for purposes of this Contract shall mean Administration. 

II. FORMATION 
 
A. Conditions Precedent to Formation:  

Before any Contract between the Town and the Contractor is effective, the following 
conditions precedent must be satisfied.  Satisfaction of these conditions is the 
responsibility of the Contractor.  If, after performance under the Contract, the Town 
learns that a condition precedent was not met, the Town may, if permitted by law, ratify 
the Contract by affirmative recorded vote or may disclaim it, in its sole discretion.  

1. Insurance: If the Solicitation requires certain insurance, the Contractor must provide 
proof of insurance in the amounts required by the Solicitation with an insurance 
company licensed to do business in the Commonwealth of Virginia.   

2. Bonds: If the Solicitation requires payment or performance bonds, then bonds with 
surety satisfactory to the Town attorney shall be submitted to the Contract 
Administrator for approval.   

3. Permits and licenses: If the procurement of the Goods, Services, Insurance or 
Construction that is the subject of this Contract requires possession of any licenses or 
receipt of any permits other than construction permits, then Contractor shall obtain 
those licenses and permits.   

4. Payment of Debts: Contractor must pay all amounts shown as due to the Town on the 
Town’s accounts, even if a dispute exists as to the debt’s validity or enforceability.   

B. Parties 

1. The sole parties to this Contract are the Town of Occoquan and the Contractor.  

2. Neither this Contract, nor any part hereof, may be assigned by the Contractor to any 
other party without the express written permission of the Town in advance.  No 
assignment without such permission will relieve the Contractor of any responsibility 
under this Contract. 
 

3. There are no intended third party beneficiaries of this Contract, unless it is made 
available by rider for other governmental entities to use.  Making the Contract 
available to them by rider is the sole extent of the intended third party benefit.   
 

4. If this Contract is made available by rider for other governmental entities to use, any 
contracts formed between the Contractor and such other governmental entities shall 
be solely between those parties.  The Town shall not be a party to any of these 
Contracts.   
 

5. Contractor may not subcontract any of the work under this Contract without the prior, 
written approval of the Town, which will not be unreasonably withheld.  The 



 3 

Contractor will, prior to award of the contract, provide the Town with a written list of 
each proposed subcontractor and the work to be done by that subcontractor. The 
Town shall, after reasonable investigation, promptly inform the Contractor if it 
objects to a particular subcontractor. If the Town objects, the Contractor will not use 
that subcontractor for any part of the work and will promptly submit in writing for the 
Town’s approval the name of another subcontractor (or propose to use the 
Contractor’s own personnel) to perform those portions of the work. The Contractor 
will not change a subcontractor without giving the Town written notice of the 
proposed new Subcontractor and receiving the Town’s approval after reasonable 
investigation. If the Town objects, the Contractor will either retain the existing 
subcontractor or propose a different subcontractor to the Town for approval. It is the 
Contractor’s responsibility to obtain subcontractors whom the Town approves, and no 
delay due to the Town’s objection to a subcontractor will authorize any change in the 
time required to perform the work.   

C. Authority to Execute 

By executing this Contract on behalf of Contractor, the Contractor’s Representative 
warrants that he or she has full authority to do so.   

D. Incorporation of Documents 

The Contract consists of the following documents, which are hereby incorporated by 
reference and fully made a part of the Contract.  This Contract and the incorporated 
documents describe the subject of the Procurement, the particulars of its performance, the 
process and time for payment, and the rights and remedies of the parties (collectively, 
“the terms”).  In case of any conflict between those documents’ terms, the documents 
shall be given precedence in the following order, from highest to lowest: 

1. The Specifications of the Solicitation (if any) with solicitation title and matching 
identification number to this Contract,  
 

2. This Contract,  
 
3. The General Provisions of the Solicitation (if any) with solicitation title and 

matching identification number to this Contract, 
 
4. The Bid Submission Form or Proposal of the Vendor (if any) with solicitation title 

and matching identification number to this Contract. 

If there was no formal Solicitation, the specifications must be attached to this Contract 
and separately signed or initialed for them to be valid. 

E. Effective Date 

The Effective Date of this Contract shall be the last to occur of (1) the date on which the 
Contractor’s Representative signs the Contract, (2) the date on which the Mayor signs the 
Contract, and (3) the date that all conditions precedent to formation are satisfied. 



 4 

 

III. PERFORMANCE  
 
A. Scope of Work 

1. The Contractor will provide on-call financial assistance on an as-needed basis to 
the Town.  On-call assistance includes both remote and occasional on-site 
services. 

2. Assistance will include, but is not limited to, serving as a resource for various 
government finance related activities and questions for the Town Treasurer, and 
other governmental finance and budgeting needs. 

3. See attached proposal dated July 28, 2020 for additional scope of work detail 
and cost. 

 
B. Notice to Proceed 

After execution of the Contract and receipt of any documents required by the Contract 
Administrator before the Effective Date of this Contract, the Contract Administrator shall 
send the Contractor notice to proceed with the Contract as of a date mutually agreeable to 
the Town and Contractor.   

C. Contacts 

In addition to the Contract Administrator and the Contractor’s Representative, the parties 
may designate additional contacts for exchange of information. 

D. Acceptance of Work 

Performance of the work and delivery of all Goods shall be conducted and completed in 
accordance with recognized and customarily accepted industry practices and shall be 
considered complete when the services are approved as acceptable by the Contract  

Administrator.  In the event of rejection of any deliverable, the Contractor shall be 
notified and shall have fourteen (14) calendar days from date of issuance of notification 
to correct the deficiencies and resubmit the deliverable. 

E. Warranty  

The Contractor warrants that all Services it performs and all Goods, Insurance, and 
Construction it delivers to the Town will be of good quality and meet the specifications 
of this Contract and of all literature supplied by the Contractor as part of the selection 
process which led to the award of this Contract.  “Literature” as used in this provision 
means any and all brochures, fliers, catalogs, Proposals, web sites, email, or other 
information, in whatever written form, relating to the quality, utility, economic 
advantages, or composition of the Goods or Services.  This warranty is in addition to and 
does not substitute for the Contractor’s warranties of title, against infringement, of 
merchantability, and of fitness for particular purpose under Virginia Code §§ 8.2-312, 
8.2-314, and 8.2-315, which the parties expressly agree apply to this Contract. 



 5 

F. Invoices 
1. Unless otherwise provided in the Solicitation, Vendor will submit all its invoices 

for payment in the fiscal year in which the Goods, Services, Insurance or 
Construction were provided or within thirty days thereafter.  Late invoices are 
subject to rejection if no appropriated funds are available for their payment. 

2. The invoice must be in the name of the Contractor unless an assignment has been 
received and approved by the Town.   

G. Payment 

1. In return for the goods, services, construction and/or insurance that are the subject 
of this Contract, and subject to section IV.D) of this Contract relating to “Non-
appropriation of Funds,” the Town shall compensate the Contractor within thirty 
(30) days after receipt of proper invoice for the amount of payment due or thirty 
(30) days after receipt of the goods or services, whichever is later provided that an 
unconditional lien release is provided from the Contractor and all subcontractors 
who provided any goods and/or services for which the Town is being charged. 

2. With Construction contracts, the Town shall retain 10% of the amount earned for 
work done and materials delivered as retainage, to be paid in the final payment to 
the Contractor. 

3. Within seven days after receipt of amounts paid to the Contractor by the Town for 
satisfactorily completed performance, the Contractor agrees to: 

a. Pay each subcontractor for the proportionate share of the total payment 
received from the Town attributable to the work performed by each 
subcontractor under that contract; or 

b. Notify the Town and subcontractor, in writing, of his intention to withhold 
all or a part of the subcontractor’s payment with the reason for nonpayment. 

If the Contractor after having received payment from the Town fails to pay each 
subcontractor its proportionate share of the total payment, the Contractor shall be 
obligated to pay interest to each subcontractor on all amounts that remain unpaid 
after the seven days following receipt by the Contractor of payment from the 
Town. Under no circumstances will the Town pay or reimburse this interest 
payment. 

4. Unless otherwise provided under the terms of this Contract or by statute, interest 
shall accrue at a rate of one percent per month or twelve percent per annum 
against the Contractor on any unpaid amounts owed to each subcontractor. 

5. The Contractor shall include in each of its subcontracts a provision requiring each 
subcontractor to include or otherwise be subject to the same payment and interest 
requirements with respect to each lower-tier subcontractor. 



 6 

6. A Contractor that is an individual must provide his or her social security number 
and a Contractor that is any form of business entity must provide its federal 
employer identification number to the Contract Administrator before payment can 
be made.  This requirement permits the Town to comply with federal reporting 
requirements for income tax. 

7. The Town may offset any payment due to Contractor by any debt shown on the 
Town’s accounts, even if a dispute exists as to the debt’s validity or 
enforceability. 

IV. TERM AND TERMINATION 
 
A. Base Term and Extensions 

1. The base term for this Contract shall be for the period identified in the Solicitation or 
the approved schedule provided by the Town. 

2. This Contract may be extended as provided in the Solicitation or by change order or 
amendment.  No extension in time may increase the price without a recorded 
affirmative vote of the Town Council.  The Town may extend the term of this 
Contract for services to allow completion of work undertaken but not completed 
under its original term. 

B. Termination for Default 

1. Either party may terminate this Contract, without further obligation, for the default of 
the other party or its agents or employees with respect to any agreement or provision 
contained herein. 

2. Except in an emergency endangering life, safety, or the operation of the public, the 
party claiming default shall provide notice and an opportunity to cure the default to 
the other party before terminating the Contract for default.   

a. Notice of Default shall be given at least ten business days before the date set for 
termination and shall set forth the grounds for claiming default of the other party 
and the steps demanded to cure the default. 

b. If the party receiving the Notice of Default cures the default before the end of the 
cure period set out in the Notice, then the party sending the Notice of Default 
shall not terminate the Contract for default.   

3. If the period for cure passes without curing of the default, then the party sending the 
Notice of Default may send a Notice of Termination for default to the defaulting 
party. 

4. Default of one party shall not excuse the default of the other party.  If either party is 
in default, either or both may send a Notice of Default and, if warranted, a Notice of 
Termination.   



 7 

 

C. Termination for Convenience 

1. The Town may terminate this Contract or any work or delivery required hereunder 
from time-to-time either in whole or in part, whenever the Contract Administrator, 
with the concurrence of the Town Council, determines that such termination is in the 
best interest of the Town.   

2. Termination may occur in whole or as to any discrete part of the Contract.  A partial 
termination shall set forth the portions of the Contract which are terminated. 

3. The effective date of the termination shall be three days after issuance of a Notice of 
Termination signed by the Contract Administrator and Mayor and its mailing or 
delivery to the Contractor, or any later date specifically set forth in the Notice of 
Termination. 

4. The Contractor may terminate this contract upon 30 days written notice to the Town.   

D. Termination for Non-Appropriation 

1. If funds are not appropriated for purposes of this Contract for any succeeding fiscal 
year subsequent to the one in which this Contract is entered into, then the Town may 
terminate this Contract upon thirty (30) days written notice to the Contractor.  The 
notice shall set forth the grounds for termination and its effective date. 

2. If the Town terminates for non-appropriation, the Town shall be liable only for 
payments due through the effective date of termination. 

3. Until the effective date of the termination, the Contractor shall continue to perform its 
duties under the Contract and is not excused from any portion of the Contract. 

E. Claims Upon Termination 

1. Upon receipt of a Notice of Termination, the Contractor shall:  

a. Cease any further deliveries or work due under this Contract, on the date, and to 
the extent, which may be specified in the Notice; 

b. Place no further orders with any subcontractors except as may be necessary to 
perform any portion of the Contract not subject to the Notice (in the case of 
partial termination only); 

c. Terminate all subcontractors except to the extent necessary to complete work 
which was not subject to the Notice (in the case of partial termination only); 

d. Settle all outstanding liabilities and claims which may arise out of such 
termination, with the ratification of the Contract Administrator; and  



 8 

e. Use its best efforts to mitigate any damages which may be sustained by the 
Contractor or any of its subcontractors as a consequence of termination under this 
clause.  

2. After complying with the foregoing provisions, the Contractor shall submit a 
termination claim within thirty days unless an extension is granted by the Contract 
Administrator.  This termination claim shall document all amounts due under this 
provision. 

a. Upon receipt of the Contractor’s termination claim, the Contract Administrator, 
with the approval of the Town Council, shall pay from the Town's budget the 
reasonable costs of termination, including a reasonable amount for profit on 
services delivered or completed.  In no event shall this amount be greater than the 
original contract price, reduced by any payments made prior to Notice of 
Termination, and further reduced by the price of the goods or services not 
delivered, or those goods or services not provided.  The calculation of the amount 
to be paid the Contractor shall be documented and made a part of the Contract 
file. 

b. If the parties cannot agree on the whole amount to be paid to the Contractor by 
reason of termination under this clause, the Contract Administrator shall pay the 
Contractor from the Town’s budget the amounts determined as follows, without 
duplicating any amount which may have already been paid under the preceding 
paragraph a of this clause 2:  

i. With respect to all Contract performance prior to the effective date of Notice 
of Termination, the total of:  

• Cost of the goods delivered or work performed; and  

• The cost of settling and paying any reasonable claims as provided above; 
and  

• A sum as profit on work performed determined by the Contract 
Administrator to be fair and reasonable.  

ii. The total sum to be paid shall not exceed the Contract price, as reduced by the 
amount of payments otherwise made, and as further reduced by the Contract 
price of goods or services not terminated.  

c. If the Contractor is not satisfied with any payments which the Contract 
Administrator determines to be due under this provision, the Contractor may 
appeal any claim to the Town in accordance with section VI.C)(1), Submission of 
Disputes.  

3. The Contractor shall include similar provisions for termination in any subcontractors 
and shall require subcontractors to make reasonable efforts to mitigate damages if the 
Contract is terminated.  Failure to include such provisions shall bar the Contractor 



 9 

from any recovery from the Town whatsoever for loss or damage sustained by a 
subcontractor as a consequence of termination. 

F. Survival of Certain Provisions After Termination 

Notwithstanding the termination of this Contract, the following provisions remain in 
effect until they are waived in writing, expire by their own terms, or become 
unenforceable by operation of law: sections 0, VI, VII.A), VII.B), and VII.D).   

V. STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS 

A. Employment Discrimination 

In all contracts, regardless of contract amount, the Contractor will abide by the provisions 
of the Americans with Disabilities Act, and will require each sub-contractor to do so.   If 
this Contract is for a consideration in excess of Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000.00), then 
during the performance of this Contract, the Contractor agrees as follows:  

1. The Contractor will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for 
employment because of race, religion, color, sex, national origin, age, disability, or 
other basis prohibited by state law relating to discrimination in employment, except 
where there is a bona fide occupational qualification reasonably necessary to the 
normal operation of the Contractor.  The Contractor agrees to post in conspicuous 
places, available to employees and applicants for employment, notices setting forth 
the provisions of this non-discrimination clause.  

2. The Contractor, in all solicitations or advertisements for employees placed by or on 
behalf of the Contractor, will state that such Contractor is an equal opportunity 
employer.  

3. Notices, advertisements, and solicitations placed in accordance with Federal law, rule, 
or regulation shall be deemed sufficient for the purpose of meeting the requirements 
of this paragraph.  

4. The Contractor will include the provisions of this Contract paragraph in every 
subcontract or purchase order over $10,000, so that the provisions will be binding 
upon each subcontractor or vendor.  

B. Ethics 

The provisions contained in Chapter 43, Article 6, Sections 2.2-4367 through 2.2-4377 of 
the Virginia Public Procurement Act, as set forth in the 1950 Code of Virginia, as 
amended, apply to this contract.  The provisions of Article 6 of Chapter 43 supplement, 
but do not supersede, other provisions of law including, but not limited to, the Virginia 
Conflict of Interest Act (§ 2.2-3100 et seq.), the Virginia Governmental Frauds Act 
(§ 18.2-498.1 et seq.) and Articles 2 and 3 of Chapter 10 of Title 18.2.  The provisions 
apply notwithstanding the fact that the conduct described may not constitute a violation 
of the Virginia Conflict of Interests Act. 



 10 

 

C. Drug-Free Workplace 

During the performance of this contract the contractor agrees to: 

1. Provide a drug-free workplace for the Contractor’s employees. 

2. Post in conspicuous places, available to employees and applicants for employment a 
statement notifying employees that the unlawful manufacture, sale, distribution, 
dispensation, possession, or use of a controlled substance or marijuana is prohibited 
in the contractor’s workplace and specifying the actions that will be taken against 
employees for violations of such prohibition. 

3. State in all solicitations or advertisement for employees placed by or on behalf of the 
contractor that the contractor maintains a drug-free workplace. 

4. Include the provisions of the foregoing clauses in every subcontract or purchase order 
of over $10,000.00, or so that the provisions will be binding upon each subcontractor 
or vendor. 

D. Faith-Based Organizations 

The Town of Occoquan in procuring goods and services, or in making disbursements 
pursuant to this section, shall not discriminate against a faith-based organization on the 
basis of the organization’s religious character or impose conditions that restrict the 
religious character of the faith-based organization, except funds provided for expenditure 
pursuant to contracts with public bodies shall not be spent on religious worship, 
instruction, or proselytizing, or impair, diminish, or discourage the exercise of religious 
freedom by the recipients of such goods, services, or disbursement. 

E. Employment of Illegal Aliens 

The contractor agrees that it does not, and shall not during the performance of this 
contract for goods and services, knowingly employ any unauthorized alien or aliens as 
defined in the federal Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986. 

F. Foreign And Domestic Business Authorized to Transact Business in the 
Commonwealth 

1. A contractor organized as a stock or nonstock corporation, limited liability company, 
business trust, or limited partnership or registered as a registered limited liability 
partnership shall be authorized to transact business in the Commonwealth as a 
domestic or foreign business entity if so required by Title 13.1 or Title 50 or as 
otherwise required by law. 
 

2. A contractor organized as a stock or nonstock corporation, limited liability company, 
business trust, or limited partnership or registered as a registered limited liability 



 11 

partnership shall not allow its existence to lapse or its certificate of authority or 
registration to transact business in the Commonwealth, if so required under Title 13.1 
or Title 50, to be revoked or cancelled at any time during the term of this contract. 
The Town may void any contract with a business entity if the business entity fails to 
remain in compliance with this provision. 

 
VI. DISPUTES 

A. Governing Law 

This Contract is governed by the law of the Commonwealth of Virginia, including but not 
limited to the applicable portions of the Virginia Public Procurement Act (VPPA), 
Sections 2.2-4300 et seq. of the Code of Virginia (1950), as amended.  As a town of less 
than 3,500 population, the Town is exempt from all portions of the VPPA except as 
provided in Virginia Code § 2.2-4343 A(9).  The Town reserves the right to adopt 
generally applicable policies on procurement, which will apply to this Contract except to 
the extent anything in such policies is inconsistent with the express terms of this 
Contract. 

B. Hold Harmless 

1. To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Contractor shall indemnify, defend, and 
hold harmless the Town and its officers, agents, employees, community 
representatives, volunteers or others working on behalf of the Town from any and all 
claims, judgments, suits, losses, damages, payments, costs, fines and/or fees levied 
against the Owner and expenses of every nature and description, including attorney’s 
fees, arising out of, connected or associated with or resulting from the lack of 
performance or the negligent performance of work as described in this Contract, 
Contract Documents or any agreement that results from  this Contract.  Further, if the 
Contractor subcontracts for work, it will require in its subcontracts that each 
subcontractor indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the Town and its officers, agents, 
employees and community representatives, from any and all claims and losses 
accruing or resulting from the negligent performance of work as described in any 
agreement that results from this Contract. 

2. To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Contractor shall also indemnify, defend, 
and hold harmless the Town and its officers, agents, employees, community 
representatives, volunteers or others working on behalf of the Town against all costs, 
including reasonable attorney’s fees, arising from liens encumbering the Town’s 
Property filed by subcontractors, sub-subcontractors, material suppliers, and all other 
persons and entities acting for and under the Contractor, and the Contractor shall 
immediately discharge or bond such liens off. 

3. Virginia is a Dillon Rule state.  Unless specifically permitted by statute, 
indemnification or any attempt to have the Town hold others harmless is invalid and 
unenforceable as an impermissible waiver of the Town’s sovereign immunity which 



 12 

may create potential future debt in violation of Virginia Constitutional and statutory 
requirements. The Town cannot waive its sovereign immunity. 

4. The services to be performed by personnel provided by Quist and Associates will be 
performed under the direction, supervision and control of the Town of Occoquan. 

C. Conditions Precedent to Pursuit of Legal Remedies  

Before the Contractor may exercise any legal remedy it may have in relation to rights 
arising out of this Contract, it must comply fully and strictly with each of the applicable 
conditions below.  Failure to comply fully and strictly with an applicable condition 
precedent bars the Contractor from exercising any legal remedies it may otherwise have 
in relation to this Contract until it complies with the condition precedent or the Town 
knowingly and intentionally waives the condition precedent. 

1. Submission of Disputes: A Contractor must submit any dispute arising out of this 
Contract to the Town for adjustment.  In doing so, it shall provide all relevant 
evidence that bears on the Town’s liability for the amount claimed or responsibility to 
grant any non-monetary relief requested.   

2. Disputes by the Contractor with respect to this Contract shall be decided within 
fifteen (15) days from submission by the Town Council’s designee, who shall reduce 
his/her decision to writing, and mail or otherwise furnish a copy thereof to the 
Contractor.  This decision shall be final and binding unless within five (5) days from 
the date of such decision the Contractor mails or otherwise furnishes the Mayor a 
written appeal addressed to the Town Council.  The Town Council shall consider the 
appeal and render its written decision within forty (40) days.  The decision of the 
Town Council shall be final and binding unless set aside by a court of competent 
jurisdiction as fraudulent, capricious, arbitrary, or so grossly erroneous as necessarily 
to imply bad faith, or as not supported by any evidence.  Pending a final 
determination of a properly appealed decision of the Town Council’s designee, the 
Contractor shall proceed diligently with the performance of the Contract in 
accordance with that decision. 

D. Venue 

Any action brought under this Contract must be brought in the state courts for the County 
of Prince William and may not be removed to the Federal Court system. 

E. Limitations on Actions 

Any action brought under this Contract, except an action for breach of warranty, shall be 
brought within the shorter of the statutory limitations period and the period of three years 
from the date of final payment without any tolling of this statutory limitations period for 
any reason whatsoever.   

F. Waiver of Jury Trial 



 13 

In any action brought under this Contract, the parties expressly waive their right to trial 
by jury and agree to submit all questions of fact to the judge as trier of fact. 

 

VII. MISCELLANEOUS 

A. Time of the Essence 

Time shall be of the essence to this Contract, except where it is herein specifically 
provided to the contrary. 

1. If the Contractor at any time finds that the schedule will not be met for any reason, 
the Contractor shall so notify the Town in writing.   

2. Where Contractor is prevented from completing any part of the Work within the 
Contract Period due to abnormal weather conditions the Contract Period will be 
extended in an amount calculated as stated in Subsection VI(B)(5) below if a Claim is 
made therefor in writing and provided to the Town within the time frame and in the 
manner prescribed and if the performance of the Work is not, was not, or would not 
have been delayed by any other cause for which the Contractor is not entitled to an 
extension of the Contract Period under the Contract Documents. 

3. Contractor acknowledges and agrees that adjustments in the Contract Period will be 
permitted for a delay only to the extent such delay (i) is not caused, or could not have 
been anticipated, by Contractor; (ii) could not be limited or avoided by the 
Contractor's timely notice to the Town of the delay or reasonable likelihood that a 
delay will occur; and (iii) is of a duration not less than one day.  Such an adjustment 
of time shall be Contractor’s sole and exclusive remedy for the delays described in 
this Section. 

4. Actual adverse weather delay days must prevent work on critical activities outdoors 
for fifty percent (50%) or more of Contractor’s scheduled workday in order to be 
counted.  The number of actual adverse weather delay days shall include days 
impacted by actual adverse weather (even if adverse weather occurred in previous 
month), be calculated chronologically from the first to the last day of each month, and 
be recorded as full days.  Where Contractor is prevented from completing any part of 
the Work within the Contract Period due to abnormal weather conditions, the 
Contract Period will be extended in an amount equal to the time lost due to such delay 
if a Claim is made therefore as provided herein. Abnormal weather conditions occur 
only if the total number of actual adverse weather days exceeds the standard for that 
month as shown in the following table:  

Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec 
7 7 8 7 8 7 8 8 6 6 6 6 
 
5. Upon commencement of on-site activities and continuing throughout construction, 

Contractor shall record daily the occurrence of adverse weather and resultant impact 



 14 

to normally scheduled work and within 30 days of the last day of any month 
(hereinafter referred to as the “Reporting Month”), Contractor shall submit a written 
adverse weather report, including copies of Contractor’s daily weather reports and 
applicable climatological data from the National Oceanic and Atmospheric 
Administration (NOAA) or similar data for the project location, unless the Town 
allows, in writing, an additional period of time for the submission of said report.  
Notwithstanding any other provisions, failure to submit the required written report 
within the time specified above shall be deemed to be and shall constitute a waiver by 
Contractor of any and all claims for delay due to adverse weather conditions 
occurring during said Reporting Month. 

6. The Town shall not be liable to Contractor for any claims, costs, losses, or damages 
(including but not limited to all fees and charges of Engineers, architects, attorneys, 
and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) 
sustained by Contractor on or in connection with any other project or anticipated 
project. 

7. Contractor shall not be entitled to an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Period 
for delays within the control of Contractor.  Delays attributable to and within the 
control of a Subcontractor or Supplier shall be deemed to be delays within the control 
of Contractor. 

B. Liquidated Damages 

1. Alternatively, if performance is so delayed, the Town may terminate this Contract in 
whole or in part under the Default clause in this Contract and in that event, the 
Contractor shall be liable for fixed, agreed and liquidated damages accruing until the 
time the Town may reasonably obtain performance of similar services.  The 
liquidated damages shall be in addition to any increased costs incurred by the Town 
in completing the work and shall be paid to the Town upon demand.  

2. The Contractor shall not be charged with liquidated damages when the delay in 
performance arises out of causes beyond the control and without the fault or 
negligence of the Contractor. Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Contract, 
it is mutually understood that any time extensions for changes in the work will 
depend upon the extent, if any, by which the changes cause delay in the completion of 
the various elements of this Contract. The change order granting the time extension 
may provide that the completion date will be extended only for those specific 
elements so delayed and that the remaining completion dates for all other portions of 
the work will not be altered and may further provide for an equitable readjustment of 
liquidated damages under the new completion schedule.  

C. Integration Clause; Modifications to the Contract 

1. This Contract, including its incorporated documents, contains the whole agreement 
between the parties as to its subject, and no prior or contemporaneous 
communications, representations, or agreements, written or verbal, may alter, add to, 



 15 

or contradict any provision in it.  There are no promises, terms, conditions, or 
obligations related to the subject of this Contract other than those contained herein. 

2. All modifications and changes to the Contract shall be in writing and signed by the 
party to be charged, or its authorized representative. Any attempted modification or 
change without the Town’s written approval shall be void and shall be grounds for 
declaring a default. 

3. The Contract Administrator, with the concurrence of the Town Council, shall have 
the authority to order changes in this Contract, which affect the cost or time of 
performance.  Such changes shall be ordered in writing specifically designated to be a 
“Change Order.”   

a. Such orders shall be limited to reasonable changes in the supplies, services to be 
performed or the time of performance; provided that the Contractor shall not be 
excused from performance under the changed Contract by failure to agree to such 
changes, and it is the express purpose of this provision to permit unilateral 
changes in the Contract subject to the conditions and limitations herein.  

b. Contractor need not perform any work described in any Change Order unless it 
has received a written certification from the Town that there are funds budgeted 
and appropriated sufficient to cover the cost of such changes.  

c. The Contractor shall make a demand for payment for completed changed work 
within 30 days of completion of Change Order, unless such time period is 
extended in writing, or unless the Contract Administrator requires submission of a 
cost proposal prior to the initiation of any changed work or services.   

d. No claim for changes made by Change Order shall be considered if made after 
final payment in accordance with the Contract. 

D. Examination of Records 

1. The Contractor agrees that the Town or any duly authorized representative of the 
Town may have access to and the right to examine and copy directly pertinent books, 
documents, papers, and records of the Contractor related to this Contract.  This right 
shall expire on the third anniversary of the issuance of final payment under this 
Contract. 

2. The Contractor further agrees to include in any subcontract for more than $10,000 
entered into as a result of this Contract, a provision to the effect that the subcontractor 
agrees that the Town or any duly authorized representative may have access to and 
the right to examine and copy any directly pertinent books, documents, papers, and 
records of such subcontractor involved in transactions related to such subcontract, or 
this Contract.  The term subcontract as used herein shall exclude subcontracts or 
purchase orders for public utility services at rates established for uniform 
applicability to the general public.  This right expires on the third anniversary of the 
issuance of final payment to the subcontractor. 



 16 

E. Assignment of Rights 

1. Antitrust:  By entering into a contract, the Contractor conveys, sells, assigns, and 
transfers to the Town all rights, title and interest in and to all causes of the action it 
may now have or hereafter acquire under the antitrust laws of the United States and 
the Commonwealth of Virginia, relating to the particular goods or services purchased 
or acquired by the Town under said contract. 

2. Warranty: By entering into a Contract, the Contractor conveys, sells, assigns and 
transfers to the Town all warranties related to goods provided to the Town under this 
Contract. 

F. Incorporation of Town Fleet Vehicle Anti-Idling Policy 

This Contract incorporates by reference the Town Fleet Vehicle Anti-Idling Policy, 
which applies to the Contractor.  

 
IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF, the Town of Occoquan has caused its name to be hereunto 
subscribed by Earnest W. Porta, Jr., its Mayor, with its corporate seal hereunto duly affixed and 
attested by its Clerk, pursuant to authority heretofore duly granted by the Town of Occoquan; 
and 
 
Contractor has caused its name to be hereunto subscribed by Contractor’s Representative, and (if 
a Corporation) has caused its corporate seal to be duly affixed and attested by the person 
authorized to do so, signifying that it intends to be bound by this Contract. 
 
 
THE TOWN OF OCCOQUAN   CONTRACTOR 
By: 
 
 
_______________________________  ________________________________ 
Mayor        Contractor’s Representative 
 
       Elizabeth A.C. Quist, Owner   
       Print Name and Title 
 
ATTEST:      ATTEST: 
 
 
________________________________  __________________________________ 
Clerk       Its: 
 
_____________________    _____________________ 
Date       Date 



TOWN OF OCCOQUAN 
TOWN COUNCIL MEETING 
Agenda Communication 
 

  
 

10. Regular Business Meeting Date: August 4, 2020 
10 f:  Request to Accept Public Safety Grant from Transurban for AEDs 

   
Explanation and Summary: 
This is a request to have the Town Council accept a public safety grant of $3,000 from 
Transurban to purchase two Automated External Defibrillators (AEDs).   
 
An AED, or automated external defibrillator, is used to help those experiencing sudden 
cardiac arrest.  The Town Police are trained in the use of AEDs; however, currently do 
not have an AED for possible medical conditions.  As a result, the Town Police 
submitted a grant request in response to Transurban’s Express Lanes Community Grant 
Program to purchase two AEDs.     
 
The grant does not require any match from the Town.  The Town needs to accept the 
grant and then the funds will be transmitted to the Town to purchase the AEDs.  Upon 
receipt of the grant funds, the Town Police are requesting authorization to purchase the 
two AEDs. 
 
Town Attorney’s Recommendation: N/A 
 
Town Manager’s Recommendation: N/A 
 
Cost and Financing:   $3,000.00 ($3,000.00 to be reimbursed) 
Account Number: (Public Safety Equipment) 
 
Proposed/Suggested Motion: 
“I move to accept the grant funds from Transurban Express Lanes Community Grant 
Program to purchase two Automated External Defibrillators and approve the purchase 
of two AEDs with the grant funds.” 
 
OR 
 
Other action Council deems appropriate 



TOWN OF OCCOQUAN 

TOWN COUNCIL MEETING 
Agenda Communication 
 

 

10. Regular Business Meeting Date: August 4, 2020 

10 h: Proclamation for Women’s Suffrage Day 

   
Explanation and Summary: 
This is a request to proclaim August 18, 2020, as Women’s Suffrage Day in the Town of 
Occoquan.   
 
Cost and Financing:   N/A 
Account Number:  N/A 
 
Proposed/Suggested Motion: 
“I move to approve the 2020 Women’s Suffrage Day proclamation.” 
 
OR 
 
Other action Council deems appropriate. 
 
Attachments: (1) Proclamation 
 
 



Proclamation 
 
 

 
WHEREAS, August 18, 2020, is the 100th anniversary of the ratification of the 19th Amendment 
and August 26, 2020 is the 100th anniversary of the amendment becoming part of the United 
States Constitution, enshrining the right to vote for women in the United States; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the month of August has been designated as National Women’s Suffrage 
Month by the U.S. House of Representatives and U.S. Senate; and 
 
 WHEREAS, tens of millions of women vote in American elections each year, supporting 
the very foundation of our democracy; and 
 
 WHEREAS, in 1917 suffragists organized protests outside the White House in support 
women’s suffrage, and in November of 1917 thirty-three (33) of those suffragists, known as 
“Silent Sentinels,” were imprisoned, beaten, tortured, force-fed and otherwise mistreated at the 
nearby Occoquan Workhouse, which was located on what is now the site of the Workhouse Arts 
Center and Fairfax Water; and  
 
 WHEREAS, this incident stoked worldwide outrage and played a critical role in the 
eventual passage of the 19th Amendment; and 
 
 WHERAS, the struggle for the right to vote in the United States continued for generations 
for African-American women and men and continues to this day for many around the world; and 
 
 WHEREAS, recognition of the sacrifices of those in the cause of suffrage continues to 
inspire those still involved in the struggle today; 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, I, Earnest W. Porta Jr., Mayor of the Town of Occoquan and on 
behalf of the Occoquan Town Council, hereby proclaim August 18, 2020, as 

 

WOMEN’S SUFFRAGE DAY 
 

in the Town of Occoquan and urge all individuals, groups, and businesses to join the 
Town in honoring the work of suffragists in enshrining the Constitutional right to vote for all 
women who are American citizens. 
 

Adopted this 4th day of August 2020. 
 
 

______________________________ 
Earnest W. Porta, Jr., MAYOR     

On behalf of the Town Council of  
Occoquan, Virginia 

 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Katy Nicholson, Town Clerk 

 



TOWN OF OCCOQUAN 

TOWN COUNCIL MEETING 
Agenda Communication 
 

 

10. Regular Business Meeting Date: August 4, 2020 

10 i: Planning Commission Appointments 

   
Explanation and Summary: 
The Town Council appoints members to the Town’s Planning Commission. There are 
three members of the Planning Commission whose terms have recently expired. This 
action would reappoint them. 
 
Cost and Financing:   N/A 
Account Number:  N/A 
 
Proposed/Suggested Motion: 
 
“I move to appoint Eliot Perkins to the Planning Commission for an appointment 
expiring June 30, 2022.” 
 
AND 
 
“I move to appoint Ann Kisling to the Planning Commission for an appointment 
expiring May 2, 2024.” 
 
AND 
 
“I move to appoint Ryan Somma to the Planning Commission for an appointment 
expiring February 2, 2023.” 
 
OR 
 
Other action Council deems appropriate. 
 
 



    TOWN OF OCCOQUAN 

   TOWN COUNCIL MEETING 
     Agenda Communication 
 

 

10. Regular Business Meeting Date: August 4, 2020 

10 j: Letter of Permission for Prince William County -- Pedestrian Improvement 

Project 

   
Explanation and Summary: 
The Prince William County Department of Transportation has finalized the design plans 
for a pedestrian improvement project in the Town of Occoquan.  In order to obtain VDOT 
approval, the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) ramp at the corner of Mill Street 
and Ellicott Street, nearest Town Hall, must be designed to meet a certain standard.  This 
action is to authorize the Mayor to sign a letter on behalf of the Town of Occoquan 
granting permission to Prince William County to install a limited portion of curb on Town 
property as described herein. The Town will be responsible for the maintenance of this 
curb, consistent with its responsibility to maintain the brick sidewalks in the Town’s 
Historic District. 
 
Cost and Financing:   N/A 
Account Number:  N/A 
 
Proposed/Suggested Motion: 
 
“I move to authorize the Mayor to sign the attached letter granting Prince William 
County permission to install a limited portion of curb on Town property as described in 
the letter and its attachments.” 
 
OR 
 
Other action Council deems appropriate. 
 
 



Member of the Virginia Municipal League 
 

TOWN OF OCCOQUAN 
Circa 1734 ● Chartered 1804 ● Incorporated 1874 

314 Mill Street ● PO Box 195 ● Occoquan, Virginia 22125 
(703) 491-1918 ● Fax (703) 491-4962 ● info@occoquanva.gov 

www.occoquanva.gov 
 

 
 
August 5, 2020 
 
Mr. Khattab Shammout 
Assistant Director of Transportation for Design and Construction 
Prince William County Department of Transportation 
 

 
Dear Mr. Shammout, 
 

The Town of Occoquan grants permission to Prince William County to install a limited 
portion of curb on Town property as described herein. The Town will be responsible for the 
maintenance of this curb, consistent with its responsibility to maintain the brick sidewalks in 
the Town’s Historic District. 
 

The Prince William County Department of Transportation has finalized the design plans for a 
pedestrian improvement project in the Town of Occoquan.  In order to obtain VDOT 
approval, the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) ramp at the corner of Mill Street and 
Ellicott Street, nearest Town Hall, must be designed to meet a certain standard.  The grade of 
the sidewalk between the ADA ramp and a tie-in point approximately 15 ft. south to Ellicott  
Street will also need to meet certain standards, and will require the installation of a ‘header 
curb’ as shown in the attached VDOT CG12-B detail. 
 

The proposed curb will be located at the back of the sidewalk (non-street) side and is 
approximately six (6) inches wide, and extends on to Town property by approximately two 
(2) inches, for a total length not to exceed 15 feet, as generally shown as “Area of 
Encroachment” in the attached drawing titled “Mill Street Crosswalks and ADA Compliant 
Ramps Project - Installation of Curb on Town Property,” prepared by Legacy Engineering, 
P.C., dated July 24, 2020.  This is the most practical design that will improve pedestrian 
access and safety while maintaining an adequate width and grade of the sidewalk.  Granting 
permission by the Town to the County for the installation of a small portion of concrete curb 
on Town property is the most direct approach to obtaining final plan approval. 
 

If you have any questions or concerns please contact me at (703) 491-1918 or at 
eporta@occoquanva.gov.  
         
Sincerely, 
 

 
 
Earnest W. Porta, Jr., JD, PhD 
Mayor, Town of Occoquan 
 
Attachments: As stated  

TOWN COUNCIL 
Earnest W. Porta, Jr., Mayor 
Jenn Loges, Vice MayorCindy 
Fithian 
Laurie Holloway 
Eliot Perkins 
Krystyna Bienia 
 
TOWN MANAGER 
Kathleen R. Leidich, AICP 
 

 



Mill Street Crosswalks and ADA Compliant Ramps Project

Installation of Curb on Town Property

Mill Street
E

lli
co

tt 
S

tr
ee

t

Legacy Engineering, P.C.
July 24, 2020
Not to Scale

Bruce Reese
Callout
Area of Encroachment



CURB 

CG-12 DETECTABLE WARNING SURFACE
TYPE B (PARALLEL) APPLICATION

CG-12

REFERENCE

SPECIFICATION

VIRGINIA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

CROSSWALK

RAMP

(SEE TABLE)

6
 
5
 
4
 
3
 
2
 
1
 
0

14
 
10
 
8
 
6
 
5
 
5
 
4

15
 
15
 
12
 
9
 
8
 
7
 
6

IN FEET

MINIMUM RAMP LENGTH 

IN PERCENT

ROADWAY GRADE

AT 12" C-C

 5 DOWELS, 8" LONG#

JOINT

CONSTRUCTION 

PERMISSIBLE

5' MIN.

2
'

12:1  MAX

M
A

X

4
8
:1

CURB 

48 : 1 MAX.

48 : 1 MAX.

2' MIN.

BACK OF CURB

OF ROADWAY CURB

SHAPE TO MATCH FACE 

ROAD AND BRIDGE STANDARDS

SHEET 3 OF 5

204.03

REVISION DATE

SECTION B-B

A

B
B

A

20:1

12:1  MAX

   APPLICATION
TYPE B  PARALLEL

SECTION A-A

12:1 
 MAX.

M
A

X
.

5' MIN

4
8
:1

12:1  MAX.
4' MIN

WITH BUFFER STRIP

M
A

X
.

5' MIN

4
8
:1

12:1  MAX.

12:1 
 MAX.

WITHOUT BUFFER STRIP

Max

12:1

5
' 

M
IN
 

RAMP

(SEE TABLE)

NOTES:

5'-0" MIN

12:1 
 MAX.

C
R

O
S

S
W

A
L

K

5' MIN

04/19

SLOPE

LANDING 48:1 MAX.

SLOPE

LANDING 48:1 MAX.

CURB

CURB
CONCRETE

OR
GRASS 

CROSSWALK

504

502

105

WITH BUFFER STRIP

ONE DIRECTION 

WITH BUFFER STRIP

TWO DIRECTIONS LARGER RADII
WITHOUT BUFFER STRIP

TWO DIRECTIONS SMALLER RADII

WITHOUT BUFFER STRIP

ONE DIRECTION 

JOINT

CONSTRUCTION 

PERMISSIBLE 

GUTTER PAN MAXIMUM SLOPE 20:1

4" CURB 6" CURB

REGARDLESS OF THE SLOPE.

THE REQUIRED LENGTH OF A PARALLEL RAMP IS LIMITED TO 15 FEET, 2.

SEE SHEET 1 OF 5.

FOR GENERAL NOTES ON THE DETECTABLE WARNING SURFACE, 1.

MAX
48
:1

M
A

X

4
8
:1

Max

12:1

M
a
x

12
:1

GUTTER PAN SHALL BE A MAXIMUM SLOPE OF 20:1 AT THE RAMP OPENING.3.

TO 20:1 THROUGH RAMP LENGTH

TRANSITION GUTTER PAN SLOPE 

TO 20:1 THROUGH RAMP LENGTH

TRANSITION GUTTER PAN SLOPE 

DETECTABLE WARNING SURFACE

EXAMPLE INSTALLATION METHODS - SEE PLANS FOR LAYOUT

CROSSWALK

CROSSWALK

CROSSWALK

DIAGONAL PLACEMENT IS NOT PERMITTED.4.

CURB

CONCRETE

A COPY OF THE ORIGINAL SEALED AND SIGNED DRAWING IS ON FILE IN THE CENTRAL OFFICE.

2016 ROAD & BRIDGE STANDARDS

2016 ROAD & BRIDGE STANDARDS


	1 TC Regular Meeting Cover 8 4 20
	6a Draft Public Hearing Minutes 6-2-2020
	6b Draft Regular Meeting Minutes 6-2-2020
	6c Draft Public Hearing Minutes 6-16-2020
	6d Draft Work Session Minutes 6-16-2020
	9b  TC Engineer Report-Final Rev
	9c Town of Occoquan Permit Report 2020-07-28-09-05-36
	9d TC Zoning Admin Report  6-26-20 to 7-31-20
	9e Treasurer's Report
	9f Chief of Police
	9g Public Works July Report
	9h Events and Community Development Director Report 8 4 20
	Town of Occoquan Micro-Grant Program
	Event Planning During COVID-19
	In lieu of Craft Show revenue, the Town needs to generate funds for CIP reserves. The key factors in considering revenue-generating events are essentially all Phase III limitations: size, crowd control, social spacing, sanitation, etc. Smaller events ...
	Other Potential Revenue Streams
	Current Events
	Recent Awards

	10a 1 COVER ATT Site License 8 4 20
	10a 2 Attachment-ATT 1805 Master Franchise (Town of Occoquan VA)  11.7.19 w Exhibits
	ATT 1805 Master Franchise (Town of Occoquan VA)  11.7.19.pdf (p.1-10)
	Exhibit  to Master Franchise ATT-Franchise Site License Template (Town) 11-7-19.pdf (p.11-23)

	10a 3 Attachment-ATT-Franchise Site License Pwill_088B w Exhibit
	ATT-Franchise Site License Pwill_088B.pdf (p.1-13)
	Exhibit 1 to Site License CRAN_RWSH_PWILL_088B. FCDS.04.29.19.pdf (p.14-24)

	10a 4 Attachment-ARB Application
	1 ARB Agenda Cover 6 25 2019
	ARCHITECTURAL REVIEW BOARD MEETING
	TOWN HALL – 314 MILL STREET


	3 ARB2019 001

	10a 5 Attachment-ARB Minutes 6.25.19
	10a 6 Public Notice - Invitation to Bid
	10b 1 COVER 1 ARB Appeal
	10b 2 ARB 2020-005 430 Mill St ARB Application 6-23-2020
	10b 3 ARB Minutes 6-23-20
	10b 4 Kiely Letter for ARB Special Meeting 7-7-2020
	10b 5 ARB Special Meeting Draft Minutes 7-7-20
	10b 6 Denial of ARB2020-005 7-8-2020
	10b 7 Kiely Appeal to Council 7-19-2020
	10b 8 Public Notice - Appeal of COA Denial - v2-1
	10c 1 COVER Vistas at Occoquan Bond Release
	10c 2 Staff report Landscape Maintenance Bond Release
	10c 3 Landscape Maintenance Cash Bond & Agreement.5-11-17-1
	10d 1 COVER Appointment of Zoning Administrator
	10d 2 Ned Marshall Resignation Letter
	10d 3 Legacy as Zoning Administrator
	10e 1 COVER Retention of Quist and Associates
	10e 2 Quist Engagement Letter, 7-28-20-2
	10e 3 Quist Contract FY 2020- FY 2021
	I. DEFINITIONS
	A. Capitalized terms that are defined in the VPPA, Town Policy, or the Town’s standard Solicitation for Goods, Services, Construction or Insurance have the same meanings in this Contract as are given in that law, policy, or Solicitation.  Capitalized ...
	1. “Contract Administrator” means the person designated by the Town Council to administer the Contract for the Town.  The initial Contract Administrator is Kathleen Leidich, but the Town Council may designate a new Contract Administrator by notice to ...
	2. “Contractor's Representative” means the person who is responsible for the performance obligation of the Contractor under this Contract.  The initial Contractor’s Representative is Elizabeth A. C. Quist, but the Contractor may designate a new Contra...
	3. “Drug-free workplace” means a site for the performance of work done in connection with a specific contract awarded to a contractor, the employees of whom are prohibited from engaging in the unlawful manufacture, sale, dispensation, possession or us...
	4. “Notice of Default” means a notice sent to the other party’s designee (Contract Administrator for the Town, Contractor’s Representative for the Contractor) setting forth the facts showing that party to be in default under the Contract.
	5. “Notice of Termination” means a notice sent to the other party’s designee (Contract Administrator for the Town, Contractor’s Representative for the Contractor) informing that party of the termination of the Contract as of a particular date.
	6. “Town” means the Town of Occoquan, Virginia, the Town Council, or the Council’s designee assigned responsibility for this Contract, as permitted by the context.
	7. “Using Department” for purposes of this Contract shall mean Administration.

	II. FORMATION
	A. Conditions Precedent to Formation:
	Before any Contract between the Town and the Contractor is effective, the following conditions precedent must be satisfied.  Satisfaction of these conditions is the responsibility of the Contractor.  If, after performance under the Contract, the Town ...
	1. Insurance: If the Solicitation requires certain insurance, the Contractor must provide proof of insurance in the amounts required by the Solicitation with an insurance company licensed to do business in the Commonwealth of Virginia.
	2. Bonds: If the Solicitation requires payment or performance bonds, then bonds with surety satisfactory to the Town attorney shall be submitted to the Contract Administrator for approval.
	3. Permits and licenses: If the procurement of the Goods, Services, Insurance or Construction that is the subject of this Contract requires possession of any licenses or receipt of any permits other than construction permits, then Contractor shall obt...
	4. Payment of Debts: Contractor must pay all amounts shown as due to the Town on the Town’s accounts, even if a dispute exists as to the debt’s validity or enforceability.

	B. Parties
	1. The sole parties to this Contract are the Town of Occoquan and the Contractor.
	2. Neither this Contract, nor any part hereof, may be assigned by the Contractor to any other party without the express written permission of the Town in advance.  No assignment without such permission will relieve the Contractor of any responsibility...
	3. There are no intended third party beneficiaries of this Contract, unless it is made available by rider for other governmental entities to use.  Making the Contract available to them by rider is the sole extent of the intended third party benefit.
	4. If this Contract is made available by rider for other governmental entities to use, any contracts formed between the Contractor and such other governmental entities shall be solely between those parties.  The Town shall not be a party to any of the...
	5. Contractor may not subcontract any of the work under this Contract without the prior, written approval of the Town, which will not be unreasonably withheld.  The Contractor will, prior to award of the contract, provide the Town with a written list ...

	C. Authority to Execute
	By executing this Contract on behalf of Contractor, the Contractor’s Representative warrants that he or she has full authority to do so.

	D. Incorporation of Documents
	The Contract consists of the following documents, which are hereby incorporated by reference and fully made a part of the Contract.  This Contract and the incorporated documents describe the subject of the Procurement, the particulars of its performan...
	1. The Specifications of the Solicitation (if any) with solicitation title and matching identification number to this Contract,
	2. This Contract,
	3. The General Provisions of the Solicitation (if any) with solicitation title and matching identification number to this Contract,
	4. The Bid Submission Form or Proposal of the Vendor (if any) with solicitation title and matching identification number to this Contract.
	If there was no formal Solicitation, the specifications must be attached to this Contract and separately signed or initialed for them to be valid.
	E. Effective Date
	The Effective Date of this Contract shall be the last to occur of (1) the date on which the Contractor’s Representative signs the Contract, (2) the date on which the Mayor signs the Contract, and (3) the date that all conditions precedent to formation...


	III. PERFORMANCE
	A. Scope of Work
	1. The Contractor will provide on-call financial assistance on an as-needed basis to the Town.  On-call assistance includes both remote and occasional on-site services.
	2. Assistance will include, but is not limited to, serving as a resource for various government finance related activities and questions for the Town Treasurer, and other governmental finance and budgeting needs.
	3. See attached proposal dated July 28, 2020 for additional scope of work detail and cost.
	B. Notice to Proceed
	After execution of the Contract and receipt of any documents required by the Contract Administrator before the Effective Date of this Contract, the Contract Administrator shall send the Contractor notice to proceed with the Contract as of a date mutua...

	C. Contacts
	In addition to the Contract Administrator and the Contractor’s Representative, the parties may designate additional contacts for exchange of information.

	D. Acceptance of Work
	Performance of the work and delivery of all Goods shall be conducted and completed in accordance with recognized and customarily accepted industry practices and shall be considered complete when the services are approved as acceptable by the Contract
	Administrator.  In the event of rejection of any deliverable, the Contractor shall be notified and shall have fourteen (14) calendar days from date of issuance of notification to correct the deficiencies and resubmit the deliverable.
	E. Warranty
	The Contractor warrants that all Services it performs and all Goods, Insurance, and Construction it delivers to the Town will be of good quality and meet the specifications of this Contract and of all literature supplied by the Contractor as part of t...

	F. Invoices
	1. Unless otherwise provided in the Solicitation, Vendor will submit all its invoices for payment in the fiscal year in which the Goods, Services, Insurance or Construction were provided or within thirty days thereafter.  Late invoices are subject to ...
	2. The invoice must be in the name of the Contractor unless an assignment has been received and approved by the Town.

	G. Payment
	1. In return for the goods, services, construction and/or insurance that are the subject of this Contract, and subject to section IV.D) of this Contract relating to “Non-appropriation of Funds,” the Town shall compensate the Contractor within thirty (...
	2. With Construction contracts, the Town shall retain 10% of the amount earned for work done and materials delivered as retainage, to be paid in the final payment to the Contractor.
	3. Within seven days after receipt of amounts paid to the Contractor by the Town for satisfactorily completed performance, the Contractor agrees to:
	a. Pay each subcontractor for the proportionate share of the total payment received from the Town attributable to the work performed by each subcontractor under that contract; or
	b. Notify the Town and subcontractor, in writing, of his intention to withhold all or a part of the subcontractor’s payment with the reason for nonpayment.
	If the Contractor after having received payment from the Town fails to pay each subcontractor its proportionate share of the total payment, the Contractor shall be obligated to pay interest to each subcontractor on all amounts that remain unpaid after...
	4. Unless otherwise provided under the terms of this Contract or by statute, interest shall accrue at a rate of one percent per month or twelve percent per annum against the Contractor on any unpaid amounts owed to each subcontractor.
	5. The Contractor shall include in each of its subcontracts a provision requiring each subcontractor to include or otherwise be subject to the same payment and interest requirements with respect to each lower-tier subcontractor.
	6. A Contractor that is an individual must provide his or her social security number and a Contractor that is any form of business entity must provide its federal employer identification number to the Contract Administrator before payment can be made....
	7. The Town may offset any payment due to Contractor by any debt shown on the Town’s accounts, even if a dispute exists as to the debt’s validity or enforceability.


	IV. TERM AND TERMINATION
	A. Base Term and Extensions
	1. The base term for this Contract shall be for the period identified in the Solicitation or the approved schedule provided by the Town.
	2. This Contract may be extended as provided in the Solicitation or by change order or amendment.  No extension in time may increase the price without a recorded affirmative vote of the Town Council.  The Town may extend the term of this Contract for ...

	B. Termination for Default
	1. Either party may terminate this Contract, without further obligation, for the default of the other party or its agents or employees with respect to any agreement or provision contained herein.
	2. Except in an emergency endangering life, safety, or the operation of the public, the party claiming default shall provide notice and an opportunity to cure the default to the other party before terminating the Contract for default.
	a. Notice of Default shall be given at least ten business days before the date set for termination and shall set forth the grounds for claiming default of the other party and the steps demanded to cure the default.
	b. If the party receiving the Notice of Default cures the default before the end of the cure period set out in the Notice, then the party sending the Notice of Default shall not terminate the Contract for default.
	3. If the period for cure passes without curing of the default, then the party sending the Notice of Default may send a Notice of Termination for default to the defaulting party.
	4. Default of one party shall not excuse the default of the other party.  If either party is in default, either or both may send a Notice of Default and, if warranted, a Notice of Termination.

	C. Termination for Convenience
	1. The Town may terminate this Contract or any work or delivery required hereunder from time-to-time either in whole or in part, whenever the Contract Administrator, with the concurrence of the Town Council, determines that such termination is in the ...
	2. Termination may occur in whole or as to any discrete part of the Contract.  A partial termination shall set forth the portions of the Contract which are terminated.
	3. The effective date of the termination shall be three days after issuance of a Notice of Termination signed by the Contract Administrator and Mayor and its mailing or delivery to the Contractor, or any later date specifically set forth in the Notice...
	4. The Contractor may terminate this contract upon 30 days written notice to the Town.

	D. Termination for Non-Appropriation
	1. If funds are not appropriated for purposes of this Contract for any succeeding fiscal year subsequent to the one in which this Contract is entered into, then the Town may terminate this Contract upon thirty (30) days written notice to the Contracto...
	2. If the Town terminates for non-appropriation, the Town shall be liable only for payments due through the effective date of termination.
	3. Until the effective date of the termination, the Contractor shall continue to perform its duties under the Contract and is not excused from any portion of the Contract.
	E. Claims Upon Termination
	1. Upon receipt of a Notice of Termination, the Contractor shall:
	a. Cease any further deliveries or work due under this Contract, on the date, and to the extent, which may be specified in the Notice;
	b. Place no further orders with any subcontractors except as may be necessary to perform any portion of the Contract not subject to the Notice (in the case of partial termination only);
	c. Terminate all subcontractors except to the extent necessary to complete work which was not subject to the Notice (in the case of partial termination only);
	d. Settle all outstanding liabilities and claims which may arise out of such termination, with the ratification of the Contract Administrator; and
	e. Use its best efforts to mitigate any damages which may be sustained by the Contractor or any of its subcontractors as a consequence of termination under this clause.
	2. After complying with the foregoing provisions, the Contractor shall submit a termination claim within thirty days unless an extension is granted by the Contract Administrator.  This termination claim shall document all amounts due under this provis...
	a. Upon receipt of the Contractor’s termination claim, the Contract Administrator, with the approval of the Town Council, shall pay from the Town's budget the reasonable costs of termination, including a reasonable amount for profit on services delive...
	b. If the parties cannot agree on the whole amount to be paid to the Contractor by reason of termination under this clause, the Contract Administrator shall pay the Contractor from the Town’s budget the amounts determined as follows, without duplicati...
	i. With respect to all Contract performance prior to the effective date of Notice of Termination, the total of:
	 Cost of the goods delivered or work performed; and
	 The cost of settling and paying any reasonable claims as provided above; and
	 A sum as profit on work performed determined by the Contract Administrator to be fair and reasonable.
	ii. The total sum to be paid shall not exceed the Contract price, as reduced by the amount of payments otherwise made, and as further reduced by the Contract price of goods or services not terminated.
	c. If the Contractor is not satisfied with any payments which the Contract Administrator determines to be due under this provision, the Contractor may appeal any claim to the Town in accordance with section VI.C)(1), Submission of Disputes.
	3. The Contractor shall include similar provisions for termination in any subcontractors and shall require subcontractors to make reasonable efforts to mitigate damages if the Contract is terminated.  Failure to include such provisions shall bar the C...
	F. Survival of Certain Provisions After Termination
	Notwithstanding the termination of this Contract, the following provisions remain in effect until they are waived in writing, expire by their own terms, or become unenforceable by operation of law: sections 0, VI, VII.A), VII.B), and VII.D).


	V. STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS
	A. Employment Discrimination
	In all contracts, regardless of contract amount, the Contractor will abide by the provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act, and will require each sub-contractor to do so.   If this Contract is for a consideration in excess of Ten Thousand Dol...
	1. The Contractor will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, religion, color, sex, national origin, age, disability, or other basis prohibited by state law relating to discrimination in employment, except w...
	2. The Contractor, in all solicitations or advertisements for employees placed by or on behalf of the Contractor, will state that such Contractor is an equal opportunity employer.
	3. Notices, advertisements, and solicitations placed in accordance with Federal law, rule, or regulation shall be deemed sufficient for the purpose of meeting the requirements of this paragraph.
	4. The Contractor will include the provisions of this Contract paragraph in every subcontract or purchase order over $10,000, so that the provisions will be binding upon each subcontractor or vendor.

	B. Ethics
	The provisions contained in Chapter 43, Article 6, Sections 2.2-4367 through 2.2-4377 of the Virginia Public Procurement Act, as set forth in the 1950 Code of Virginia, as amended, apply to this contract.  The provisions of Article 6 of Chapter 43 sup...

	C. Drug-Free Workplace
	During the performance of this contract the contractor agrees to:
	1. Provide a drug-free workplace for the Contractor’s employees.
	2. Post in conspicuous places, available to employees and applicants for employment a statement notifying employees that the unlawful manufacture, sale, distribution, dispensation, possession, or use of a controlled substance or marijuana is prohibite...
	3. State in all solicitations or advertisement for employees placed by or on behalf of the contractor that the contractor maintains a drug-free workplace.
	4. Include the provisions of the foregoing clauses in every subcontract or purchase order of over $10,000.00, or so that the provisions will be binding upon each subcontractor or vendor.

	D. Faith-Based Organizations
	The Town of Occoquan in procuring goods and services, or in making disbursements pursuant to this section, shall not discriminate against a faith-based organization on the basis of the organization’s religious character or impose conditions that restr...

	E. Employment of Illegal Aliens
	The contractor agrees that it does not, and shall not during the performance of this contract for goods and services, knowingly employ any unauthorized alien or aliens as defined in the federal Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986.
	F. Foreign And Domestic Business Authorized to Transact Business in the Commonwealth

	VI. DISPUTES
	A. Governing Law
	This Contract is governed by the law of the Commonwealth of Virginia, including but not limited to the applicable portions of the Virginia Public Procurement Act (VPPA), Sections 2.2-4300 et seq. of the Code of Virginia (1950), as amended.  As a town ...

	B. Hold Harmless
	1. To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Contractor shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the Town and its officers, agents, employees, community representatives, volunteers or others working on behalf of the Town from any and all claims, j...
	2. To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Contractor shall also indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the Town and its officers, agents, employees, community representatives, volunteers or others working on behalf of the Town against all costs, in...
	3. Virginia is a Dillon Rule state.  Unless specifically permitted by statute, indemnification or any attempt to have the Town hold others harmless is invalid and unenforceable as an impermissible waiver of the Town’s sovereign immunity which may crea...
	4. The services to be performed by personnel provided by Quist and Associates will be performed under the direction, supervision and control of the Town of Occoquan.

	C. Conditions Precedent to Pursuit of Legal Remedies
	Before the Contractor may exercise any legal remedy it may have in relation to rights arising out of this Contract, it must comply fully and strictly with each of the applicable conditions below.  Failure to comply fully and strictly with an applicabl...
	1. Submission of Disputes: A Contractor must submit any dispute arising out of this Contract to the Town for adjustment.  In doing so, it shall provide all relevant evidence that bears on the Town’s liability for the amount claimed or responsibility t...
	2. Disputes by the Contractor with respect to this Contract shall be decided within fifteen (15) days from submission by the Town Council’s designee, who shall reduce his/her decision to writing, and mail or otherwise furnish a copy thereof to the Con...

	D. Venue
	Any action brought under this Contract must be brought in the state courts for the County of Prince William and may not be removed to the Federal Court system.

	E. Limitations on Actions
	Any action brought under this Contract, except an action for breach of warranty, shall be brought within the shorter of the statutory limitations period and the period of three years from the date of final payment without any tolling of this statutory...

	F. Waiver of Jury Trial
	In any action brought under this Contract, the parties expressly waive their right to trial by jury and agree to submit all questions of fact to the judge as trier of fact.


	VII. MISCELLANEOUS
	A. Time of the Essence
	Time shall be of the essence to this Contract, except where it is herein specifically provided to the contrary.
	1. If the Contractor at any time finds that the schedule will not be met for any reason, the Contractor shall so notify the Town in writing.
	2. Where Contractor is prevented from completing any part of the Work within the Contract Period due to abnormal weather conditions the Contract Period will be extended in an amount calculated as stated in Subsection VI(B)(5) below if a Claim is made ...
	3. Contractor acknowledges and agrees that adjustments in the Contract Period will be permitted for a delay only to the extent such delay (i) is not caused, or could not have been anticipated, by Contractor; (ii) could not be limited or avoided by the...
	4. Actual adverse weather delay days must prevent work on critical activities outdoors for fifty percent (50%) or more of Contractor’s scheduled workday in order to be counted.  The number of actual adverse weather delay days shall include days impact...
	5. Upon commencement of on-site activities and continuing throughout construction, Contractor shall record daily the occurrence of adverse weather and resultant impact to normally scheduled work and within 30 days of the last day of any month (hereina...
	6. The Town shall not be liable to Contractor for any claims, costs, losses, or damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of Engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resol...
	7. Contractor shall not be entitled to an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Period for delays within the control of Contractor.  Delays attributable to and within the control of a Subcontractor or Supplier shall be deemed to be delays within th...

	B. Liquidated Damages
	1. Alternatively, if performance is so delayed, the Town may terminate this Contract in whole or in part under the Default clause in this Contract and in that event, the Contractor shall be liable for fixed, agreed and liquidated damages accruing unti...
	2. The Contractor shall not be charged with liquidated damages when the delay in performance arises out of causes beyond the control and without the fault or negligence of the Contractor. Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Contract, it is mu...

	C. Integration Clause; Modifications to the Contract
	1. This Contract, including its incorporated documents, contains the whole agreement between the parties as to its subject, and no prior or contemporaneous communications, representations, or agreements, written or verbal, may alter, add to, or contra...
	2. All modifications and changes to the Contract shall be in writing and signed by the party to be charged, or its authorized representative. Any attempted modification or change without the Town’s written approval shall be void and shall be grounds f...
	3. The Contract Administrator, with the concurrence of the Town Council, shall have the authority to order changes in this Contract, which affect the cost or time of performance.  Such changes shall be ordered in writing specifically designated to be ...
	a. Such orders shall be limited to reasonable changes in the supplies, services to be performed or the time of performance; provided that the Contractor shall not be excused from performance under the changed Contract by failure to agree to such chang...
	b. Contractor need not perform any work described in any Change Order unless it has received a written certification from the Town that there are funds budgeted and appropriated sufficient to cover the cost of such changes.
	c. The Contractor shall make a demand for payment for completed changed work within 30 days of completion of Change Order, unless such time period is extended in writing, or unless the Contract Administrator requires submission of a cost proposal prio...
	d. No claim for changes made by Change Order shall be considered if made after final payment in accordance with the Contract.


	D. Examination of Records
	1. The Contractor agrees that the Town or any duly authorized representative of the Town may have access to and the right to examine and copy directly pertinent books, documents, papers, and records of the Contractor related to this Contract.  This ri...
	2. The Contractor further agrees to include in any subcontract for more than $10,000 entered into as a result of this Contract, a provision to the effect that the subcontractor agrees that the Town or any duly authorized representative may have access...

	E. Assignment of Rights
	1. Antitrust:  By entering into a contract, the Contractor conveys, sells, assigns, and transfers to the Town all rights, title and interest in and to all causes of the action it may now have or hereafter acquire under the antitrust laws of the United...
	2. Warranty: By entering into a Contract, the Contractor conveys, sells, assigns and transfers to the Town all warranties related to goods provided to the Town under this Contract.
	F. Incorporation of Town Fleet Vehicle Anti-Idling Policy
	This Contract incorporates by reference the Town Fleet Vehicle Anti-Idling Policy, which applies to the Contractor.



	10f 1 COVER AED Grant 2021
	10h 1 COVER Womens Suffrage Day Proclamation
	10h 2 Women's Suffrage Day Proclamation
	Proclamation

	10i 1 COVER Planning Commission Appointments Cover
	10j 1 COVER Letter of Permission -- PWC
	10j 2 Letter of Permission-ROW in front of Town Hall v2-1
	10j 3 Mill Street - Header curb - revised to Legacy
	10j 4 VDOT CG-12B
	204_03




